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1 APPEARANCES 1 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're on the record on March
2 2 3rd, 2014 at 9:39. This is the deposition of Nick
3 APPEARANCES FOR THE PLAINTIFF(S) 3 Geaney. Would the witness please raise your right
4 ALEC RUSSELL, ESQUIRE ' =
CURT JACOBUS, ESQUIRE 4 hand to be sworn?
5 1795 W. Nasa Blvd. 5 NICK GEANEY,
P Melboume, Florida 32901 6 A witness herein, acknowledged having been duly
9 7 sworn and testified upon his oath as follows:
APPEARANCES FOR THE DEFENDANT(S) 8 THE WITNESS: Ido.
8 9 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Attorneys please state your
LEE N. BERNBAUM, ESQUIRE 10 appearances for the record
9 5728 Major Blvd., Suite 550 i o
Orlando, Florida 32819 11 MR. RUSSELL: Alec Russell for the plaintiff.
10 12 MR. BERNBAUM: Lee Bernbaum for the defendant
1 ALSO PRESENT > BlucGem.
13 SCOTT ELLIS 14 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Please begin.
KEVIN MCBRIDE 15 DIRECT EXAMINATION
14 TYLER WINIK 16 BY MR. RUSSELL:
RACHEL SADOFF .
17 ; ,
15 SOPHIE CARTER, VIDEOGRAPHER Q. Good morning, Mr. Geancy.
16 18 A. Good morning.
17 19 Q. Would you please state your full name for the
i 2 20 record?
20 21 A. Nicholas Gerald Geaney.
21 22 Q. And where's your current address?
22 23 A. 1t's 300 - apartment 349, 2860 Cleveland
; i 24 Avenue, St. Joseph, Michigan.
25 25 Q. Mr. Geaney, have you ever given a deposition
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1 before? 1 A. Twas like a cost containments manager cum VP

2 A, Yes. 2 of operations. There's only three people, so we did

3 Q. Soyou understand generally how it works, I ask 3 quite a, you know, diverse role there.

4 the questions and you answer as we go? 4 Q. When you say cost containment, do you mean that

5 A. Yes. 5 you were reviewing contracts and negotiating with vendorg

6 Q. Okay. Letme just go over a few basic ground 6 or other contract parties to reduce contract prices?

7 rules that help the deposition go a little more smoothly 7 A. Yes. As well as the US employees coming into

8 for you and I and especially for our court reporter. 8 the UK, making sure they were getting -- they weren't

9 It's very difficult for her to transcribe when 9 like spending too much on their expense reports, that we
10 we speak at the same time, so I'll try to let you finish 10 were booking them into the right hotels, we used the most
11 your answer before I begin my next question and I ask 11 efficient transport.
12 that you do the same. If you need to take a break for 12 And at the time Blueware was working on a
13 any reason, let us know, we're happy to go off the record 13 contract at Portsmouth Hospital's Trust where they had
14 and do that at any time as fong as there's not a question 14 employees coming over for really quite long stays, six,
15 pending at the time. 15 eight weeks at a time. So we were looking for the best
16 We don't want you to guess or speculate about 16 place to house them and do different things.
17 anything. When [ ask you a question, I only want to know 17 Q. Okay. And what sort of work was Blueware doing
18 what you know from your own personal knowledge, IfTaskd 18 for the hospital?
19 you a question and you don't understand the way I've 19 A. Basically they were installing a software
20 asked the question, just ask me to rephrase it, I'm more 20 system.
21 than happy to do that. 21 Q. What sort of software system?
22 From time to time Mr. Bernbaum may make 22 A. Electronic document management. Basically the
23 objections on the record. He will most likely object to 23 hospital have two forms of data, structured data and
24 form. Just pause for a moment, let him get his objection 24 unstructured data. Structured data is something when you
25 in and then you can go ahead and answer, unless someone 25 went -- when you would go and they would hook you up t

Page 6 Page 8

1 instructs you not to answer a question, at which time we 1 an ECG machine and it would digitally give you the data

2 will probably have a discussion and work that out and 2 and it would store into the system. The unstructured

3 then we will let you know. Okay. Are we ready to 3 data is anything that was written on paper, doctor's

4 proceed? 4 notes, in the field ECG where you got the long lines of

5 A. Yep. 5 your heart rhythm, that would be cast as unstructured

6 Q. Okay. My understanding, Mr. Geaney, is that 6 data.

7 you at one time served as a chief operating officer for 7 So when a doctor looks at it, he would see part

8 Blueware, LLC. Is that true? 8 of it on the computer and part of it in paper. We would

9 A. Yeah. Ithink it's incorporated actually. 9 take the paper, upload it into a computer system so they
10 Q. Oh, is it Blueware, Inc.? 10 could see the whole ot in one view, so the doctor could
11 A. Yeah 11 see one view of the patient's record.
12 Q. Okay. And, yeah, feel free to correct me as we 12 Q. And did Blueware own the software? And when I
13 go along. You know a lot more about the things we'll bg 13 say own the software, did Blueware have -- own the
14 discussing than I do. Okay. When did you first become| 14 intellectual property rights to the software or was it
15 employed by Blueware? 15 someone else's software?
16 A. 2006 in the United Kingdom. 16 A. Blueware was using their own software at that
17 Q. Okay. Did Blueware have a UK entity or wasit| 17 time called Wellness Connection. They owned the actual
18 the American entity that was just doing business inthe | 18 software that gives you the demonstration to store the
18 UK? 19 data. The scanning software was Kofax.
20 A. Both. There was a limited liability companyas | 20 Q. Okay. And the scanning software had to be used
21 well as Blueware, Inc. doing business in the United 21 to upload the data into the system?
22 Kingdom. T was on the Blueware, Inc. payroll. 22 A. Yeah. So basically the way it would work is
23 Q. Okay. So the American entity? 23 that if you just scanned it without software, you would
24 A. (Nods head.) 24 have a thing called a data blog where you would get 600
25 Q. Okay. And what did you do? 25 sheets of paper that was meaningless, the docs would have
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1 to go through each one. The scanning software would 1 A. And Blueware in the United Kingdom.
2 index it under the right folder under the right file. 2 Q. Okay. And were you chief operating officer at
3 So basically the scanning software would detect 3 that time?
4 that it was a renal report and it would put it in the 4 A. No.
5 renal folder. And if it was a heart, a cardiovascular, 5 Q. Or you said you were VP of something?
6 it would put it into cardiovascular. And that was used, 6 A. VP of operations when I first came over.
7 they used Kofax, that Blueware didn't actually do the 7 Q. Okay. And at what point did you become COO?
8 scanning. 8 A. 2010. Idon't remember the month.
9 Q. What was Kofax? That was a software company? 9 Q. Okay.
10 A. Kofax is a software -- was a software company. 10 A, It'sreally, really difficult. Rose and
11 It's owned by Kodak I believe now. Who basically hada | 11 Blueware had about nine or ten entities and realistically
12 software that did sort of recognition in many different 12 they were one as in from an operating standpoint. So,
13 - forms. So it could recognize a name on a piece of paper, 13 you know, BlueGem, Roseware, Bluelands, Blueware, Inc.,
14 bar code. 14 Blueware International, Blue Cloud, Blue Scan, you know,
15 What Blueware would do is they would put a bar 15 the Baby Blues as she called them didn't really -- didn't
16 code. Can I use this piece of paper? So they get 16 have any employees apart from the Blueware employees and
17 report, an individual would put a bar code in the top 17 we would -- it was just name,
18 piece of the thing and then scan it into the bar code 18 There was no other contract except for we did a
19 would say that it was a renal form. 19 small -- we did a small video for Roseware in 2000
20 Q. Isee. 20 something, seven maybe, and we bought some properties for
21 A. So the software -- the Kofax software 21 Bluelands in 2010. Apart from that, the other companies
22 identified what document it was to store into Blueware 22 were dormant pretty much.
23 software. 23 Q. You mentioned someone named Rose, is that Rose
24 Q. I think you said, and correct me if I'm wrong, 24 Harr?
25 1 don't want to put words in your mouth at any point, but 25 A, Yeah.
Page 10 Page 12
1 I'm just making sure I understood you correctly, I think 1 Q. And is Rose Harr the owner of Blueware?
2 you said the Blueware didn't actually do the scanning? 2 A. All of the entities, yes.
3 A. No, that was done by a company called Graphic 3 Q. Okay. Is she the sole sharcholder?
4 Data. The contract in its entirety was owned by the IBM 4 A. Yes.
5 Corporation. So the prime on the contracts was IBM and 5 Q. Okay. To your knowledge, have there ever been
6 they did all the service management, delivery, change 6 any other shareholders?
7 control, cost control. And Blueware implemented their 7 A. Yeah. George Beckeft was a 50/50 partner wher
8 software, they used Blueware software to do it and 8 they opened in 1993, finished in 2007.
9 Graphic Data were doing the scanning proportion ~- 9 Q. So she bought him out at that time?
10 portion of it. 10 A. It was a hostile takeover.
11 Q. Okay. At that time in 2006, to your knowledge, 11 Q. Isee. Canyou explain that?
12 was Blueware doing any scanning operations for anyone?{ 12 A. Rose believed in the bigger picture, world
13 A. No. 13 domination for better words. So she wanted to take
14 Q. It's my understanding that at some point you 14 Blueware into England and had a bigger, bigger picture.
15 moved here to the United States still working for 15 George was the IT brains behind the
16 Blueware; is that correct? 16 organization. Him and a guy called Chuck Bartholome
17 A. Yeah. Chicago HIMSS 2009, I came over to 17 wrote the software, He was more the [ was going to say
18 Chicago, then flew to Michigan. And for the next 12 18 introvert, but he was an extrovert outside of it. But
19 months, 18 months I was working as VP of operations for] 12 he -- from a business standpoint, he was happy earning
20 both entities and flying in and out of the states. I had 20 his 400 grand a year or whatever it may be servicing the
21 a house on 735 Chapin Street in Cadillac and 1 had a 21 midwest and Nashville in the US, having a comfortable
22 house in the United Kingdom and I was flying in 50/50, 22 lifestyle rather than taking Biueware to a huge entity.
23 50 percent of the time. 23 And then they went for -~ they went to a
24 Q. Okay. When you say both entities, you mean 24 meeting, a company meeting in Michigan. The girl 1
25 Blueware, Inc. here in the states? 25 worked with, Sara Greenwood, flew to Michigan and I
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1 stayed in England. There was a company meeting one day 1 Q. Like trucking?
2 and the next day the police were involved. Rose 2 A. Yeah.
3 apparently said that George had hit her in the meeting. 3 Q. Okay.
4 That was never substantiated and they had this like 4 A. Soall we did was we uploaded -- we sold them
5 Russian roulette clause in the contract where one partner 5 some scanners and we uploaded the software so they could
6 had to -- and maybe -- I'm not 100 percent right, but had 6 scan their own documents.
7 to give a figure. And if the other partner offered the 7 Q. Isee. You say you sold them some scanners,
8 same or more, they got control. 8 were you just acting as a middleman or did Blueware
9 So for about six months George was phoning the 9 generally sell scanners in the marketplace?
10 UK trying to get the figures and predictions to get 10 A. No. Blueware generally sold scanners to the
11 investment, Rose was saying that we couldn't deliver it 11 customers in the hospitals that they put the software in
12 and it got very messy. And then in December 2007 it was 12 sideline, sold service for IBM as well and some bits and
13 settled and George was never seen again. 13 pieces.
14 I know that a lot of his money was put in 14 Q. And then other companies would actually do any
15 escrow for two years so he couldn't compete in the usual 15 necessary scanning?
16 contract, you know, he couldn't do that compete. 16 A, Yes.
17 Q. Non compete agreement? 17 Q. Or it would be done in-house by the hospital
18 A. Yeah. Yeah, he couldn't disburse and 18 presumably?
19 disparage. He couldn't work in the industry I don't 19 A. Yes. We may do a little bit of training, may,
20 believe. 20 very, very rarely in a small community hospital, but we
21 Q. For a certain period of time? 21 didn't actually have a scanning person.
22 A. Yeah. 22 Q. Did Blueware offer any other products or
23 Q. Understood. Do you know if he is working in 23 services other than what you've already described?
24 the industry now? 24 A. No.
25 A. Yeah. He runs the - he runs the HTO which is 25 Q. Were there any managers of BlueGem, or I'm
Page 14 Page 16
1 the health -- he runs the health board in Nashville, 1 sorry, Blueware, managers, director level type people
2 Tennessee or did. 2 other than Rose and yourself?
3 Q. Okay. Do you know if he resides in Nashville, 3 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form. Just I'm
4 Tennessee? 4 not sure if you're asking about what period of time
5 A. He had a place in Nashville, but he also had 5 you're asking about.
6 great ties with Indiana, so I am not sure. 6 MR. RUSSELL: Okay. Up until 2010.
7 Q. Okay. So when was the last time you had any 7 A. 2010, yes. There was a number. It was a
8 communication with George? 8 turning door. So I can -- there was Cathy Billingsley,
9 A. Ispoke to him at HIMSS in Orlando 2011. 9 who was a CMO, chief marketing officer. There was a
10 Q. And HIMSS, what's that? 10 couple of CTTs, a guy called Marls Bridgeford.
11 A. HIMSS is the trade show that's basically for 11 BY MR. RUSSELL:
12 the health industry. It was in Orlando about two weeks 12 Q. What's a CTO for the record?
13 ago or last week. 13 A. Chief technology officer.
14 Q. Was that the crux of Blueware's business up 14 Q. Okay.
15 until let's say 2010 dealing with the health care 15 A. CTO. And there's a CTI is information
16 industry and document management for them? 16 technology, it's slightly different. Information
17 A. We hadn't done it -- 1 hadn't done a -~ any 17 technology is basically the hardware of the side of the
18 work except for buy a couple of houses outside of the 18 business where your infrastructure comes in, all your
19 health industry the whole time [ was in Blueware. It was 1g networks and cable. And the CTO is more the technical
20 our sole thing. 20 side, the software, understands the bigger picture,
21 Oh, we had one customer, Vantage Transport, wha 21 Q. Okay.
22 we sold Kofax software as a reseller, but apart from 22 A. And then that builds a C-suite. So there's a
23 that. 23 chief marketing officer, she had electrical Cathy
24 Q. What sort of business were they? 24 Billingsley. There was Marls Bridgeford was CTO. There
25 A. A transport company. 25 was Dean Butler, who was director of infrastructure,
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1 which is CIO. There was, God, there's so many, I'm just 1 have helped architects write that software. Did they

2 trying to think. There was a guy out of North Carolina 2 have enough people to do it in a time frame that would

3 that came in on contract. I need to think about his 3 meet meaningful use? No. It would have meant that we

4 name, it will come to me. 4 would had to have probably 20 or 30 employees.

5 Q. That's okay. It's probably not -- 5 So Rose looked at outsourcing to India and

6 A. There's a number. 6 China and numerous different things doing it. She then

7 Q. Okay. Iunderstand. It's my understanding 7 looked at the Space Coast because engineers down here.

8 that around the 2010 time period Blueware started looking 8 And it come down to basically I weren't moving, nor were

9 fo relocate? 9 Blueware. Nobody at Blueware would move to Melboume.
10 A. Yes. 10 Rose has got ties at Melbourne with her
11 Q. From Michigan? 11 father-in-law and her ex-husband, who is her partner,
12 A. Yes. 12 they're still together but they're not married, and
13 Q. Okay. Let me back up just a little bit. You 13 family and she liked it. So she came down in 2010 and
14 mentioned Cadillac earlier and I think you said you were 14 identified the Caldwell Banker building on Indialantic as
15 living in Cadillac, Michigan? 15 a possible to move Blueware. It was empty at the time,
16 A. Yeah. 16 there was nobody in it. But Caldwell Banker Indialantic
17 Q. Was that where Blueware's operation was? 17 are in there now, that's the building.
18 A. Yes. i8 And pretty much the 40 people at Blueware said,
19 Q. Okay. So what was going on in the 2010 time 19 yeah, we're not moving, Bearing in mind that the
20 period so that Roseware started or, I'm sorry, Blueware 20 majority of them were what I call second income
21 started looking to relocate? 21 employees. So there were a few programmiers that were
22 A. The Obama Act was coming in and there was a 22 main income employees, but there was a lot of ladics that
23 certification for meaningful use, which was basically 23 had husbands that were earning more than them, so it just
24 Obama Care, and the software needed to meet large 24 didn't make any sense for them to pick up and move apart
25 criteria. 25 from the weather, you know, you know. So it basically

Page 18 Page 20

1 Now taking politics aside, basically what was 1 got stallboard, nobody would move, so it went away.

2 happening was the big three, McKesson, Cerner and Epic, 2 Q. You had mentioned, just to take you back for a

3 who are the big, big players in the technology market, 3 moment, her former partner George. What was his last

4 underneath IBM, HP. So, basically, they're all -- IBM 4 name?

5 and HP are the technical servers do all the bits and 5 A. Beckett.

6 pieces. Underneath it, the actual products were 6 Q. And Mr. Beckett, he had written the software

7 McKesson, Epic and Cerner. And they were lobbying for 7 that Blueware was using at that time?

8 meaningful use around security and Joads of different 8 A. With Chuck Bartholomew, who was a long term

9 technical certifications that the software would have to 9 employee. Basically the three of them left IBM, Chuck,
10 have to be eligible for Obama Care, to get your 10 George and Rose in the early 90s and they started to
11 reimbursements. 11 write if together. For a better sense of the word, Chuck
12 Blueware didn't have that certification within 12 lost his balls and didn't have the staying power, he left
13 the current software that we were using at the time. So 13 and went back to IBM or to somebody else and left Rose
14 there was -~ there was a decision to be made at that 14 and George there. It didn't work at IBM, so he came
15 point. That is the first real disagreement that Rose and 15 back, but he came back as an employee.
16 I'had. Rose wanted to chase meaningful use. So 16 Q. Isee.
17 basically it meant do a rewrite of the software to meet 17 A. And he set at home and worked at home for the
18 certification, which I estimated would cost around three 18 last 15, 20 years. He sits in his little cave downstairs
19 to four million dollars. Blueware weren't doing that in 19 in Kalamazoo, Michigan and writes software.
20 revenue. 20 Q. Okay. Did Blueware look at properties in
21 Q. Did Blueware have the people with the 21 Michigan as an option?
22 capabilities to write the software or would that be 22 A. Not in 2010.
23 something that Blueware was going to have fo outsource?| 23 Q. Okay. When did that occur?
24 A. Basically Blueware -- that's a very difficult 24 A. That occurred at the end of 2011, beginning of
25 question. Blueware had a number of employees that could 22 2012. Blueware needed to grow. There was no -- it was

5 (Pages 17 to 20)

King Reporting and Video Conference Center

321-242-8

HREVARD DUNTIVE B DB RO T BTG+ COM (p 0013.CA-033457-XXXX-XX



Page 21 Page 23
1 doing reasonably -~ it was doing very well in the 1 said what about the others? She said this is where 1
2 Midwest, it had a best year. Rose wanted to take it to 2 want to be.
3 the next level. She said the skill level wasn't in 3 So she wanted to show me the building. So we
4 Michigan and nobody would move up to the cold. It was 4 pulled up outside not knowing it was a realtor's office.
5 eight degrees when I left yesterday, so it's cold and 5 It had been empty the last time Rose had been. And we
6 it's very difficult with the economics to get people to 6 went in and it was owned by Caldwell Banker and the first
7 move {0 Michigan. So she did have a point. But a main 7 person we met there was Deborah Coldwell, who later
8 competitor is in Madison, Wisconsin and has 3,000 8 became a Blueware employee.
9 employees. So, you know, you can't get them there. 9 Q. Okay. Was anyone else traveling with you or
10 QOur issues were turnover, lack of structure. 10 was it just you and Rose?
11 Even though the company was 20 years old, it was still 11 A. Just me and Rose.
12 pretty much a mom and pop start up. And if you look at 12 Q. Okay. Did you meet a real estate agent there
13 the turnover rate, we were in the 68, 70 percent turnover 13 named David Olmer?
14 rate. Just getting people to stay was really, really 14 A. He was the broker, yes.
15 very difficult and it was because there was no real clear 15 Q. He was the broker under whom Debbie Coldwell
16 direction of what people were doing. 16 worked?
17 So we looked at a building in Cadillac called 17 A. Yeah.
18 the O'Neal building. It was $365,000, needed about 900 18 Q. Okay. And did you meet him through Debbie?
19 grand spending on it. So I went to the economic 19 A. Yeah, they were in the office. She introduced
20 development people in Michigan and met with those guys. | 20 us to David Olmer. Basically we sat down with them and
21 And basically told them that we wanted some money and iff 21 told them that we were looking to relocate, where we
22 they didn't, we were going to move. And we had offers 22 needed to be, what we needed to do.
23 from other places. You know, just to fill the water, 23 They wanted to show us a building on Satellite
24 just throw the bomb in the middle of the room, you know. 24 Beach that would have been possible and some other bits
25 Snyder was up for reelection. It was -- 25 and pieces. Then they suggested that we meet somebody
Page 22 Page 24
1 Q. Who is Snyder? 1 that would help us get in touch with the people that were
2 A. He's the goveror there. It was bad economics 2 connected locally.
3 in Michigan. So, basically, we threw the bomb into the 3 Q. Okay.
4 middle of the room and said if you don't give us the 4 A. So they arranged a meeting with a guy called
5 money, we're going to move. They threw it right back and 5 first Jason Steele,
6 said let's see your offers that you got and we hadn't 6 Q. Okay. Was he a lobbyist?
7 been anywhere. And I'll be honest with you, we hadn't 7 A. Yeah.
8 been anywhere. 8 Q. Okay.
9 So Rose decided that she was going to go on a 9 A. We met him on the same day at Caldwell Banker
10 road trip and she said that I had to go with her. And we 10 they got him in in the afternoon.
11 were going to - in January of 2012, we were going to go | 11 Q. This first day that you?
12 to Sarasota, Raleigh, Durham, North Carolina -- 12 A. Yeah, yeah.
13 Nashville, Sarasota. Let me think. Sarasota, Nashville, 13 Q. Okay.
14 Raleigh, Durham, North Carolina and one other, but I 14 A. He was quite a character, he came in and said
15 can't remember it. 15 he could point us in the right way, meet the right
16 Q. That's okay. 16 people, do the right things and it only cost us five Gs a
17 A. So Rose said we're flying into Orlando. And it 17 month. So -
18 made no sense to me at all, but Rose didn't -- doesn't 18 Q. Indefinitely?
19 always ~- she's an extrovert so she -- she does things in 18 A. Yeah, pretty much. So I was very hesitant,
20 her own way. So I went along with it. And she said, all 20 didn't - didn't really sit well with me at all.
21 right, we're going to go to Melbourne just to have a 21 Q. What did he say he would do for you? Were
29 look. So I said okay. 22 there any specifics other than?
23 And we drove to Melbourne, she knew it because 23 A. That was it. It wasn't enough, you know.
24 of her family ties. She took me straight to the Caldwell 24 Q. Okay.
25 Banker building and said this is where I want to stop. 1 25 A. Youknow, for five grand a month, I could
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1 infroduce, you know, 1 could introduce you to whoever 1 COMMISSIONErs.
2 came in. You don't know, you know, there was no 2 He did pretty much -- he did pretty much a
3 substance behind it at all really. He had been a 3 salesman's trick basically he went through where he could
4 representative or something and he knew the right people, 4 meet people, do things and say that he could meet and
5 but there was no substance there. 5 arrange meetings and stuff. And then he did the oldest
6 Q. Okay. Did you express that belief to 6 trick in the book, he pulled out his phone and arranged
7 Mr. Olmer, you told him? 7 to meet with Mary Bolin, the commissioner. And a meeting
8 A. Basically we let —- I let him go and I just 8 with Jay -- no, with Mark Larusso who was on the council
9 went nuts. I'm English, pretty blunt, didn't ring right. 9 but running for mayor. So he did a pretty much you going
10 So then they said meet -- David Olmer then said let's 10 to meet with the commissioner tomorrow as a meet and
11 meet Matt Dupree. 11 greet and Mark you can have dinner with, Mark Larusso.
12 Q. Another lobbyist? 12 Q. And when you say the commissioners, you mean
13 A. Yeah. So we met with Matt Dupree with a guy 13 the Brevard County commissioners?
14 called Tim Buckley who was his business partner. 14 A. Yeah. And that was arranged, I think this was
15 Q. Buckley? 15 a Wednesday and it was Friday at 2:00 at the
16 A. Yeah, Tim Buckley. 16 comumnissioner's, Mary Bolin's commissioner's office in
17 Q. And where did that meeting take place? 17 Brevard, the meeting.
18 A. Same place in the board room at Caldwell 18 Q. Okay. And I want to ask you about that, but
19 Banker. 19 before we get there, did Mr. Dupree also talk about what
20 Q. And how long after the meeting with Jason 20 he would charge to offer his --
21 Steele was it that you met with Matt Dupree? 21 A, 5,000 a month.
22 A. I'm not sure whether it was the same afternoon 22 Q. Same as Mr. Steele. Okay. Were there any
23 or the next moming. 23 other terms or conditions to what Mr. Dupree was offering
24 Q. Okay. 24 at that time?
25 A. It was one or the other. 25 A. No.
Page 26 Page 28
1 Q. So very short time? 1 Q. He would just hook you up with the right people
2 A. Yeah. We were only there for three or four 2 for 5,000 a month?
3 days. 3 A. Yeah.
4 Q. Okay. Who all was present with Mr. Dupree and 4 Q. Okay. Did Blue -~
5 Mr. Buckley and yourself and Rose? 5 A. Rose was enamored by him from day one, so the
6 A. Them two, Olmer and Coldwell. 6 decision was made.
7 Q. Okay. And it was Debbie Coldwell? 7 Q. Okay. So an agreement was reached?
8 A. Yeah. 8 A. Yeah
9 Q. Tassumed this, but I didn't ask. Does Debbie 9 Q. Isee. Andiflask you in the context of this
10 Caldwell own -- have some ownership interest in Caldwell? | 10 type of meeting if I say did you reach an agreement, I
11 A. No, it's spelled different. 11 mean did Blueware rather than you individually.
12 Q. Oh, it's spelled different. 12 A. Yeah, 5,000 a month.
13 A. She just worked there. 13 Q. Okay. Was there any kind of contract with
14 Q. How do you spell her name? 14 Mr. Dupree?
15 A. It'san O instead of an A, 15 A. Yeah,
16 Q. Okay. So it's Coldwell? 16 Q. A written contract?
17 A. Yeah. 17 A. Yep.
18 Q. Instead of Caldwell. Got you. Okay. Tell me 18 Q. Okay. Did it have -- and [ realize you haven't
19 about the meeting with Mr. Dupree and Mr, Buckley, What| 19 memorized the contract.
20 was discussed? 20 A. Tt wasathree liner. It was very vague.
21 A. Lots. That's quite vague. We were sat in the 21 Q. So it was just 5,000 a month, I introduce you
22 room, Matt Dupree and Tim Buckley walked in. Tim took | 22 to the right people?
23 the more -- it was almost like a double team. Tim came 23 A. Yeah.
24 and didn't say much at all. Matt pretty much did the 24 Q. Okay. Was Mr. Dupree added to the Blueware
25 talking. Matt talked about him knowing the 25 payroll?
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Page 29 Page 31
1 A. No. T wasmoney from the county commissioners.
2 Q. Did he become an employee at any time? 2 @ 4 el v selall it it Vo
3 A. Not while [ was there. 3 Sienionca Al M Dupitc diaie Al e il meciig
4 Q. Okay. I think you said earlier you mentioned 4 @ad etip ancciing on lhe spol vith Compmiissione My
5 he became a BlueGem employee? 5 Dolin?
6 A. That was after [ went. 6 @ W
7 Q. Okay. Andit's easy for us to mix up with all 7 © Grdvhcididunaineeig ke ooy
8 the blues, so we'll try to keep those separated. When 8 Lx o  0
9 did Mr. Dupree first get paid under the contract? Was 9 Wednesday, so two days later
10 there-- 10 Q. Okay. And where did you meet with Commissioner
11 A. January, January, early February. Because it 11 Boln?
12 was at the end of January, beginning of February. 12 @ et
13 MR. BERNBAUM: Of what year? 13 © e
14 THE WITNESS: 2012. 14 ‘A, Yeah. And the first (hing she showed us was a.
15 MR. BERNBAUM: I'm sorry, didn't mean to take| 15 Geci oo fhe back ot her Goor Wit bullerbolkes i it
16 over. 16 She had been to shooting something. She's all for guns.
17 MR. RUSSELL: No, no, that's fine. 17 Q. Okay. Who all was present at that meeting?
18 Clarification is always good. 18 @ discva M Bo Roc ) adi Dabbie
19 BY MR.RUSSELL: 19 Coldwell, another commereial realior, [ can't remember
20 Q. Ibelieve I understood you correctly, that was 20 @iShdme Maklaiio MaiDupe adoic ol
21 your first meeting with Matt Dupree? 21 Bolin's people.
22 A. Yes. 22 Q. Okay. A staff person?
23 Q. You had never -- okay. Are you familiar with 23 A. Yeah.
24 his company Eligere Strategies? 24 Q. Okay. I think you said there was county money
25 A. Yeah. 25 on the table. Is that what was discussed at the meeting?
Page 30 Page 32
1 Q. What do you know about Eligere? 1 A. No. Mary Bolin was -- she was very careful,
2 A. They explained that they were a Jobbyist 2 she said she would like technology. Rose gave her a
3 company that did work. Tim Buckley did the majority of 3 pitch of what she said Blueware was going to bring to the
4 the work in Tallahassee lobbying the senate. Matt was 4 county and I'm smiling because it was ambitious to say
5 more on the ground locally in Brevard. They fix things. 5 the least.
6 € Canvou elaborate When you say ihey i things? 6 Q. What was Rose's pitch in a nutsheli?
7 fGiceoic s o oy e voue il o 7 A. Basically that she was going to bring all these
8 @ BEne voildeean oo 8 jobs and this money and big contracts to.
9 fceded i e ol e conmisioneis o oEh 9 Q. Doing what kind of work, the medical?
10 Tallatiassee and things like that 10 A. Hospital at that point.
11 Q. Okay. You mean like legislation? 11 Q. Hospital.
12 @ Re DU improvencnts lecislation. So vwien ve 12 A. She wanted to get introductions to is it
13 wanted to go to EDC, Matt was lobbying from the backat | 13 Waldorf?
14 Tallahassee with Tim Buckley or Tim Buckley was lobbying| 14 Q. Wuesthoff?
15 in Tallahassee and Matt was working with Mary Bolinand | 15 A. Wuesthoff. M-
16 the commissioners locally fo get the Blueware offer 16 Q. MIMA?
17 @cept 17 A. No. Yes. But MA -- MHA have moved there.
18 . ©Okay And vlici vou sy the Bliiewaic oifer vou 18 They bought the - they bought out the Osler.
19 mean to get incentives for Blueware? 19 Q. Osler, yeah.
20 A Veah 20 MR. ELLIS: Romendetti.
21 © Ukeicaie ity ooy 21 THE WITNESS: Yeah.
22 @ Gl e s anunbe e va 22 A. And basically the health care in this
23 ‘reimbiirsements. there was tax incentives there Was money | 23 environment. Therg's a number of large organizations.
24 from the commissioners - from the govemor's closing 24 BY MR RUSSELL:
25 @und tiere va moncy o e oity of Miclhounie fhere 25 Q. Was Health First among those I'm assuming?
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1 A. Yeah, yeah. Holmes and. 1 Rockledge to find it, but we found it eventually. &nd
2 Q. Right. Which is Health First. 2 el Vil A Uy Calicd Gieg Welier and iy Rl e
2 A Yeah Sobasically thats where Ithink. And | 3 Rosfin.
4 then Matt, after listening to the pitch, said I know 4 Q. Trdy?
5 where there's a load of records that might need scanning) 5 A, Julic Roslin.
6 Q. Matt Dupree? 5 Q Ohokay. Ob, Roslin. Thatsright, Okay.
7 A. Yeah. That's when we first heard of the Clerk | 7 So you met with Greg and Judy at the EDC and I think you|
5 of the Courls. Matt said he bad a client that he was 5 said they were horrified that you were dealing with Matt
5 running his campaign for and then told us about this | 9 Dupree?
10 gymnasium full of records. 10 ‘A ‘And the lobbyist. They wanted fo go through
11 Q. And who was the client? 11 divect channels. There was this approach called, you
12 ‘A, Mitch Needelman, the Clerk of the Courts. 12 know, a company sign a non compele and a non disclosure|
13 Q. Okay. And Matt brought this up during this 13 Contiac i Matdidy Want s io sign it Andit oot
14 meeting with Commissioner Bolin or after? 14 @UUlchii fichons o sl Wilh d hea peety
15 A. No, after. 15 itsotsonedout
16 Q. After. Okay. Who all was present during that 16 e veniio - ve el vilh e city of Nclboune
17 discussion? 17 where we were Jooking regarding looking for incentives.
18 A. Thave no idea. 18 And we met with the Greg Weiner, Tulic Roslin, the city
19 Q. Okay. 19 ‘manager of Melboume, this becomes relevant in a minufe,
20 A. It was at lunch it was. 20 ‘another lady from there, Lorl Whitmer, Whit -~ Lot
21 Q. And that's another thing, if I wasn't clear at 21 S Sohehody Whitien
22 the beginning, I understand some time has past and 22 Q. Not Linda Weatherman?
23 everything and there's a lot to talk about, so if [ ask 23 A. No, I never met her, I never met her.
24 you something you don't remember, it's a perfectly 24 Q. Okay.
25 acceptable answer. 25 (A SBEvaE never mvslved I nssouAo R B e
Page 34 Page 36
1 ‘A, Well, the other thing is Matt Dupree has got 1 as Tknow asfong as I was there. A realtor, Debbie
2 ‘erbal diarthea. So it could have been at any point. He 2 Coldwell, myself, Mark Larusso, Matt Dupree, and it was a
3 had so many different angles and schemes going that he 3 realtor for the city. And basically the city was trying.
4 ‘could have been at any point. 4 o getus to lease a building.
5 Q. Okay. Going back to the meeting with 5 And [ was setting in -- Rose and I played good
6 Commissioner Bolin. Was there any kind of agreement that 6 cop/bad cop. So Rose sat there blond and she set there
7 came out of that meeting or any kind of conclusion in 7 with her neat suit and ] was the bulldog or the pit bull.
8 terms of let's have another meeting or let's introduce 8 So basically I don't want to lease a building. Why would
9 you to this person or that entity? 9 I move from a building that we own in Michigan to a
10 @ T6 NMibuErn v e el shuchiedny 10 leased building in Florida? I want you to give us a
11 Matt Dupree and Mary Bolin that she didn't commit herself | 11 million bucks.
12 toanything She said she looked forward to companies of | 12 And [was preity - that’s pretty much what |
13 this type come in. We then wentfo goandscethe EDC. | 13 said. Andthey were like, So, anyway, from that the EDC
14 @ om 14 start working with the city of Melbourne and the.
15 ‘A Who were horrified that we were dealing with 15 condition that ihe city got involved is that we were
16 Matt Duprec and a lobbyist. 16 Iocated within the pasameters of the brovin sitc within
17 Q. Okay. AndI'll get to that in a moment. Did 17 SEelbouine oy
18 somebody introduce you to the EDC or you know there's 18 0 okE
19 alwaysan EDC? 19 ‘A, So they were on board. And then Matt Dupree
20 A, Well, we know there's an EDC, but Rose had been 20 awas working with the conunissionsrs (o gel maoticy. Andilie]
21 down for inspection in 2010 just as a courtesy meeting 21 EDC Vi o ihe iovenios find lo gstinoney. 8o
22 when she came down when nobody would move. 22 @S WA coning cetlier s uiic A b dedl et
23 Q. Isee. 23 ol
24 A. In2010. So she knew about the EDC at that 24 Q. When you mention the brown site, you mean a
25 point. We didn't know what it was, we got lost going to 25 brown floor designation?
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1 A. Area. Oran area, yeah. If had to be within a 1 Maryland and they were beating a dead horse.
2 cerfain, I don't know, within the city -- it had to be 2 Q. Was a decision made around that time to move
3 within the city limits of Melbourne city and it had to be 3 away from the medical record?
4 within a certain area. 4 A. No.
5 We initially looked at the old Caldwell Banker 5 Q. Okay.
6 building opposite the town hall. If you look at opposite 6 A. No. That business was bringing in about 1.1 to
7 the town hall and there's a Caldwell Banker, it used to 7 1.4 million dollars a year in maintenance and work on the
8 be called Caldwell Banker building on the comer. [ 8 install base, so it was still profitable.
9 think Obama used it for his campaign. 9 © Oy WevE o cohctaieED)
10 Q. Oh, really. 10 AL Grég Wenier,
11 A. So we initially looked at that. And that was 11 © ©Okay Andyousaid he suppested you sion somie
12 about a million bucks, 650 for the top condos and about 12 Soitof confidenialiy agrecnienl)
13 five, 600,000 for the bottom condos. So we initially 13 A Ubchul
14 looked at that. But as soon as they know we were 14 . SVasthat — do you appen (0 kiow whcie it
15 looking, they jacked the price up. So we left there. 15 St e g
16 And then we looked at the address and mail or 16 Florida Stamite 288.075%
17 something like that on 405 New Haven and that was abouy 17 A Thave o iden
18 450, 500 grand. And we did a deal on a land contract 18 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form.
19 with them, paid then a 25,000 deposit, but Rose didn't 19 THE WITNESS: [ will answer for you, I have no
20 have the rest of the money to make the first initial 20 idea.
21 payment, which was about 75 grand I think. 21 BY MR. RUSSELL:
22 Q. She didn't have 75 grand -- 22 Q. 1 thought you probably wouldn't, but I'm just
23 A. No. 23 familiar with that form that has the number right across
24 Q. - atthat time? 24 ihefop.
25 A. She didn't have $75. 25 O et
Page 38 2t R
1 Q. Well, you had mentioned before that Blueware 1 Conhidenialin dprceneit Do vy confideniial
2 was doing very well in the Midwest. 2 ]
3 A. Tt was doing okay in the Midwest, yeah. It did 3 L e
4 about four million the year before, but to take the 4 §oul disoistions confidential
5 resources out of Michigan, myself and Rose, who people 5 O gmmenanrrwaa
6 did most of the sales with myself, and do nothing for 6 Q. Okay. So you signed it?
7 three months, doesn't take long for a business that's 7 @ 6 Gieg el Wel il Deaia
8 operating at about 300 grand a month to do it's -~ we had 8 Siaed Vil Roses s
° about a million dollars in January of 2012 at the 9 . And Who is Deena?
10 beginning of January and that had gone by March. 10 (A Deena s (he Diancial a0 RuseE peisenat
11 Q. Okay. 11 ‘essistance in Michigan
12 A. In operating its, you know, the salaries and 12 O e
13 the overheads. We were operating about $300,000 a month.| 13 @ GV rdva e tne Binham
t4 Q. SobyMarchof 2012, is it fair to say that ¢ Q NowitsBrigham?
15 Blueware was cash strapped? 15 @ ¥Em
16 A Yesh Wehadacrunch meeting in February 6 Q. Canyouspell that?
17 whereT set down with the executives and told themthat | 17 AL No.
19 ifthey didn' do something, we were in, my oxact words, | 10 Q. Okay.
S5 we were in the shit i we didn' do something. 1o A Because I've ot been in - she's maricd
20 Q. Did any change result from that meeting? 20 Since:
21 A. Rose leaned on the sales guys, but they were -- 21 © ©Okay e okay Did e DU pomise any Kind
22 at this point they -- we had done no rewrites, so Obama 22 of tax Incentives when vou Were dealing with them?
23 Care was coming out the first phase, we were selling into 23 @ Yah ey anc o viee ey
24 the install base, we'd only sold one new customer in the 24 Gifcicd 600 600 s ol housand o e s
25 last three years and that was to Atlantic General in 25 267000 or something like that from 1he ¢ity, 267.000
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1 Gon lcColnyonmisiones B eibiiseneit o 1 A. The Florida was a hail mary, it was, you know,
2 e e e ot e d e o 2 let's put it over there and see what we can do.
3 PR oEeEoRg® | > Q. ForBlueware youmean?
4 WWorks or something Like that like Florida woilk 4 A. Yeah, We were losing customers to meaningful
5 ‘organization. 5 use on an alarming base. So the software was in there,
6 e ¥ . 6 but because they had it already, it didn't get them
7 @ Dok whill e 7 grandfather rights, they still didn't have -~ meet the
8 0 las 8 certification, so they were having to change or put a
9 A We call it Michigan Works in Michigan, buiits 9 system in that it would meet for them to get
10 el onda e it ke in 10 reimbursements. If they didn't, they were going to get
11 Eigndieyic b coiies 11 pelted. So we were losing customers at an alarming rate.
12 MR IACOBUS Bievard Work Boieey 12 Q. Okay. Sois it accurate to say that Blueware
13 THE WITNESS: That's exactly whoitis) 13 was in serious financial trouble?
14 Thiough Brevard Work Foree. 14 A No,
15 BY MR. RUSSELL: 15 Q. At least forecasting into the future?
16 O Okay Wasthere also discussion ot tis 16 A. Forecasting there was a risk.
17 govemor's quick action closing fund? 17 Q. Okay. Did you-Tknow you said you never
15 A, That was the 600 and somcthing thousand. 16 talked 1o Linda Weathermann, let me ask you about a
19 Q. Okay. 22 couple other EDC employees. You said you mel with Tuliq
v § T > SRS
21 had - we bad to cither jobs or movey or amixtre of | 21 A Yep.
22 both would do the - to make the math to make that work.| 22 Q. And Greg Weiner?
23 Sobasically what Greg Weiner said isyouneed | 2% A, Yes.
4 to committo 196 jobs at 600 - 69,000 ayearover four | 24 Q. Did you meet with Trudie McCarthy?
25 yeas. Soljust thought that ain't ever going o 25 A Inameeting, never spoke to her.
Page 42 Page 44
1 Sappen. So what Ldid was -~ Fdid this. 1 had it 1 Q. Okay. What about Jennifer Sugarman?
2 Chanped 1o dn aveiane 6T 69,000, all naki fer 196 2 A. Don't remember.
5 employecs. 3 Q Okay. ihink you pretty well described your
: So Rose could eam 425,000, I would beon 175 | 4 dealings with Mr. Weiner. With regard to Julie Roslin,
% andthere would be bonuscs and stuff, Andthen alarge | 5 was (hat jusi the iniial mesting or did you deal with
5 number at 20, $30 a year, but the average stll worksout | & her going orward?
T 10be69,000, 7 A No. Julicand Greg I met quite - quitcalot.
8 Tquestioned the 196, so that's why I had it §  Canlgoto the bathroom?
9 spread quite nogressively over five vears where it was ] Q. Sure. Take five minutes.
10 OnlAs TRk G A0 e mestca mna s e 10 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Going off the record at
1 second year knowing that it would be achallenge fodo 11 1029
12 S5 toaetios 12 (A break was taken.)
13 rxr . ] 13 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're back on the record at
14 possibility that you could employ that many people doing | 1 10:37.
15 @ediciliccoid > 15 BY MR. RUSSELL:
16 @68 L6 Q Agsin, Mr. Geaney, ] forget oxactly where we
7 Q. - workhere? Okay. Didyouor Rose disclose | 17 Ieft offbefore the brek, but I think we were talking
18 tothe EDC or discuss with them the fact that you needed | 16 about your dealings with Julie Rostin and Greg Weiner and
19 money - you needed funding because Blueware could nof| 1% 1 think you said Ms, Roslin was usually preseat when you
20 afford to relocate at that fime? 20 met with Mr. Weiner?
21 @ e 21 A Yep. Imetthom on numerous oceasions. Grcg
22 Q. Tsitaccurate to say that Blueware could no 22 andhad anumber of phone calls, a number of meetings.
23 afford to relocate without some financial assistance? 23 Started to apply the pressure {o Greg to know about the
24 A. Tt was a Hail Mary really. 24 Incentives in March and April because Blueware were
25 Q. Okay. 25 running short of money and needed to sign some contracts
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Page 45 Page 47
b for the Clerk of the Courts. 1 Q. Okay.
2 Ceawensva oo 2 A. That's where gem comes from, government and
3 G il P BievEd 3 education. That's where she came up with BlueGem.
4 seteive the state fmding. You canlt be a Florida: 4 There's another one, government, education and I can't
5 company doing business or a business doing business in 5 remember.
6 Florida, can't receive the incentive from the closing. 6 Q. Medical?
7 @id and St becaust youhc alicady here and ihcie 7 A. It doesn't matter. Maybe, maybe. So and that
8 Selldbe o need o icent o b eonc andnioe o 8 was done just to keep the money separate, I think
9 Brevard. So 1 had the cost containment coniract, the 9 Blueware initially was going to stay as a Michigan
10 Bk 10 corporation.
11 @ Cosline? 11 Q. Okay. And was there a Blueware, a BlueGem and
12 @ Conillacy contiati nd some other Bl and 12 a Roseware that were all Michigan entities?
13 pieces that needed to be signed. And1told Gregabout | 13 A. Yep.
14 @ scanning conhiach that it was o sikio eighi million 14 Q. And did all three of those eventually become
15 ‘dollars and he's going for God's sake don'tsign it 15 Florida entities?
16 So Grep Weiner Was awire of ihie confract was 16 A. There was a legal juggle. They were moving
17 Cuilce ot e EDC bt savine dontsign i becase 17 them backwards and forward like -~ there was two things
18 e mintie vou sign 1 youe doing business in Floiida 18 going on. At the time that I left, they were all
19 @ndyoncanticceive sy icontives fiom e TDC ad 19 Michigan corporations.
20 doidoin 20 When I filed a lawsuit, that she changed or
21 @ Sodidyouholdaiton o contiact) 21 tried to change Blueware to a Florida corporation and it
22 @ el e mallcrois Ve puiinioRosenaes 22 didn't quite work because she hadn't classified the
23 mame. The first contract that we did wias 2 16,000 23 papers in the right way. So it came back to be a
24 Eonciadicvepiaml Bk W i 24 Michigan corporation. So where they stand today, I have
25 — 25 no idea. And that was done on the 30th of August for
Page 46 Page 48
1 And that basically was a contract for two days 1 2012, Mr. Litman (sic), if you want to check.
2 Condulne Bl didni e 2 Q. Okay. Let me take you back to Greg Weiner
3 O Aud D G0ie 1 seto that Tm gsime o by 3 telling you don't sign that contract because you won't be
4 @king vol Abouihat Bulaiihai e WA Roseviaic i 4 able to get the incentives.
b existing entity? 5 A Y
6 @ Well Reevaic Wi aliile pojeci haiRoe 6 Q. What ultimately resulted?
7 @A o domevideos ad s up o, But Ui 7 A. Ultimately we changed the names of the
8 S v v e Vi calliipc ogn e 8 organizations and entities that we did the -- that we did
9 ‘contracts and that we were shiiguling and we needed tode 9 the business with and then they were brought on after as
10 hat And he was saving vou can't, you just can't do 10 part of the agreement for the EDC. So Roseware had never
11 @hat niil ol st incentives fiom Tallahassee Sohe 11 done any technical contract at all and it did the
12 swas aware al that point of the scanning contract 12 consultancy contract for --
13 @ OGBSO | 15 Q. I getino ha
14 ‘picture? 14 A. I'm sorry, not the consultancy contract, the IT
15 @ §eah 15 contracts, the 130,000 one. What was it called? 1 don't
16 . SO il Rosevare wolld still have ncentives 16 even know what it's entitled now. The IT audit, the IT
17 or I'm sony, Blueware? 17 audit contract was between Roseware. Some smaller ones
18 @ dieigsanmberoticaion: il BlicGen and 18 were done with BlueGem. But Blueware was forcing forward
19 feBiby Blucscameih. One haitie healihicae vas 19 with the state, so it didn't do any business.
20 like I said was ticking along and it was doing okay. 20 Q. Isee. So by doing business under the Baby
21 Long term, you know, unless we did something with Best| 21 Blues as you called them, Blueware was still clean in
22 Bond, which was a software that Rose was trying to 22 terms of not doing business in the state of Florida?
23 develop that wasn't really going anywhere, we needed to 23 A. Yeah,
24 diversify. So BlueGem comes under government and 24 Q. And still eligible to receive incentives?
25 education. 25 A, Yep.
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1 Q. Okay. Whose idea was it to do that? 1 recall, or to the best of your recollection?

2 A. @'may have had something to do with it, T don't 2 A. 1don't think -- I don't think he actually told

3 remember. It would have been a group decision. There 3 us what to move. But I believe that we moved, after

4 was so many -- there was Michigan attorney involved which 4 talking with Deena and Rose, we moved a considerable deb

5 was King & King, Lori King. There was a Smith & 5 that we owed IBM for software for content manager

6 Assoclates from Florida, Susan Smith. There was Dupree 6 licenses.

7 putting his penny's worth in. The EDC knew that we were 7 Q. Moved it to where or just subtracted it out?

8 struggling, so they were there. [ don't know, it could 8 A. No, I think it got moved into a different

9 have been any or a mixture. 9 column. I think.

10 Q. Okay. Were there ever any meetings between 10 Q. Did Mr. Weiner tell you that you need to change
11 Blueware representatives, yourself and/or Rose and EDC 11 your numbers to make the company look more financially
12 representatives and Matt Dupree? 12 sound?
13 A. That's a good question. He was at the meeting 13 A. Yeah, pretty much.
14 with the city. He was at the city meeting when they were 14 Q. Okay. And that's what Blueware did?
15 going for the incentives. So, yes. 15 A. Yep.
16 Q. Okay. And, ultimately, there were incentives 16 Q. What was resubmifted to the EDC -- I'm assuming
17 that were offered to Blueware; right? 17 you're making your submission to the EDC; is that
18 A. Yes. 18 correct?
19 Q. There was -- and why don't you just rather than 19 A. Yeah. We made submission to the EDC who then
20 me testifying, why don't you tell us what incentives were 20 send it to Tallahassee. I think -- I think the number of
21 ultimately offered by the state, the county, the city, 21 issues -- one was the firstly was the financial, the
22 EDC? 22 debts and things. The other thing was projected income.
23 A. Exact down to the dollar figures, I'm not sure. 23 We got a lot of projected income coming from the United
24 There was a split of 800 -- it came to -- the closing 24 Kingdom and it was a lot harder to trace whether that was
25 fund and the city and the county came just shy of a 25 viable or not.

Page 50 Page 52

1 million bucks. 1 think the city and the county were 1 We were looking on a very large deal with a

2 267,000 each and the remainder was money from the closing 2 company -- with a hospital in the UK called East Sussex

3 fund. That was actual hard cash. And then there were 3 and the deals in the United Kingdom are a lot bigger

4 other 3.25 million in reimbursements, abatements and 4 purely because it's socialized medicine. So, you know,

5 training. And that was spread over the four years. 5 an average hospital will see 300,000 people for the ER,

6 Q. Okay. Did the cash payments, were those 6 where here a large hospital may see 87.

7 actually made to Blueware? 7 Cardiovascular and all the specialties are

8 A. Not -- I don't know. Not to my knowledge. 8 within the hospital and there's not clinics outside. So,

9 Q. Okay. Was there conditions of some kind g you know, the actual income, the income of a hospital in
10 attached to those monies so that Blueware had to create X 10 England would be 900 million pounds which would be 1.2
11 number of jobs? 11 1.3 billion dollars. So you're seeing a lot more people
12 A. Like I said, there was 196 ultimately. Ithink 12 so the contracts are a lot larger. So to throw a couple
13 it was 40, 50, 50, 50 or something along that things, 13 of those in there, they were put in a bit further along
14 average of $69,000. 14 than they actually were with the negotiation.

15 Q. Okay. Did the EDC ask Blueware to submit any 15 I noticed in the ITN that we used one as a

16 kind of financial statements or documentation? 16 reference, we didn't actually ever win that. So that's
17 A. Yeah, they did. They were going backwards and 17 in there which was East Sussex. So we did the futures
18 forwards with them. Blueware put the initial financials 18 was high, very high, the futures was very high and then
19 in and they got rejected because our debt to income ratio 19 obviously we changed the financials.

20 was too high and we were told to adjust it. 20 Q. And is it accurate to say that the revised

21 Q. Who told you to adjust it? 21 financials submitted to the EDC to be forwarded to the
22 A. EDC. 22 state were inaccurate?

23 Q. Who at EDC in particular? 23 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form.

24 A. Greg Weiner. 24 A, As far as I saw them when they were issued to
25 Q. Okay. And what specifically did he say, if you 25 the EDC. 1didn't see them get sent to the state.
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1 BY MR. RUSSELL: 1 that figure. 1 thought it was 50,000 more than that

2 Q. Okay. 2 figure, but I know that he had been promised a bonus.

3 A. They didn't -- the state were really nervous. 3 Q. Okay. And that's what I was going to ask you

4 The state I think rejected it the first time, it was only 4 about. And just looking at the check you see it's paid

5 under lobby that it went through. 5 to the order of Matt Dupree and signed by Rose Harr.

6 Q. Under lobby? 6 A. Uh-huh

7 A. Yeah. It was pushed and pushed and pushed. I 7 Q. Isthat Rose's signature, do you recognize it?

8 think what happened a software company had burned the 8 A. Yep.

9 state in the Panhandle in the year before and taken a lot 9 Q. And then it says bonus for EDC, What did Matt
10 of money and declared bankruptcy and a lot of people werg 10 Dupree do, to your knowledge, concerning the EDC that
11 saying that Blueware were in the same position. But it 11 entitled him to $100,000 bonus?

12 finally did get approved. 12 A. Thave absolutely no idea. He did some

13 Q. Who did the lobbying? 13 lobbying to get it approved. I have no idea.

14 A. Buckley and Dupree. They were putting pressure 14 Q. Okay. When you said previously you knew that

15 on a guy called Colonel Prendergast. 15 Matt had been promised a bonus, what were you referring

16 THE COURT REPORTER: Colonel what? 16 to?

17 THE WITNESS: Ilooked straight to you. 1 17 A. For the scanning contract and the EDC, Matt was

18 don't know how to spell it. Colonel Prendergast or 18 promised a bonus. I believed it was 150,000, but it's

19 gast. 19 obviously not.

20 BY MR. RUSSELL: 20 Q. Okay.

21 Q. Colonel Prendergast? 21 A. Orit's part payment,

22 A. Yeah. He's looking -- he's running for one of 22 Q. Okay. Atsome point I think you said you met

23 the things in Tallahassee. So you'll get him -~ you'll 23 former Clerk of Court Mitch Needelman; correct?

24 get him from there. 24 A. Yep.

25 Q. Do you know if he's local to this area or if 25 Q. How were you infroduced to Mr. Needelman?
Page 54 Page 56

1 he's maybe over on the west coast? 1 A. We were asked to go to lunch at the Yellow Dog

2 A. Tallahassee. He used to be the chief of staff 2 Cafe in Palm Bay where myself, Matt, Debbie Coldwell and

3 to the governor I think or something like that. 3 Rose were sat on the deck upstairs and Mitch Needelman

4 Q. Okay. 4 was downstairs and it was the meeting of al of the Clerk

5 A. And then there's a guy called Clint that works 5 of the Courts. It's some kind of group where all the

6 in the governor's office that Dupree is friendly with and, 6 Clerk of the Courts meet. They're an organization. [

7 Buckley. I think it's Clint. 7 think they -- help me, Scott, are you part of a group?

8 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1 was Marked for 8 MR. RUSSELL: He's not able to help you.

9 Identification.) 9 A. Clerk -- commissioners for the Clerk of the
10 BY MR. RUSSELL: 10 Court, Clerk of the Court.

11 Q. Okay. Mr. Geaney, I'm going to show you a 11 BY MR. RUSSELL:

12 photocopy of a check that we've marked Exhibit I for | 12 Q. Okay.

13 identification. Do you recognize that check? 13 A. It's where they all meet. All the heads of the

14 A. No. 14 court have an organization and they meet.

15 Q. I'mjust looking at the check dated November 1| 15 Q. From all over the state you mean?

16 0f2012. Around that time period was the EDC still 16 A. Yeah, yeah. So they meet. And it was Mitch's

17 working on getting incentives for Blueware or was that| 17 turn to host it. Mitch was off work with a sinus problem
18 already done? 18 and he was going in for an operation. So he left his --

19 A. That was already done. 19 the luncheon and at the end he came up and he sat with
20 Q. Okay. 20 myself, Rose, Matt Dupree, Debbie Coldwell, and Sean
21 A. Tknow --T'know that Matt had been promised a| 21 Campbell arrived to pick him up, who was deputy chief of
22 bonus, this was after I left. 22 Clerk of Court.

23 Q. Okay. 23 And basically he went and introduced himself to
24 A. Tknow that Matt had been promised a bonus, I | 24 Rose and then he moved himself up to talk to me. And he
25 didn't know it had been paid. I know that it was aroung g came across, he had a big Hawaiian shirt on and he came

Filing 14255963

14 (Pages 53 to 56)

King Reporting and Video Conference Center

321-242-8080

WWw. kKin
BREVARD COUNTY VS BLUEGEM LLLC

reporting.com

05-2013-CA-033457-XXXX-XX



Filing 14255963

Page 57 Page 59
1 across as I'm a technophobic, if it's got more than three 1 Debbie Puckett was in charge of the older records and
2 syllables I don't understand it, but I've got a load of 2 there was Justine in charge of the redaction of the new
3 records, would you be inferested in scanning it. And I 3 records and Cindy Rabe was the IT director and Lori Rice
4 just looked at him and said, well, it's worth a look. 4 was the mouthpiece, she was the deputy chief of Clerk of
5 Q. Sure. At that time had Blueware ever done any 5 Courts. And the other one was just there for -- [ don't
6 kind of document scanning in its business? 6 know why she was there, she didn't say anything, the
1 A. Our business is a document scanning from a 7 assistant.
8 technical point of view, but physically, no. They may 8 Q. Okay.
9 have done some in the very early 90s, but there was ) A, So basically we asked questions for about an
10 nobody left there apart from Rose that would have done 10 hour and a half and they stonewalled us, wouldn't tell us
11 it, but never on the scale that was there. 11 anything. There was nothing with any of their records,
12 Q. Isece. 12 there was nothing wrong with the systems, everything is
i3 A. Certainly didn't have the skill base or the 13 fine.
14 knowledge to be able to do that. 14 Q. So even Sean Campbell couldn't get informatjon
15 Q. Okay. Let me back you up one second. Whenwas| 15 out of them?
16 this meeting with Mr. Needelman? 16 A. No. Sean ran with the hares and the hounds, so
17 A. February. 17 he basically just listened. So then what he did --
18 Q. 0f2012? 18 Q. That sounds like an English expression.
19 A. Yeah. 19 A. So basically he runs -- he basically plays both
20 Q. I'msorry, who introduced you -- I mean who set 20 sides, so he was going to sit on that fence and not going
21 up the meeting? 21 to upset the girls and he wasn't going to do anything to.
22 A. Dupree. 22 Q. Isee.
23 Q. Okay. 23 A At that meeting Matt Dupree sat in the car
24 A. And then I just said I would like to see them, 24 because Matt Dupree wouldn't go into the clerk's office
25 you know. I would be interested in seeing this gymnasium| 25 because of his connection with Needelman and everybody in
Page 58 Page 60
1 full of records, never heard of anything like it. So he 1 there hated him because of another deal with Source 2 is
2 got Sean Campbell to organize a meeting to show us 2 what he told us, which is my very first inclination that
3 Titusville and he called them the Witches of Eastwick. 3 there was something wrong.
4 He needed the five, four or five ladies that were running 4 Q. Let me back you up on that. So Matt Dupree
5 that thing to be present at this meeting. And they 5 waited in the car, he said these ladies don't like me
6 wouldn't do it on the Friday afternoon. So we went on 6 because of a deal with Source 27?
7 the Monday and we first went up to the boardroom where we 7 A. His exact words were they will shoot me if T go
8 met with a lady called Cindy Rabe. I don't know how to 8 into there, I would probably get shot.
] spell it. 9 Q. Did he tell you what Source 2 was?
10 Q. R-A-B-B sound familiar? 10 A. Yeah, I know -- I know all about Source 2
11 A. That's Rabb, I think that is Matt Rabbis a 11 dealing. See, like I said before, he got verbal diarrhea
12 different person. 12 and I know that they outsourced 196 people and he had to
13 Q. Allright. R-A-B-E. 13 fix that deal for Needelman and he was receiving five
14 A. Cindy Rabe, Debbie Puckett, Lori Rice, Justine 14 grand a month from Source 2.
15 Winik and I think it's Debbie's assistant at the time, 1 15 Q. Matt Dupree received five grand a month from
16 don't know her name. 16 Source 27
17 Q. Okay. I'm sorry, go ahead, I'm sorry, [ didn't 17 A. Yeah.
18 mean to interrupt. 18 Q. And that -- and you're referring to the point
19 A. So we went in and we said we hear you got a 19 in time at which then Clerk Needelman fired a large
20 problem with your scanning and they went nope. They so 20 portion of the Clerk of Court staff and then outsourced
21 basically, we asked questions for an hour and they 21 them to Source 27
22 stonewalled us, wouldn't tell us anything, 22 A. This was ten months after. Matt had got Rose,
23 Q. Were these ladies who worked there at the 23 Rose and Matt were fine, Nick and Matt, Nick didn't
24 gymnasium of records? 24 understand where Matt was real value. So Matt justified
25 A. Well, they all had different roles. I think 25 his value by telling us all these deals he was doing on
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1 the side and how important he was because he runs his 1 they could go. 1was told be quiet, it was a scanning
2 mouth. All right. So he told me about the Source 2 deal 2 project pretty much,
3 and I got a few more that he told me about that you can 3 Q. By whom?
4 check that will work out as well so. He said he stayed 4 A. By Rose and Matt. It was a scanning project.
5 in the car. 5 Q. Okay.
6 So we were in there for an hour and a hatf. 6 A. So we went away from there. The other major
7 And then we were in the top building at Titusville, which 7 concern | had was that if the management in there weren't
8 [ thought -- the top one which is where the clerk's 8 going to play ball, you know, to move into a hostile
9 office is. Then they took us down to is it the 600 block 9 environment, it's very difficult to be able to do that,
10 they call it or something where there's a big gymnasium 10 you know. They have all the knowledge, they have all the
11 full of records. And we went through there and there was 11 retention policies and very skilled people within the
12 a gymnasium full of records, a huge amount of records. 12 clerk's office.
13 I had a number of concerns. One, it was a 13 Q. Uh-huh.
14 mammoth task. Secondly, in health care you have a thing 14 A. You know it runs every day, you know, you can
15 called HIPAA, which everybody signs the HIPAA agreement] 15 see it running. So I was told not to worry about it
16 when they got to the doctor, which is security and 16 because most of them would be gotten rid of.
17 everything. I knew there must be some form of HIPAA or 17 Q. Who told you that?
18 retention policy and security around the court documents. 18 A. Needelman and Dupree in a meeting that they
19 [ had no idea what it was. 19 could be gotten rid of because they were supporters of
20 So, you know, you've got probably 250 million 20 Scott Ellis.
21 pieces of paper, all right, with not understanding 21 Q. Okay. Let me ask you, you may have already
22 retention policy. Debbie Puckett gave me a crash course 22 said this, I know you said it was February of 2012 when
23 in adoptions and capital cases, death row cases get kept 23 you first met with Needelman. Are we still in the
24 forever and eternity, certain ones after seven years, 24 February 2012 time period?
25 certain ones after five years. How that would ever get 25 A. Yeah, February, March, early February and
Page 62 Page 64
1 sorted out to a point that you could scan them 1 March.
2 efficiently I didn't quite get. 2 Q. Okay.
3 What I did understand was that a lot of the 3 A. Solputaproposal together to do it and first
4 files went back to the 40s and 50s and 60s and 70s where 4 I thought because of the instruction that it's probably
5 I thought this is going to be easier than you think cause 5 going to be about two million, 1.8 to do it because a Jot
6 you can destroy a lot of these, you don't really need to 6 of it was destruction. And I think -- I think that you
7 scan them. 7 may have a copy of that contract or proposal.
8 So I came out of that meeting thinking this is 8 Q. Do you mean when you say 1.8 to two million to
9 a destruction contract more than -- with scanning rather 9 do it, do you mean Blueware's cost or do you mean that
10 than a scanning contract with reduction -- with 10 would be the contract value?
11 destruction. So in my opinion when I first came out of 11 A. The contract value. And most of it was for
12 there was you can -- you can, you know, once you've been | 12 destruction. [ think you may have a copy of that
13 through them, you could drive a shredding machine up to 13 contract. Then when they told me they want to scan
14 the back of the gym and put a lot of them in the shredder 14 everything, it becomes a completely different scenario.
15 because you don't need to keep them anymore. 15 You know, we weren't a scanner bureau that were going to
16 Q. Because they're old enough? 16 have to add a third shift, right, to scan all the
17 A. Yeah, 17 records. We were an organization that didn't -- that
18 Q. And not of the kind that have to be kept? 18 were working out of two small offices down on Riverside.
19 A. Yeah 19 Our base was 1500 to 2,000 miles away that way and we hac
20 Q. Forever? 20 no bodies.
21 A. Yeah. So that was as a layperson, you 21 So I stand by the price of 8. -- eight million
22 understand, as a layperson that was my initial that a lot 22 bucks because we needed to buy a building, we needed to
23 of it could just be bin essentially, you know, but done 23 buy three or four scanners, 30 to 40 people over a five
24 in a respectful manner because these are people's 24 year period, all right, redaction, maintenance, staff,
25 personal documents in there. But we could shred them and} 25 risk because we'd never done it. Again, I put 20 percent
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1 risk in there, that's what good business does. And, you 1 that it was fair.
2 know, it came out, to be honest with you, it came out at 2 Q. Did the number you put together, were there any
3 7.1. 3 monies built in for jobs to be offered to Mitch
4 And then what I do is I add ten percent, right, 4 Needelman?
5 because most organizations go down fo a two company 5 A. Yeah
6 selection where you have a prime vendor and a secondary 6 Q. Orothers?
7 vendor and the secondary vendor keeps the first one 7 A. No, not to Mitch. They wanted Renee McGrory,
8 honest. So I was expecting them to come back to me and 8 don't know, outed and Mike McDaniel to have jobs in
9 say we want your BAFO, which is best and final offer, 8 Blueware if Mitch lost the election.
10 which gives me the wiggle room to come back downto 7.1} 10 Q. Who is Mike McDaniel?
11 That never happened. Dupree and Needelman were aware | 11 A. Chief financial officer at the clerk’s office
12 later that I had that in there and never, ever asked me iz at the time.
13 to take it out. 13 Q. Okay.
14 Q. So, essentially, Blueware was going to have to 14 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This is the end of media
15 start from scratch and create a document scanning 15 number one. We are going off the record at 11:08.
16 company? 16 (A break was taken.)
17 A. Yeah 17 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're back on the record at
18 Q. Hire the people, buy the equipment, get the 18 11:20, beginning of media number two.
19 real estate, build it from the ground up? 19 BY MR. RUSSELL:
20 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form. 20 Q. Okay. Mr. Geaney, before we went off the
21 MR. RUSSELL: Is that correct? 21 record, we were talking about the proposal for the
22 MR. BERNBAUM: Same, object to the form. 22 scanning contract coming up over eight million dollars
23 A. Yes. Ithink it's worse than that. They were 23 and what was included in that.
24 having to buy the knowledge. 24 Did it also include any post election lifeboats
25 25 if you will in the event that Mr. Needelman lost the
Page 66 Page 68
1 BY MR. RUSSELL: 1 election?
2 Q. Okay. 2 A. There were two $150,000s, one for Matt and one
3 A. You know, it wasn't a medical record that we 3 for Mitch.
4 were going to take apart and scan it and destroy, it was 4 Q. Okay. And how did it come to be that you
5 a court form that nobody in Blueware had ever seen, you 5 included those figures in your proposal?
6 know. And it's even worse than medical, medical is 6 A. Because that's what they -- that's what they --
7 across the United States and it's a -- it's a recognized 7 that's what I was told to put in there.
8 form. Florida state courts are different, so we would 8 Q. So did Mr. Needelman and Mr. Dupree indicate
9 have to employ people from within Florida that understood 9 that they expected to have a safety net of that kind?
10 the statutes of Florida law. So we had absolutely no 10 A. Matt told me that Mitch said that that's what
11 idea what we were doing. 11 they would need.
12 And with them five ladies making it very 12 Q. Okay. Did the figure also include any other
13 apparent that hell would freeze over before they were 13 monies to them that were not contingent on the outcome of]
14 going to help us. 14 the election?
15 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Two minutes. 15 A. There was $5,000 a month if the 150 wasn't paid
16 A. Youknow, it had to be high. The risk in there 16 for the total period of the contract. So my beliefis it
17 had to be really, really high. 17 was an either or.
18 BY MR. RUSSELL.: 18 Q. Okay. Allright. Atsome point in time I
19 Q. Okay. But at some point you did submit a 19 understand, and correct me if I'm wrong, but I'm led to
20 written proposal? 20 believe that you had a meeting at Mr. Needelman's home?
21 A. We did four or five and they kept getting 21 A. Yes.
22 thrown out. We did four or five different ones. And 22 Q. Okay. Can you tell us about that meeting?
23 then Needelman said he had the authority -- he had the 23 A. We moved along and we put a couple of proposals
24 authority to put it through, but with the election he 24 in. Mitch had been off work, Mitch Needelman had been
25 wanted to go to some kind of procurement to make it seem| 25 off work with some sinus problem, I think he had a small
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1 operation. Matt was getting me to put proposals together 1 about the scanning project. Matt said, you know, you
2 and do different things. And I'm pretty blunt as a 2 understand how this has got to work, there needs to be a
3 person so [ said, Jook, you know, at the end of the day, 3 payment. I didn't say too much at all.
4 is there a scanning contract? Is there not a scanning 4 Q. What kind of payment?
5 contract? What's going to happen? Is Mitch on board or 5 A. He made it very clear that it was a payment to
6 are you just playing these lobbyist games keeping me 6 Mitch because we talked about 150,000 in the proposals
7 busy? 7 before. Mitch just nodded his head and said you
8 He said, no, no, no, there's a scanning 8 understand how it works. He said yes. He didn't say
9 contract. [said I want to hear it from Needelman's 9 much at all. T just said I'm going to have to go back
10 mouth. He said, okay, I'l! arrange a meeting. So he 10 and talk to Rose, it's not my money, I have no control of
11 said I've got a meeting set for 2:00. So I said okay. 11 the money.
12 He said, no, it's been -- he phoned me it's been changed, 12 Q. Did you ask Needelman or Dupree at that time,
13 it's at 6:00 and we're going to have dinner. I said 13 did you say are we going to get a scanning contract?
14 okay, but I've got Kelly and my little boy down with me. 14 A. Yes.
15 Q. Whois Kelly? 15 Q. Okay.
16 A. Kelly is my wife. 16 A. Yes. And the answer was yes.
17 Q. Okay. 17 Q. And they said yes?
18 A. Sohe said, yeah, yeah, yeah, bring them along, 18 A. Yes.
19 we're going to meet at Off The Traxx. So I said okay. 19 Q. You will get it?
20 Which is a bar at downtown Melbourne opposite the city 20 A. Yes.
21 building at quarter after six. 21 Q. Okay. Did they ask you to submit a proposal at
22 So that Friday [ had loads of people from 22 that time or a revised proposal or contract?
23 Michigan that were down looking to see if they were going] 23 A. No, I asked them how this is going to work.
24 to relocate or not. So I was taking 13 to 20 whinging 24 With my background in England, everything is socialized
25 Michiganders around Florida looking at houses and 25 so all the contracts are -- ali the contracts are
Page 70 Page 72
1 possible areas that they would move to trying fo convince 1 government. So you go through a selection process,
2 the programmers and people to move with Debbie Coldwell, 2 through procurement where the minute you enter
3 the realtor, at the time. 3 procurement, you can't even talk to the vendor. So
4 Finally got back to our hotel at about 5:30, 4 basically what happens is a vendor courts the hospital so
5 rushed got changed and Kelly and I, and Evan, my little 5 you'll have two or three people court, he'll come out and
6 boy, went over to Off The Traxx. Kelly was driving a 6 he'll say in six weeks we're going out to buy a new
7 hired car, Pulled into Off The Traxx and Mitch wasn't 7 machine. And it goes on to a public site and then these
8 there but Dupree was in the car parking his blue Mercedes 8 customers pitch and do all the little bits and pieces.
9 and said we're not eating here, follow us. So Kelly and 9 And then put an a RFP out or a thing out and from that
10 I followed him out of there and went downtown and around | 10 point you can't have direct communications with the
11 and pulled into a driveway, two-way driveway into a 11 client, it has to be done through a procurement process.
12 single story house, nice house. And Matt got out and 12 So I knew working with government in the UK,
13 Mitch's house is where it was. 13 that there's some stringent rules around procurement. So
14 We went in, didn't see Mitch to start with. 14 I asked how this was going to work. Mitch initially told
15 Mitch's wife, Joan Needelman was there, and there was 15 me that he had the remit, just to go out and buy it.
16 some pastries and some stuff on the table, pretty house. 16 Q. He had what?
17 Joan started to speak to Kelly, Mitch wasn't there. 17 A. The remit. He had the power to just purchase.
18 Mitch came out of his office four or five minutes later. 18 Q. Okay.
19 Joan said to Kelly let's go for a walk. And Kelly and 19 A. Then he -~ Matt came back and said Mitch is too
20 Joan and the baby went for a walk. 20 nervous, he's up in for reelection and if he just goes
21 Q. Okay. 21 out and buys it, he's going to get slaughtered in the
22 A. And then it left myself, Mitch and Matt Dupree 22 public spending a contract of that money. We need to
23 in his living room around his dining room table. 23 come through an avenue of procurement.
24 Q. Okay. And what was discussed at that time? 24 So there were a few grounds within Blueware
25 A. Matt did most of the talking. Basically talked 25 because we had been use to long government processes in
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1 the UK. And Matt came back with the initial idea was to 1 Q. And what was Rose's response to their proposal?

2 piggyback a state contract that did something similar, 2 A. Pay the man.

3 So if somebody in a different county had gone out and 3 Q. That were her exact words?

4 bought the same thing, they could go out and do it. So 4 A. (Nods head.)

5 that's when they introduced me to a gentleman from a 5 MR. BERNBAUM: Can you just answer verbally?

6 company called CXR they called Henry Sal. 6 MR. RUSSELL: You have to. Yeah.

7 Q. And that's when you started gefting into the 7 A. Yes.

8 ITN process? 8 BY MR. RUSSELL:

g A. Yeah. 9 Q. And that's another thing when [ went over some
10 Q. Well, let me back you up before -- before we 10 of the rules at the beginning, yeah, if you can answer
11 get to that. 1 do want to talk about that. But back to 11 audibly with a yes or no or what have you, shaking and
12 the meeting at Mitch Needelman's house. Was there any 12 nodding doesn't show up well on the transcript even
13 discussion of the Needelman campaign at that meeting? 13 though the video does help.

14 A. Twas invited to his campaign meeting the 14 When Rose said pay the man, did you go back to

15 following Monday at 2:00. 15 Needelman or Dupree and say okay?

16 Q. Okay. Well, when you were at this initial 16 A. Dupree had already spoken to Rose, they were

17 meeting at his house, was there any discussion of the 17 playing me at the time.

18 cost, the high cost of funding the election? 18 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the answer as non

19 A. Oh, he wanted money. He wanted money. It was} 19 responsive.

20 He said that -~ Matt told me that it cost about $120,000 20 BY MR. RUSSELL:

21 to run a decent campaign in Florida and there was a 21 Q. Okay. Why do you feel they were playing you at

22 mailing going out and they needed money for a mailing. 22 the time?

23 And nothing else was said at that point. Later the next 23 A. Because Rose knew too much of the details.

24 week he wanted $10,000, 24 Rose liked to play two ends against the middle. Like,

25 Q. From Blueware? 25 for instance, she would read all our e-mails on our
Page 74 Page 76

1 A. From Blueware. And so what he did was he got 1 server.

2 us to write a two day consultancy invoice under BlueGem 1 2 Q. You mean Blueware employees?

3 think to -- for $10,000. 3 A. Yeah, yeah. So if we were working on and she

4 Q. I'll get to that. And I do want to talk about 4 would read them and sometimes she got so infuriated that

5 that because I have some exhibits to show you, but I want 5 we'd put test out there knowing that we would wind her up

6 to just get a little more information about this meeting 6 and she would answer them when she wasn't copied on them,

7 at Mr. Needelman's house to confirm some things that T've 7 so we knew that she was reading them. So I knew that she

8 read and kind of piece together, fill in some gaps. 8 was In communications with Dupree.

9 At that meeting was there an agreement reached 9 Q. Right.

10 at least preliminarily on behalf of Blueware that you 10 A.  And by the response and by the information she
11 would get or that Blueware would get a scanning contract 11 gave me back, 1 know that she'd already spoken to him.
12 and in exchange there would be money kicked back to help 12 Q. Okay. When you were at the meeting at

13 fund Mitch Needelman's campaign? 13 Needelman's house, did you -- was it very obvious that
14 A. At that meeting -- 14 they were proposing a deal --

15 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form. 15 A, It's like --

16 A. At that meeting there was an understanding that 16 Q. - with kickbacks?

17 there was an offer on the table from Dupree and Needelman| 17 A. It was like something out of the Sopranos. Do
18 for us to be able to pay money to win the contract for me 18 know what I mean? Yeah, it was obvious.

19 10 go back and speak to Rose. 19 Q. Yeah. They were pretty blatant about it?

20 BY MR. RUSSELL: 20 A. Yeah

21 Q. Okay. 21 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form.

22 A. And if we did pay it, then we would win the 22 BY MR. RUSSELL:

23 scanning contract, 23 Q. Okay. Now I apologize for holding you off on
24 Q. Okay. And did you go back and speak to Rose? 24 it a couple of times, but you started to talk about being
25 A. Oh, yeah. 25 asked to look at a problem at the clerk’s IT department.

19 (Pages 73 to 76)

King Reporting and Video Conference Center

32 - VAR B NI B DESERAES T T 11T - COM g5 9013-0A-033457-X00KXX




Page 77 Page 79
1 Go ahead and tell us about that now. 1 you know, and there were two obvious changes. One,
2 A. T'wasn't telling you about that actually, but 2 either hire a new clerk or get rid of all the people
3 the next thing that happened was Matt said that Mitch 3 because never the two are going to meet. So we give a
4 needed to come up with some money for a mailing he was 4 presentation saying, you know, you're not scanning
5 doing. 5 anywhere near enough efficiently, you're not doing that
6 Q. Okay. 6 and he didn't need us to tell him that.
7 A. And it was for some cards that stop you having 7 So Matt came out and he said I want you to
8 to pay money to enter the election. Bear in mind I'm 8 write me an invoice for two days consultancy. I said
9 from England, so I don't understand exactly what that is. 9 you're joking, we only went yesterday afternoon and we
10 I think to get on the ballot you have to have so many 10 just went to lunch and you just bought us lunch. And he
11 cards. 11 said I want you to write it for ten grand and I want you
12 Q. Signatures? 12 to mail it straight back to us.
13 A. Yeah, cards with signatures, yes. And they 13 So we write an invoice. We couldn't write it
14 were running that. So they needed some money. So we 14 on Blueware because we couldn't at that point because the
15 said, well, you know, maybe we could help with the price| 15 incentives hadn't come through, we couldn't do it on
16 to mail. We thought it was mailing. 16 Blueware because if we did it on Blueware, we would be
17 Q. Isee. 17 doing business in Florida. So Rose had BlueGem as a Baby
18 A. Buthe -- so he -- Elaine and I went back and 18 Blue that did no business, it was a dormant company that
19 looked around the scanning, Elaine Sladek, this is a new 19 hadn't done anything.
20 one for you, went around to the scanning department and 20 Q. Michigan based?
21 we met Mitch for hunch at a golf club in Titusville or 21 A. Yeah. And decided to -- decided to do it on
22 near Titusville after we walked around there and there 22 that. But when we went to do it, there was no -- there
23 was Mitch there, McDaniel, Renee McGrory, Merrily 23 was no logo, no paperwork, there had been no -- nothing.
24 Longacre, Mark Cook, and the first time that I met Mark 24 So Deena, our finance lady, had to mock an invoice up to
25 Gager. Basically we went around and said -- we went 25 do that. So we submitted an invoice for 10,000, Mike
Page 78 Page 80
1 around to Titusville, Viera, we went around to all the 1 McDanjel signed it as per Mitch, Mitch signed it off, it
2 scanning sites and looked at the scanning sites. And the 2 came over the next day to the Blueware account.
3 scanning people weren't very efficient. Now they weren't 3 And then we told Sue Smith, not the attorney
4 very efficient because [ think they were on a go slow so. 4 Sue Smith, this is another Sue Smith who is the accounts
5 Q. What do you mean by they were on a go slow? 5 lady at Blueware to send it back to Dupree.
6 A. They obviously knew what they were doing from 4 6 She thought we meant the 5,000, his monthly
7 skill point of view, but they weren't doing a lot. So, 7 payment. So she sent five grand. So he found it and
8 in other words, they were disgruntled employees who 8 said I only got five of the ten back. So then we told
9 weren't really working to do anything while Mitch was in 9 her to send the other 5,000. So the next day the other
10 office. 10 5,000 went.
11 Q. And you're talking about the aforementioned 11 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 2 was Marked for
12 Witches of Eastwick? 12 Identification.)
13 A. Well, they were involved, but there were lots 13 BY MR. RUSSELL:
14 of people in the departments that were scanning at sucha | 14 Q. Let me show you a composite, it's actually two
15 rate that, you know, my two year old could have done it. 15 documents that we've put together and marked Plaintiff's
16 Q. And these were clerk's office employees? 16 Exhibit 2 for identification. Do you recognize that top
17 A. Yeah. So they were basically fight, you know, 17 page first?
18 to be -- to be blunt, some of them were Source 2 18 A. Yeah.
19 employees that were pissed off that lost their health 19 Q. Is that the invoice that you're talking about?
20 care and their thing. There were people in there that 20 A. Yeah.
21 didn't like Needelman because of the way he had fired 21 Q. Okay. Can you also confirm those signatures
22 some of their colleagues, they didn't like the changes 22 that we're looking at, the handwritten signatures?
23 going on in there, so they did the bare minimum to go to 23 A. Yeah
24 work. 24 Q. Who is the top one?
25 So he asked us to come up with some changes, 25 A. Needelman.
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1 Q. Okay. And who is the bottom one? 1 had?
2 A. Tdon't know. 2 A. Yeah.
3 Q. Okay. Does that say okay to pay above it? 3 Q. And when money went into BlueGem's account, did
4 A, Yeah 4 it stay there?
5 Q. Okay. 5 A. No, it got transferred out.
6 A. Actually it might be Mike's signature. 6 Q. To Blueware?
7 Q. Mike McDaniel? 7 A. Yeah.
8 A. Yeah. 8 Q. Always?
9 Q. Okay. You've mentioned, before I get too far 9 A. Ifit wasn't needed, it would maybe sit there.
10 afield, Mark Gager? 10 But if it was needed for payroll, which it always was,
11 A. Gager. 11 you know. One of -- one of my major roles was that you
12 Q. Gager. Who is that? 12 were paid on the 15th. If [ was on the 16th, T was
13 A. He was a deputy clerk that I first been 13 looking for the 30th's payroll.
14 introduced to, he spent most of his time at Viera, [ 14 Q. Were -- let me ask it a different way. Did
15 never really come across him before. 15 Rose Harr comingle the liquid assets or any other assets
16 Q. Okay. What about Mark Cook? 16 of BlueGem and Blueware?
17 A. Mark Cook was an atforney, but I didn't quite 17 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form.
18 understand at that point where he sat. He did some work| 18 A. BlueGem apart from words and up until the
19 for the clerk. 19 scanning contract didn't have any contracts, it was
20 Q. Okay. 20 purely to do this.
21 A. It later became very apparent what he did. 21 BY MR. RUSSELL:
22 Q. And you mentioned Mary or Merrily Longacre? 22 Q. Juston paper?
23 A. Yes, she was the on staff attorney for the 23 A. Yeah.
24 clerk's office. 24 Q. Did it have any assets of any kind?
25 Q. And Deena with Blueware, how do you spell her | 25 A. No. She moved some software over later which
Page 82 Page 84
1 name? 1 she tried to move -- she tried to put 1.5 million dollars
2 A. D-E-E-N-A. 2 of software as an asset info each of the Baby Blues to
3 Q. And what's her last name? 3 give it some ~-
4 A. Brigham. 4 Q. Legitimacy?
5 Q. And she's the one who created this invoice 5 A. Yeah, because she believed that she was going
6 we're looking at? 6 to try to sell it to the Baby Blues.
7 A. Yeah. 7 "~ MR.BERNBAUM: Object to the form {o the extent
8 Q. And if you look at the second page, that's a 8 that was a question.
9 SunTrust wire transfer form; right? 9 THE WITNESS: What's that?
10 A. Yeah. 10 MR. RUSSELL: Mr. Russell's question.
11 Q. Or like a receipt. And that indicates that 11 BY MR. RUSSELL:
12 $10,000 being wired from the clerk's account to Blueware;| 12 Q. When you said to give it and I suggested
13 right? 13 legitimacy, was that the word you were looking for?
14 A. Yeah. 14 MR. BERNBAUM: Same objection, form.
15 Q. Or, I'm sorry, to BhieGem? 15 A. Tdon't think -- I think more to the point that
16 A. Ifyou look, there should be five grand the day 16 she wanted to give the companies some worth.
17 before and then the 10,000 was his monthly payment plus 17 BY MR. RUSSELL:
18 five grand. So if you look, there should be another one. 18 Q. Okay.
19 Q. AndIdon't doubt that there is, I don't think 19 A. And she could do that by giving her software to
20 I have that. But I was going to ask here it shows 20 each of those companies.
21 beneficiary BlueGem. Did BlueGem have its own bank 21 Q. Okay.
22 account at that time? 22 A. And then it gave each the companies in their
23 A. We opened it the week before at First Bank in 23 opinion a value. Whether a bunch of capitalists would
24 Cadillac or the day before. 24 see that is a different matter, but in her mind that's
25 Q. Was that the first bank account that BlueGem 25 what she did.
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1 Q. Okay. Did each of the Baby Blues get different 1 systems, you could just plug in our software as long as
2 intellectual property? 2 you bought some more space and blades and memory and make
3 A. No. 3 it more affordable to the hospitals. Great idea, great
4 Q. Orwere they all getting an ownership interest 4 concept.
5 in some intellectual property? 5 But the mammoth task, IBM looked at rewriting
6 A. The same. 6 it for Blueware and they quoted in the region of three to
7 MR, BERNBAUM: Object to the form. 7 four million dollars to do it. And then they couldn't.
8 BY MR. RUSSELL: 8 Q. To rewrite Best Bond?
° Q. Okay. So it was one piece of software? 9 A. To rewrite Wellness Connection into Best Bond.
10 A. Yeah, it was Best Bond that never worked. So 10 Q. Are you saying wowness connection?
11 it wasn't worth anything. 11 A. Wellness,
12 Q. What was Best Bond? 12 Q. Wellness, I'm sorry.
13 A. Best Bond was an application developed from the | 13 A, Wellness Connection into Best Bond. IBM - so
14 Wellness Connection, which was a version four of an 14 Rose decided that she was going to write it on her own.
15 electronic document management system that was used at| 15 First we brought in 20 inside programmers, but there was
16 Portsmouth and other hospitals and it worked well in the 16 no leadership, no level design document, nobody had done
17 90s and 2000. 17 it before and they were gefting no where fast treading
18 Q. Portsmouth in England? 18 water. It was just hemorrhaging money every month with
19 A. Yeah. And it was proprietary to a -- and I'm 19 no real progress within.
20 not technical, but I learned this parrot speak because 20 Q. Soto kind of cut to the chase, Best Bond never
21 I've sold it for years, it was proprietary fo an 21 did become a comunercially viable product; is that
22 operating system called the I series or system I for IBM 22 correct?
23 which you needed to use a language called RPG to be able] 23 A. No. And I think I have a letter to my attorney
24 to operate it. 24 in that -- in December of 2012 saying that Best Bond
25 Now the I series operating system was extremely 25 never was finished.
Page 86 Page 88
1 expensive as a server and the maintenance around it was 1 Q. Okay. Did anyone ever purchase Best Bond evern
2 astronomical, So you got cottage hospitals with 2 though it wasn't finished? Were you able to sell it at
3 expensive licensing from IBM couldn't afford to run our 3 any point in time?
4 software. Qur software was less than the server and the 4 A. No, what we did was we went out and sold the
5 IBM licensing. 5 concept. Well, we sold the concept as from a sales
6 So to actually -- you would sell a piece of 6 perspective. And we got quite a way down the sales
7 software and then for them to run it, it would cost them 7 route, but without a reference site, hospitals with
8 another million bucks. All right. So it was very 8 critical care 24 by seven up time wouldn't purchase. So
2 essential that she got off of that as well as she had 8 we had no alpha site, no beta site.
10 meaningful use. So she started to write a cross platform 10 So we would go reasonably from a concept
11 version of the Wellness Connection she called Best Bond. 11 environment like a boardroom here showing in a pseudo
12 She tried to use it, write it from the Wellness 12 demo form on a wall, but the nitty gritty tech guys in
13 Connection but the Wellness Connection was home builtby | 13 the hospital really wanted to see it working in a
14 Chuck and George. George, who was no longer with the 14 hospital and it never did.
15 company, and he didn't document the code, so he didn't 15 Q. Okay. What about digital pen?
16 line the eye on the code. When you write code, you write 16 A. Digital pen is a technology that's been around
17 the code and then you write a line under it in real 17 a very, very long time, but a company in Switzerland
18 language saying what you've written and what you've done. 18 called Anoto, don't know, developed it where it has a
19 George didn't do that. So there was all this code and 19 unique dot pattern that you can print yourself. So you
20 there was no meaning behind . 20 can just write normally on a piece of paper where before
21 So Rose tried to rewrite a piece of software, a 21 it was really expensive, you had to buy a pad of paper
22 cross platform that would run on what you would have at 22 and it wasn't great. And they had the technology to turn
23 home, an Intel processer or HP-Unix or something like 23 the handwriting into text.
24 that, so she could sell it, anybody would buy it. So if 24 Q. Okay.
25 the hospital was running HP-Unix for all their other 25 A. So the doctors, it could learn the doctor's
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1 handwriting and then turn it into text. Doctor's 1 wasn't specific enough.
2 handwriting across the world is known to be terrible, so 2 Travel expenses, under the clerk's rules,
3 for this deal it was a breakthrough. And we partnered 3 thanks for showing me this, I remember now, under the
4 with a company in England, they were initially called 4 clerk’s rules you have to do a per diem rather than
5 Paper IQ when they just did the paper. But when they 5 actual expenses and Sue had included the air fares for
6 started to do the forms. 6 Elaine going down and different things and wasn't allowed
7 So basically you take this invoice, they could 7 to do so.
8 build this invoice, the nurse in the hospital could print 8 Q. Instead of per diem?
9 it off with the dot pattern underneath it, she could fill 9 A. Yeah, that's right. So basically Mike couldn't
10 it out like normally and it took all the scanning process 10 sign off of this one because of the travel expenses on
11 away. You put it back in and it knew exactly which one 11 it,
12 to follow by the unique dot pattern where to go. 12 Q. So this is an amended invoice?
13 Blueware never owned it. 13 A. So Deena did that one and then Sue sent this
14 Q. Blueware never owned digital pen? 14 one. Whether she did it or not, I don't know. Yeah, I
15 A. No, they parinered with a company that did it. 15 think she did.
16 Q. Okay. 16 Q. Okay.
17 A. We had it in - we had it in the proposal for 17 A. And if you look, it's the same invoice number.
18 the scanning contract because we knew that would 18 Q. Right. And thank you for clarifying, That
10 differentiate ourselves from any other competitor in the 19 makes sense now.
20 ITN. 20 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 4 was Marked for
21 Q. Okay. 21 Identification.)
22 A. So we had the clerk’s office put it into the 22 BY MR. RUSSELL:
23 ITN knowing that nobody else could do it. 23 Q. I'm going to show you a document now that we're
24 Q. Let me take you back to Exhibit 2, the BlueGem 24 marking Exhibit 4 for identification which purports to be
25 invoice and the wire transfer documentation. Did you say} 25 an IT consultancy for Brevard County Clerk of the Courts.
Page 90 Page 92
1 that even though it came in two payments, the entire 1 Do you recognize that, sir?
2 10,000 was given back to Matt Dupree? 2 A, Yeah
3 A, Yeah 3 Q. Okay. What was this document for?
4 Q. Was it sent to Eligere Strategies? 4 A. This was for -- there were a number of avenues
5 A. Tdon't know. 5 that the Clerk of Court were going down with with
6 Q. Okay. 6 Blueware. The first one was to the scanning contract and
7 A. It was sent to the same bank account every 7 the second one was to come in and take over the IT
8 time. 8 department and that was going to be BlueGem or Blueware.
9 Q. Okay. And your understanding this was funds 2 And the reason this was done in Roseware was that they
10 that was going to be used for? 10 didn't want Blueware to do the consultancy and the audit
11 A. A mailing. 1l and then bid for the major contract. So they did it in
12 Q. Needelman's campaign? 12 Roseware's name.
13 A. Yeah. 13 Q. Isee
14 Q. A mailing or something like that. 14 A. Soitdidn't -~ it didn't exempt them from
15 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 3 was Marked for 15 being able to do the audit and then bid the major
16 Identification.) 16 contract.
17 BY MR. RUSSELL: 17 Before I open this, if you open it you'll find
18 Q. ILetme show you a separate invoice as soon as I 18 initials and changes on this contract where Mark Cook
19 get it marked. Okay. And there's an e-mail kind of 19 signed and changed things. There we go.
20 coversheet attached to that. Tell us if you recognize 20 Q. Isthat in part of the standard terms and
21 that invoice which we've marked Exhibit 3 for 21 conditions there?
22 identification. 22 A. Understand -- under Florida law I think there
23 A. Letme go back. We had to change it, it wasn't 23 was some approval where we were offering one million and
24 specific enough. I think from what I remember there was| 24 he wanted two, under Florida statute it had to be two. I
25 something wrong in the wording in the first one, that 25 think there's another change further on, maybe not.
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1 This was done on a Friday afiernoon at the 1 A. Yeah,
2 clerk's office in a meeting there was myself, Rose, a 2 Q. Let's go back, I just wanted to get that before
3 lady called Londa, not Linda, Londa Rose, 1.-O-N-D-A, 3 we get too far away from it. And actually you leave that
4 Rose, who was a Blueware employee, had just started that 4 in your stuff. Okay.
5 day. Myself, Rose, Londa Rose, Mark Cook, Mike McDaniel, 5 So do I understand you correctly that your
6 Renee McGrory, Mitch Needelman. It was a Friday 6 testimony was with regard to the IT consultancy contract,
7 afternoon I think you'll find the 6th of April is 2012 7 it was going to be 70,000 but the price was increased to
8 cause [ wanted to go home. But she was there. 8 100,000 so that when the clerk paid the 100,000, 30,000
9 And basically this contract was signed 9 would go back to Dupree?
L0 alongside another one. You won't have it, they would 10 A. Yeah.
i1 have destroyed it. And there was this one signed, it was 11 Q. And when we talk about going back to Dupree,
12 called Roseware IT consultancy for Brevard County Clerk 12 was that as Needelman's campaign manager so money was
13 of Courts. And the second one was a cost contaimment 13 actually going back to Needelman's campaign?
14 contract where basically Blueware kept under a Florida 14 A. What they did with it, I don't know. All
15 statute 35 percent of any savings on any contract that 15 right. But it was -- Mitch was aware that the money was
16 the clerk had. So Blueware were to go back and 16 going back. I asked him, I asked him on a number of
17 renegotiate all the clerk's contracts. 17 occasions whether Mitch got all the money and Matt used
18 This is the first time that we really engaged 18 to say to me that he needed to deduct taxes and stuff.
19 with Mark Cook rather than Merrily Longacre. | thought 19 So1justleftit. Allvight. Idon't know. I don't
20 that extremely strange that an outside attorney had been 20 know what propottion of the money ended up in
21 brought in for such a small contract. And he dithered 21 Needelman's -- with Mitch Needelman.
22 about it for quite a while. He wasn't what ] call a 22 Q. Okay.
23 slick atforney in any way. 23 A. Ifany on some of them, I don't know.
24 Q. And this is if you turn to schedule B at page 24 Q. Right.
25 12 of 12, it shows the pricing schedule was $100,000; 25 A. Tknow that the money went back. Iknow that
Page 94 Page 86
1 right? 1 on the mailing one Mitch mentioned it and thanks for
2 A. It was 70 grand, but Dupree wanted 30. So we 2 sending it back. And I know on this one because Dupree
3 opted to 100 and he got 30,000 straight back to him when 3 wasn't present when the contract was done. The others
4 this was done. That was authorized on a Friday afternoon 4 don't know how much of the 90,000 was or the other money
5 and it was there in ten minutes. 5 that was sent, T don't know.
6 Q. And I'm going to come right back to that, but 6 Q. Okay. If you look at page ten of 12 on the
7 just found another document where you were explaining the 7 consultancy contract, that schedule A called services,
8 {ransition from the invoice we marked Exhibit 2 to the 8 A. Yep.
2 invoice we marked Exhibit 3. And I'll let opposing 9 Q. Who put together this schedule A, the list of
10 counsel take a look at that first. Butin a moment [ 10 services to be provided?
11 want to show you an e-mail and see if that's related to 11 A. Rose and Matt Raab.
i2 the revision of the invoice. 12 Q. And what is Matt Raab's position?
13 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 5 was Marked for 13 A. Matt Raab was the vice president of
14 Identification.) 14 professional services.
15 MR. RUSSELL: Here you go. 15 Q. For Blueware?
16 MR. BERNBAUM: It's okay -- that's one you 16 A. Yeah. This would be in his agreement for
17 don't have extra copies of? 17 Blueware.
18 MR. RUSSELL: Right, I don't. 18 Q. Had Blueware ever provided services of this
18 MR. BERNBAUM: But you marked it as five? 19 kind to anyone?
20 MR. RUSSELL: Right. 20 A. Not to my knowledge in the time that I've been
21 A, Yes, 21 there.
22 BY MR. RUSSELL: 22 Q. And when I say Blueware, I'm including all the
23 Q. It's Exhibit 5 by the way? 23 Baby Blues as well.
24 A, Yes. 24 A. Blueware in its full entire -- entirety had
25 Q. That's it? 25 never performed anything like this.
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1 Q. Do you know whether Needelman and Dupree were 1 department.
2 advised of the fact that Blueware did not necessarily 2 But the scanning contract, the simplist way to
3 have this expertise to offer these services? 3 do it is the shit hit the fan when it got public and she
4 A. Blueware had the expertise to provide the 4 pulled back from doing it. So there was a presentation
5 services. 5 on most of these on how she would change things, how
6 Q. Itdid? 6 things needed to change and stuff like that, but it was
7 A. Yeah. They're a software shop with service and 7 watered down dramatically. And I think the clerk of thd
8 they install software and service and integrate into IT 8 court have a presentation which answers most of these,
9 departments all the time and they do it. So they -- Matt 9 you know, wishy washy kind of way.
10 Raab was more than capable of doing that. 10 Q. Okay.
11 Q. Okay. 11 A. So alot of this work, a lot of this work was
12 A. The people they sent to do it, didn't. 12 sort of done, but they used spyware off the internet to
13 Q. Who did they send to do it? 13 check the stuff. It was done in a very, very poor mannei
14 A. They sent David Welliver, who is Rose's son, 14 by an 18 year old. Idon't think for one minute they
15 and an 18-year-old called Eric Love with other bits and 15 reduced the IT cost.
16 pieces. 16 The streaming of the supply chain, they didn't
17 Now they didn't have -- they didn't have the -- 17 even get into that. They wanted to go IBM, which was
18 they didn't have the ability to do it. Now the reason 18 more expensive, I didn't understand that.
19 that they were sent was because if you look at the 19 Q. What about reducing energy cost?
20 schedule for 70 grand, $1,000 a day, which is what an IT 20 A. That is just vapor, it's a filler, you know.
2 consultant would earn, right, this 70 days, it takes 21 Q. Okay.
22 longer than 70 days to do this work. Right. So she was 22 A. She had services and mission support
23 out from the minute that she started. 23 activities, that's just gump.
24 So she sent David and Eric and a couple of 24 THE COURT REPORTER: Just what?
25 others, Elaine for a little bit, who was more of a 25 THE WITNESS: Gump, rubbish, trash.
Page 98 Page 100
1 programmer from IT specialist, she could do it, but it 1 A. The takeoff of the project never -- it didn't
2 wasn't her -- she had the ability to do it. Could she 2 happen in the way it should have done. Analogous of like
3 actually complete the contract? Probably not with her 3 thinking that is just you can get people in a room and
4 skills. Rose committed to do a lot of interviews and 4 tell them whatever, you know. They were never going to
5 stuff and then went to England. 5 be like thinking because they didn't like them any way by
6 Q. So without conducting the interviews? 6 this point. Roseware and Blueware were, you know, as
7 A. Yeah. And then it was really strange, the 7 popular as Matt Dupree at this point. So this was never
8 minute that we wanted to come in and do this, Mitch then 8 going to happen.
9 stopped us because he thought it would raise too many red 8 So a lot of this, you know, a lot of this
10 flags. So we raised the 100,000 and then were only 10 didn't happen for his circumstance rather than thinking.
11 allowed to do half of the scope because he didn't want to 11 And Matt Dupree and Needelman stopped some of the
12 raise the flags in the IT department and with the 12 activities from being completed because of the political
13 campaign coming forward. 13 fallout of him doing that.
14 Q. Did Blueware employees or Blue -- I should say 14 BY MR. RUSSELL:
15 Roseware representatives, regardless of who they may havd 15 Q. At the beginning before this contract was
16 been employed by, did Roseware representatives complete | 16 signed, was there discussion with Dupree or Needelman or|
17 any of the objectives outlined in the contract? 17 their agents to the effect that we really need to hire
18 A. Yes. 18 somebody to give us IT consulting or was the discussion
19 Q. Okay. Which ones? 19 more like we need some more money in the Needelman
20 A. What she did was she came up with a 20 campaign and we need a good reason to move some money
21 presentation that was done at some hotel which told you 21 around?
22 the way -- told the way that things that were going to be 22 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form.
23 done. What was going to happen initially at that -- at 23 A. I'mleaming. Iknow what that was, [ knew you
24 that meeting was these people were going to be told that 24 were going to do like that. Neither, neither. The end
25 Blueware were going to come in and take over the IT 25 goal was for Blueware to take over the IT department.
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Page 101 Page 103
i BY MR. RUSSELL: 1 Q. Did he tell you --
2 Q. Okay. 2 A. While it was under investigation,
3 A, So there needed to be justifications in doing 3 Q. Sorry, I didn't mean to interrupt you. Did
4 that. They weren't getting any feedback from within. 4 Mr, Needelman tell you his purpose behind reporting a
5 They were -- Mitch was getling frustrated by what he 5 suspected infiltration to FDLE?
6 called leaks because he was paranoid around Matt and I 6 A. Hetold us to go and find a possible, any
7 would infiltrate his system. He -- and the first time I 7 possible infiltration so he could stop it being public
8 come across this the name Matt Ni was Needelman said that 8 record.
9 he had sold some software or firewall or something to the 9 Q. So he felt that if he reported something like
10 previous Clerk of Court, which is now the present Clerk 10 that to FDLE, that the IT consultancy contract and the
11 of the Court, and he had a ways into the system. So 11 cost containment contract --
12 that's why spyware was put on. 12 A. Would stay covered.
13 Q. Sohe thought that Scott Ellis was hacking into 13 Q. Would not be public record?
14 the system? 14 A. Yeah. I'm not so sure --
15 A. Uh-huh, 15 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to form.
16 Q. And what -- do you know what made him think 16 A. T'mnot so sure that he stopped the cost
17 that? 1 mean did he share with you what made him think 17 containment one going out. I'm not so sure that he did
18 that? 18 that.
19 A. He said Matt is a box of frogs, so nobody 19 BY MR. RUSSELL:
20 knows. 20 Q. But he felt -- did he express to you --
21 Q. You talking about Mr. Needelman? 21 A. There was no money involved in the cost
22 A. Yeah. You know, he was paranoid. He had his 22 containment, it was savings. So there was no real harm
23 house swept for bugs. You know, it was like something 23 in Needelman sending that out because he wasn't spending
24 out of Criminal Intent. 24 any money.
25 Q. TFor bugs, you mean like listening, electronic? 25 Q. But -- and I just want to be clear about what
Page 102 Page 104
1 A. Yeah, I don't mean mosquitoes. Imean 1 Mr. Needelman expressed to you. Was it his understanding
2 listening devices, yeah, And any time a system blipped 2 that the IT consultancy contract would become exempt from
3 or they couldn't find a port that had been opened. He 3 public record disclosure?
4 used it very cleverly to his game because what he did was 4 A. Yeah, he thought his two attorneys were there
5 he signed this and then he had an instant regret that he 5 at the same time.
6 had signed it because it got signed and then somebody 6 THE COURT REPORTER: I'm sorry?
7 instantly asked for a public records request. 7 THE WITNESS: His two attoreys were there at
8 Q. When you say it got signed, you're talking 8 the same time, Cook and Longacre.
9 about the IT consultancy contract? 9 BY MR. RUSSELL:
10 A. Yeab, it got signed and the cost containment. 10 Q. Let me ask you quickly about the standard terms
11 And he had an instant regret for signing it. So what he 11 and conditions for IT services beginning at page two of
12 did was he was going to the FDLE saying somebody 12 12. Where do these come from?
13 infiltrated his system around this contract. So that 13 A. They are standards that were used in the
14 enabled him to keep it from being public record in 14 medical profession in Blueware in Michigan,
15 Florida. 15 Q. Okay.
16 Q. When you say FDLE, you mean the Florida 16 A. And that's why there's changes in the thing
17 Department of Law Enforcement? 17 because it didn't fit Florida. There were a few changes
18 A. Yeah. 18 made. Sue Smith was on the phone, not the attorney, Sue
19 Q. Okay. 19 Smith the accounts manager, because Deena was not at
20 A. So he did that. 20 work, was on the phone in Michigan making changes that
21 Q. So he reported an infiltration? 21 Cook and Needelman and McDaniel wanted to this. One was
22 A. Yes. 22 around the insurance and bond. There was a number of
23 Q. To FDLE? 23 different things that needed to be changed and they were
24 A. A suspected infiltration. And that was enough 24 changed. But for the most part this would be a standard
25 to stop this from becoming public record. 25 health care contract for Blueware.
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Page 105 Page 107
1 Q. Okay. Did Blueware ever do any government work 1 he was going to get the money out initially for the
2 like for a Clerk of Court for example? 2 scanning confracts was a monthly payment. And there was
3 A. Not that I know of. 3 separate revepue streams, some of it was I'T fund and
4 Q. Okay. 4 there was another fund and there was a staffing fund and
5 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 6 was Marked for 5 there was an operational fund. Some of them were in
6 Identification.) 6 surplus and he was moving money into one fund to keep it
7 BY MR. RUSSELL: 7 away from the county or the state getting it back., This
8 Q. Mr. Geaney, I'm now going to show you an 8 1s what he fold -- told us.
9 invorce number 040412-1 which we've marked Exhibit 6 for 9 And he could build a nest egg of about a
10 identification. Do you recognize that invoice? 10 million in the first year to do that. So he was going
11 A. Yeah. 11 move money from the operating budget and move it into the
12 Q. What is that? 12 IT, but he wasn't supposed to be able -- he told us he
13 A. It's the full amount for the Roseware contract. 13 wasn't supposed to spend it on anything except for what
14 It's really strange because normally Blueware would do a 14 each channel was defined, but he -- he was going to move
15 third, a third and a third. Occasionally we would do 15 it so the state didn't take it back. And he would have
16 50 percent, 50 percent. So we would do 50 percent on 16 about a million in the first year.
17 contract signing, 25 percent milestone and 25 percent at 17 Then he asked Mr. Daniel and myself fo come up
i8 sign off, but these are all paid on before the services 18 with a schedule of how many staff we would need -- he
19 start. 19 would need to get rid of as the payments grew. So when
20 Q. Is that true across the board with services 20 Blueware took over Viera scanning, it would only need one
21 provided to the clerk? 21 person in there, there would be three gone. The savior
22 A. Yeah. 22 of the Kodak scanner that was in there, the large scanner
23 Q. The former clerk I should say. 23 that was in, plus four or five little ones and Mr. Daniel
24 A. Yeal, the initial -- well, the initial scanning 24 had to add in the health care and the -- all the benefits
25 contract because the clerk -- the big contract, because 25 an employee would have got.
Page 106 Page 108
1 the clerk was not -- I mean I was -- I was aware that the 1 And then creating space at Viera, apparently
2 clerk couldn't borrow money as a government entity. So 2 Viera space and this is what was told, the Viera
3 we knew that the eight million would have to be spread 3 courthouse space is of a premium and for us -- and then
4 across 60 payments and they were done on monthlies and 4 the cost of making available the space in Viera per
5 basically they were done on the amount of staff that 5 square foot per year. So he was looking to justify the
6 Needelman could get rid of. It got bigger -- the more 6 monthly payments.
7 staff that Needelman got rid of, the more the monthly 7 So at no point while I was negotiating did --
8 payment rose. 8 did Mitch ever talk about doing it as one off payment.
9 Q. When you say you were aware that the clerk 9 It was talked about in the early days, but we put what
10 could not borrow money, what made you form that belief 10 English call the kibosh on it, the stop on it because
11 A. Because Needelman and Dupree told us. 11 under leasing in IT, at least 50 percent needs to come
12 Q. When did they tell you that? 12 from software, software or equipment. And now there was
13 A. Back straight away when we were doing the large | 13 no way that Blueware was going to spend four million
14 contract that he couldn't do big capital payments. It 14 dollars on software or equipment for that,
15 have to come out of the operating budget because he 15 So Rose asked me in the early stages and I just
16 couldn't borrow money. That he had 13 million dollars a 16 said I don't think that's going to work. But I think -~
17 year and it was capped and that was all he was allowed to] 17 Iknow that she retried as I was leaving to get IBM
i8 spend and he could take it over five years. 18 involved, but they're really risk adverse. The Big Blue
19 Q. And you mentioned that's what Needelman told 19 is not as big as it is because it takes gambles.
20 you and Dupree was there. Do you recall clerks attorneys{ 20 So when I left, there was 60 monthly payments
21 at that time, Ms. Longacre, Mr. Cook? 21 starting off at about a hundred -~ 80 to $100,000 and I
22 A. No, I don't remember. 22 think the last summary would be the last payment would b
23 Q. Okay. Not part of the conversation. If you 23 165. And then with the two year extension built in if
24 look at -- I'm sorry, go ahead. 24 Blueware wanted it.
25 A. So the way it worked, there was -- the way that 25 Q. When you say the Big Blue, you mean Blueware,
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1 Inc.? 1 there within ten minutes. And on the Monday -- and on
2 A, 1IBM. 2 the Monday 30,000 went back.
3 Q. Ohb, okay. 3 Q. That was going to be my next question. Did the
4 A. IBM they call it the big blue. 4 30,000 go back to Dupree as agreed?
5 Q. Okay. 1did the know that. 5 A, Yes.
6 A. Blueware raises from IBM. 6 Q. Okay. You said you didn't know whether or how
7 Q. Right. 7 that money was spent?
8 A. So Blue is she basically tagged on. 8 A. No.
9 Q. Got you. 9 Q. Okay.
10 A. Blueware to IBM. 10 A. He might have bought a Harley Davidson for all
11 Q. Okay. 11 I know. Iknow he bought one when I was down here. You
12 A. A lotof people thought that IBM owned Blueware] 12 never know. I don't know.
13 because everything run on system [ and it was an IBM 13 Q. Do you know if -- I think your testimony
14 shop. 14 earlier was that Needelman suggested reporting a
15 Q. Which was probably intentional. 15 suspected incursion to FDLE. Do you know if that
16 A. Yeah. 16 actually happened, if he actually made such a report?
17 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form. 17 A. Yeah, I think he did.
18 BY MR. RUSSELL: 18 Q. Okay. Is there anything else of signiﬁcancé
19 Q. Was it infentional? 19 related to the IT consultancy contract we haven't
20 A. Twould say clever. 20 discussed yet?
21 MR. BERNBAUM: Same objection. 21 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form.
22 A. In 1993 I would say it was clever, but, yes. 22 BY MR. RUSSELL:
23 BY MR. RUSSELL: 23 Q. That you think is significant?
24 Q. Looking back at Exhibit 6, the first page is 24 A. No, no.
25 the invoice we reference for $100,000. You see the date 25 Q. Okay. Roseware, was Roseware like BlueGem,
Page 110 Page 112
1 on that invoice? 1 just one of Rose Harr's Baby Blues that was more or less
2 A. Yeah. 2 dormant in Michigan or did they have an actual corporate
3 Q. April 5,20127 3 operation of some kind?
4 A. Yeah. 4 A. No. There was those three, there was three.
5 Q. Okay. If you look at the second page, is that 5 There was Blueware, Bluelands and Roseware. Blueware and
6 a wire transfer receipt showing payment from the Clerk of] 6 Bluelands were owned by Rose and George, Blueware was
7 Court to Roseware in the amount of $100,0007 7 the medical. Bluelands was where Rose and George put the
8 A. Yeah. What date is that on? 8 property into Bluelands and then rented it back to
9 Q. April 6th, 2012; is that correct? 9 Blueware.
10 A. Yeah, this was -~ this was done before we went 10 Q. Real property you mean?
11 fo the meeting. So the actual contract and the meeting 11 A. Yeah, yeah, the offices. So from the beginning
12 on the 6th. The invoice was predone in Michigan or done| 12 when they first bought the offices at 3060 East West 13th
13 in Michigan and printed off down here. 13 Street in Michigan, that property was in there and then
14 Q. Before you even had a contract? 14 Rose charged five grand a month rent. So it was for tax
15 A. Yeah. So if you look at it, if you look at it, 15 purposes the Blueland initially was put up.
16 that was done on the 6th, the transfer was done on the 16 I got bored when I came over in 2010 and it was
17 6th, and the invoice was done on the 4th. 17 in recession and properties in Cadillac were going for
18 Q. Yeah. Did Rose -- I'm sorry, did Blueware or 18 six and seven, five, six, $7,000 in repossession, so |
19 any of the Baby Blues ever do business with anyone who | 19 started buying them with Bluelands and putting renters in
20 paid as promptly as Mr. Needelman? 20 at 600, 750 pounds -- dollars a month. So I was getting,
21 A. Occasionally I would get a longstanding 21 you know, 25 percent return on every $7,000 house that 1
22 customer to pay me straight away if I needed payroll, but 22 bought and we ended up with about 20. Some were land
23 T would have to call in a favor, a big, big favor. And 23 contracts, some of them were bought. So that's what
24 then they would maybe mail me in a couple of days. That] 24 Bluelands did.
25 was there on the Friday afternoon. That went and was 25 Roseware was Rose's bit of fun. So it was she
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1 put money in there herself and she would make videos and 1 is some sort of a memo [ suppose from Roseware to the

2 it kept it away from George. So George couldn't stop her 2 office of the Clerk of Court that concerns an IT audit

3 spending her money and making videos and stuff like that 3 among other things. Do you recognize that document?

4 because -~ 4 A. Yeah.

5 Q. You mean like music videos? 5 Q. What is this exactly?

6 A. House videos. She wanted to make movies, that 6 A. Matt Dupree came to Rose and says Mitch isn't

7 was her thing. 7 happy, he's not getting enough results from [T audit, he

8 Q. Okay. And that was -- so Roseware's business 8 needs some actions to be able to justify the money. And

9 was? 9 he wanted us to come up with a way to be able to hold the]
10 A. They were the initial three. 10 IT audit in house without it going to public record.
1l Q. Okay. And the Roseware leg of the stool was 11 So Matt got Matt Raab, I think he wrote this,
12 making videos and movies? 12 yeah, Matt Raab wrote this to basically it's one of these
13 A. Yeah, it was Rose's thing. She wanted to write 13 updates. There was weekly updates that Mitch after abou
14 a book. 14 four weeks wanted sent to Renee McGrory. And this was
15 Q. Do you know if she ever -- and she was the sole 15 one basically stating that there was some unauthorized
16 owner of Roseware? 16 attempts to connect directly to the server.
17 A. Yeah. 17 And what it was was there was a lady on the
18 Q. From the beginning? 18 second floor who had talked one of the techs into putting
19 A. Yeah 19 her mobile phone on the system. So when she drove past
20 Q. Okay. And so did Roseware do any kind of IT 20 on Saturday afternoon, right, Spiceworks picked it up as
21 consultancy or? 21 she drove past, all right. And what had happened was the
22 A. Not while I was there. 22 phone had tried to connect as she had drove past in
23 Q. Any kind of IT work at all that you know of? 23 Titusville. She was actually going to a barbecue or a
24 A. No. 24 picnic that Scott was hosting for the campaign or
25 Q. Any kind of technical work? 25 something. There was something going on. And she was

Page 114 Page 116

1 A. No. 1 driving past. So one of the tech people had connected

2 Q. Anything fo do with computers? 2 her phone to the clerk's system and that's what that was.

3 A. No. 3 But he wanted it listed so he could do his complaint.

4 Q. What about HR, any kind of? 4 Q. ToFDLE?

5 A. No. 5 A. Yeah. And 1 can actually remember, her name

6 Q. Management function of any kind? 6 was Misty somebody.

7 A. No. 7 Q. Okay. And this was to justify the report to

8 Q. So do you know why Roseware was chosen as the 8 FDLE; is that correct?

9 entity to enter into the consultancy contract? 9 A. Yeah, as well as other things. He -- Rose had
10 A. Like I said before, if Blueware did it, they 10 promised people on the ground and then she'd flown to
11 would be exempt from taking over the IT department inang 11 England and there was no -- there was no -- he was
12 open bid contract. 12 concerned that he had spent $100,000 or 70, but $§100,000
13 Q. Was there any discussion of reasons not to use 13 to the clerk’s office and he had to justify by having
14 BlueGem? 14 people there and there wasn't enough going on in his
15 A. BlueGem with the scanning contract was eight 15 opinion.
16 million. They just didn't want all their eggs in one 16 And then the other side of it was this lot was
17 basket. 17 saying that people weren't turning up for interviews like
18 Q. Okay. Did Roseware, to your knowledge, ever do| 18 Cindy Rabe and stuff like that, they were off and going
19 any kind of business for which it was reimbursed? 18 to conferences. And there was a guy that they were
20 A. Tt never made a penny in the whole time since 20 really trying to get ahold of in the data center who
21 1993. 21 looked after the data center.
22 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 7 was Marked for 22 And then we put a piece of software on or were
23 Identification.) 23 going to be put a piece of software onto the system which
24 BY MR. RUSSELL: 24 was $147 off the internet, I think we charged ten grand
25 Q. Sir, I'm going to show you now a document that 25 for it and that was to justify within that. Don't know
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1 if you got that invoice. But we didn't send that ten 1 A. They sent $150,000 to Roseware to Citizen's
2 grand back, that stayed at Blueware. 2 Bank to stop her being foreclosed on properties and then
3 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 8 was Marked for 3 they didn't finish the work, They couldn't close out the
4 Identification.) 4 Aptitude contract, they were still trying to do that
5 BY MR. RUSSELL: 5 months later. That's absolutely rubbish. The money was
6 Q. I'mnot sure if we have that or not. But let 6 paid for cost containment not for this.
7 me show you what purports to be an addendum to the IT] 7 Q. Okay. So was there any discussion of why the
8 consulting contract which we're marking Exhibit 8 for 8 money should be made to appear as if it were paid for
9 identification. Do you recognize that document? 9 abnormal incidents?
10 A. That was never done on that date. 10 A. T'd gone. I'd gone.
11 Q. OnMay 1,20127 11 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form.
i2 A. Yes, that's absolutely rubbish, the date has 12 BY MR. RUSSELL:
i3 been changed. 1 was still working for Blueware and the] 13 Q. You had gone?
14 IT contract was still in place. That addendum hasbeen| 14 A. Let me make this really clear. On the 29th of
15 filled in and done later. 15 May, which was the last Friday that I was there, the cost
16 Q. So it was backdated? 16 containment contract was still in place. The 150,000 had
17 A. Yeah. Without any shadow of doubt. I'd 17 been paid the beginning of May, but it was paid to three
i8 collected $150,000 by this point already. 18 invoices, one being Rico, one being Kiss Tracks, and one
19 Q. From the Clerk of Court? 19 being Aptitude.
20 A. Yeah 20 THE COURT REPORTER: Kiss?
21 Q. SobyMay 1 0f 2012, you had already collected | 21 THE WITNESS: Kiss, K-I-S-S, Tracks. This
22 that 1507 22 wasn't in place. This didn't even exist on the 29th
23 A. Yeah. That being collected on May 1. Thiswas| 23 of May. This is coming afterwards.
24 done after I went -- when I left on the -- the 4th of 24 BY MR. RUSSELL:
25 June was my last day, the cost containment contract wasl 25 Q. So both the addendum and the invoice at Exhibit
Page 118 Page 120
1 still in place and this hadn't been signed. 1 9 were both backdated?
2 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 9 was Marked for 2 A. Yeah.
3 Identification.) 3 Q. And then what about the SunTrust wire transfer?
4 BY MR. RUSSELL: 4 A. Was paid again for three invoices for exactly
5 Q. Let me show you something else just to make 5 the same amount.
6 sure you got your dates straight. We'll mark this one 6 Q. Okay. And so they just made this abnormal
7 Exhibit 9 which purports to be an invoice number 999111 7 incidents?
8 in the amount of $150,350 and then a domestic wire 8 A. Yeah,
2 transfer form showing that transfer to Roseware. e Q. Agreement for the same amount that had paid on
10 A. That happened. That wasn't the invoice that 10 those three invoices?
11 was put in. There was three invoices making that amount. 11 A. Yes.
12 That money did go, but not on that invoice. 12 Q. Okay.
13 Q. It was on a different invoice? 13 A. Did they define what the abnormal incidents
14 A. It was on a different invoice and it was for 14 are?
15 three cost containments, One was Kiss Tracks, one was 15 Q. Did you ever hear any discussion of why they
16 Rico and the other one was Aptitude and they all amounted} 1.6 wanted to create this abnormal incidents addendum rather
17 to that amount of money. 17 than just paying under the cost containment contract?
18 Q. 150103507 18 A. They were having trouble with the cost
19 A. Yeah. And that contract is false. That 18 containment contract because if you looked at Kiss
20 addendum may be, but it wasn't done on that day, that's 20 Tracks, there's an argument. Over the five years of the
21 rubbish. 21 contract, you would have saved enough money to justify
22 Q. Okay. Well, let me ask you a few questions 22 that proportion of the 150,000. But the other argument
23 about -- well, starting with the title of Exhibit 8, the 23 would be that if you canceled it after three months, it's
24 addendum to the IT consulting contract. It says for 24 only 35 percent of three months.
25 abnormal incidents. What does that mean? 25 But Rose really needed the $150,000 to stop
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1 herself from being foreclosed and they pulled the note in 1 A. Yeah.
2 at Citizen's Bank because she hadn't made payments and 2 Q. That you were just referring to.
3 things. So she was under real pressure to get me (o get 3 A. Yeah.
4 the 150,000. So she gave me three invoices she gave to 4 Q. Right in the middle you see where it says
5 me, | gave to Mike McDaniel. 5 sender's reference?
6 This isn't -- this isn't -- this isn't that 6 A. Yeah, savings contract.
7 I've seen it happen. I gave Mike McDaniel three invoices 7 Q. Savings contract.
8 for $150,000 and I'll swear under testimony and he paid 8 A. ‘There you go. And actually and Mike McDaniel
9 it, all right, against the three invoices. Thisis a 9 wrote cost savings on it. So if you look at it, it says
10 later edition. 10 cost savings. This has been put in after the fact, a
11 Q. Okay. When you look at referring to Exhibit 8, 11 long time afier the fact.
12 the addendum, page two, schedule A, statement of work 12 MR. RUSSELL: Take a five minute break?
13 reads in full due to unusual findings, further consulting 13 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This is the end of media,
14 services required surrounding abnormal incidents. 14 we're going off the record at 12:36. Back on the
15 Were -~ were there any further consulting services prior 15 record at 12:36, this is the end of media number
16 to May 1 of 20127 16 two, going off the record.
17 A. No. 17 (A lunch break was taken.)
18 Q. Did you ever even hear the term abnormal 18 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're back on the record at
19 incidents used -- 19 1:16 beginning of media number three.
20 A. No. 20 BY MR. RUSSELL:
21 Q. -- while you were there? 21 Q. Okay. Mr. Geaney, we're back from lunch. I
22 A. This-- 22 made a couple of notes during the break and before we
23 Q. Do you know if any portion of the $150,350 was 23 move on with the next document, I want to ask you a few
24 kicked back to Dupree/Needelman? 24 follow-up questions on some things.
25 A. No, she needed every single penny. She was six 25 Do you know who it was who actually spoke to
Page 122 Page 124
1 grand short that she put in of her own money to make the 1 FDLE, whether that was Mitch Needelman himself or someong
2 difference. This has been printed off. Whoever's got 2 else?
3 this has printed this off SunTrust statement, I've seen 3 A. No, I just know the complaint had been made.
4 the original for this. 4 Q. Okay. I think you said at some point earlier
5 Q. And that's page two of Exhibit 9 you're 5 in the deposition that you had been to Mr. Needelman's
6 pointing at? 6 house more than once. And we talked about the initial
7 A. Yeah. I've seen the original for this and I've 7 meeting where you discussed the scanning contract. Can
8 got it in some other court cost and Mike McDaniel in his 8 you tell us about other meetings at Mr. Needleman's
9 own handwriting has written on there cost savings. 9 house?
10 So what I'm saying to you is that in my -- in 10 A. Yeah, I went to two or three of his campaign
11 the stuff that I have or the stuff that I've seen and 11 meetings on a morning afternoon at 2:00. 1 was invited
12 got, right, the original says in Mike McDaniel's 12 along. Tdon't really know why, just to listen.
13 handwriting on this $150,000. So either Mark Haslim has 13 Actually I took my father to one who was over from the
14 got it, all right. Mark Haslim is my attorney. The 14 United Kingdom because he was here, so [ took him to one
15 whole thing. 15 of the meetings.
16 So this has been printed off SunTrust, but the 16 Basically they talked about the revenues that
17 original [ saw -- I've seen it since I've left Blueware 17 they needed. Polling, Dupree owns a polling company or
18 actually says cost savings, which would indicate the 18 part owners of a polling company and they were doing some
19 cost -- savings revenue rather than incidentals and I've 19 point polling of republicans. They talked about Axe the
20 seen it. I'll get Kelly to look this week and get it to 20 Tax.
21 you both, you and the other attorney. 21 Q. What's Axe the Tax?
22 Q. Thank you. Okay. If you will look, we're 22 A. It's an organization I think out of Orlando run
23 talking about Exhibit 9 there; right? 23 by -- whether it's openly or closed run by a guy called
24 A. Yeah. 24 Doug Guetzloe. Now Doug Guetzloe basically wanted --
25 Q. Ifyou look at the SunTrust statement. 25 they wanted Mitch to be high profile. So they came up
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1 with an award for saving tax politician of the year or 1 relations and friends of the people that were in the
2 something like that. And Guetzloe fabricated the award 2 roont.
3 and Needelman through another supplier paid $15,000 to 3 Q. Did you read any of the letters?
4 Guetzloe and some guy called Keith {o come up with this 4 A. No, I didn't have any interest.
5 false award and present it to Mitch Needelman on the 5 Q. Okay. Had you ever met Mr. Ellis by that time?
6 radio. 6 A. No.
7 Q. And you -- you said came up with 15,000 from 7 Q. You said that there was some discussion about
8 another supplier? 8 entering into some sort of a scanning contract with
9 A. Yeah. It was some debt collecting agency they S Osceola County Clerk of Court?
10 were meeting in Orlando. I don't think they were from 10 A, Uh-huh
11 Orlando, but they were meeting from there. They were 11 Q. Where did that go?
12 going to pay this $15,000. 12 A. Tt didn't go anywhere particularly. 1 think
13 Q. And Mitch Needelman discussed this whole 13 the thing with me and my objections to Dupree and
14 scenario with you present? 14 Needelman and the whole thing with Rose came up and they
15 A. No, Dupree told me. 15 were in enough trouble with the scanning contracts here,
16 Q. Okay. 16 that letting me go and then continuing afler me paid the
17 A. And he told me to listen on the radio the next 17 5,000 and me for the public records request, it didn't
18 morning and he was going to meet with the debt collecting 18 got anywhere pretty quick. And Tompkinson lost the
19 people after the radio award and it was made and so he 19 election anyway. He didn't even win the primary.
20 got 15,000 then. Doug Guetzloe was -- we did quite a bit| 20 The other thing that was talked about at the
21 of return thing. He was working for the clerk out of 21 meetings was that -- and [ didn't understand, I've got a
2 neighboring Osceola County which was Blueware's next 22 little bit better, I didn't understand American politics,
23 target with Dupree. 23 so I didn't understand the primary and then the thing in
24 Q. What was Guetzloe doing for Osceola County? 24 November. What they were looking for was a write in
25 A. Sort of lobbyist and doing these things. I met 25 candidate from the democratic party to stand in the
Page 126 Page 128
1 him at a McDonald's on one of the 95 or 75 or some road 1 election so the result didn't happen in the primary, it
2 where a Holiday Inn locally and he offered the same deal 2 happened in November.
3 for Osceola for -- that was going on with Brevard for 3 So they got a friend of Dupree's son and they
4 kickbacks and he wanted it to be -~ he wanted it to -- he 4 were going to give him some money, some college or
5 wanted -- he said talk was cheap but he wanted money. 5 something, I don't know, to stand against the republican
6 So Rose got me to pay him $5,000. She was away 6 candidate so it wasn't settled in the primary. Does that
7 at the time, so she got the money transferred into my 7 make sense? I know you can't answer, But that -- I
8 account, but it didn't get there quick enough because 1 8 think that's what they were working on and [ don't
9 wrote it out of an account here and the check bounced. 9 understand it, we don't do that here in England, we do it
10 Q. Out of your personal account? 10 very differently. So that's what they were working on.
11 A. Yeah. And then I transferred the money on the 11 So it went past the August vote, it went to November.
12 Monday. But that went to Guetzloe for Tompkinson. | 12 Q. Okay.
13 finished working for Blueware on the Monday and they went] 13 A. Because it gave them more time if they didn't
14 to meet Tompkinson on the Thursday afiernoon. 14 lose in August, they would lose in November. It was an
15 So they talked about that at the meetings, the 15 education.
16 Axe the Tax. They were giving letters, complaint letters 16 Q. During any of these meetings at Needelman's
17 and dispersions about Scott Ellis in the room and then 17 house after the initial meeting, were there discussions
18  they - people would take them and give them to family to 18 regarding the consultancy contract, the scanning
19 send them in. 19 contract, or the cost containment contract or was it
2 Q. What do you mean dispersion letter? 20 strictly related to the campaign?
21 A. Saying that he was a crackpot, that he should 21 A, They didn't talk about any of them because
20 have retired and loads of different sort of stuff, 22 there was people outside of the clerk's office that were
23 Q. And to whom were these letters addressed? 23 involved in his campaign.
24 A. They were addressed to different medias, forms 24 Q. Okay. To your knowledge, did anyone else ever
25 of the media. And then they would be sent in by 25 overhear, not at those meetings, but at any time ever
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1 overhear Matt Dupree talking about dummying up these 1 BY MR. RUSSELL:
2 invoices? 2 Q. During the break ! marked another exhibit
3 A. Sorry, I don't -- you have to clear. 3 there, we marked Exhibit 10 and it has a Roseware heading
4 Q. About saying send us an invoice for something 4 and it says cost containment for Brevard County Clerk of
5 and we'll pay it and then you kick the money back to us? 5 Court. Do you recognize that contract, sir?
6 A. There was Rose in those meetings and there were 6 A. Yes.
7 a sales guy called David Egley, he actually told that 7 Q. Is that the cost containment contract that you
8 that happened. Deena was aware on a conference call tha 8 mentioned earlier in your testimony?
9 that's what happened. The same as Sue Smith. I verbally 9 A. Yes.
10 talked to Matt Raab and people in Blueware about it 10 Q. Okay. Whose idea was it to come up with this
11 because it was going into a different domain than we'd 11 cost containment contract?
12 ever gone into before. We'd never sort of done that. 12 A. There's a story behind it. Basically T used to
13 Payments at Blueware didn't happen. 13 make fun out of Mitch and Matt by saying that their
14 Q. Okay. Did Dupree or Needelman ever ask youto | 14 contracts were fat.
15 use your private e-mail or to use their private e-mail in 15 Q. Fat?
16 order to avoid making public records? 16 A. Yeah. And what I meant by that is in the
17 A. Tvery rarely used an e-mail, I didn't do it. 17 private -- in the private sector, the to-ing and fro-ing
18 But I was sent stuff from their private e-mail and they 18 to get down to the financial end of a contract and then
19 told me never to use the clerk and they instructed 19 get a signature was difficult, you know. And you got
20 Blueware in regards to the scanning contract and the 20 accountants on both sides, you know, banging the counter
21 contracts that they were working on not to use the 21 saying, you know, I went ten percent off this, you know,
22 clerk's e-mail. The e-mail address I used to send stuff 22 you're only get 25 percent up front, you know, you get
23 to was Farthlink. 23 25 percent on signing, 50 percent of 50 -- a thing on the
24 Q. And did they tell you why they wanted you to 24 other 25 percent when the Clerk of Courts signed it off,
25 use private e-mail instead of the clerk's e-mail? 25 you know, you're not getting all of it. So I used to
Page 130 Page 132
1 A. Yeah, because everything that went in the 1 make fun of them it was fat.
2 clerk's office was public record, sunshine state which 2 And I said if I was negotiating this contracts,
3 it's not in Michigan. 3 you'd be a lot healthier state than you're in now. So
4 Q. And was this Needelman or Dupree or both who 4 Matt said, hum, when I worked for Lighting Science, we
5 gave you that instruction? 5 pushed a statute through that -- he was a lobbyist for
6 A. Renee McGrory with Needelman and -- with 6 Lighting Science, which is a company here, where Lighting
7 Needelman definitely present. 7 Science was going to replace all the bulbs in Brevard
8 Q. And Renee McGrory, what's her position again? 8 with these LCD or whatever bulbs they come up with whick
9 A. She -- she used to put herself across as the 9 run about ten percent to the thing. And they were going
10 secretary, but she was the power behind Needelman. He 10 to replace them for nothing,
11 didn't write e-mails, she had access to all his e-mails. 11 But within the next five years they got 35
12 She took all his minutes, she held his calendar. She wasl 12 percent of the savings that were going to happen. And
13 basically his right hand and she basically reported on 13 the deal never actually went through, but it got through
14 anything that happened in the office when he wasn't 14 and they had to make the statute change in Tallahassee.
i5 there. She was our go to person initially. 15 So Matt lobbied this with Buckley and it went through.
16 Q. And when she told you to use their private 16 So he said to me I'm sure you can use that statute to
17 e-mails instead of the clerk's e-mail, Mitch Needelman 17 renegotiate all these contracts.
18 was present? 18 So1said, well, I need to look at a couple.
19 A. Yes. 19 They brought me 200 contracts in a big room at the board
20 Q. Okay. And he didn't object? 20 room at the clerk's office. They were just piled high
21 A. Tthink he suggested that she talk to us about 21 with contracts everywhere. And I looked at two or three
22 it. 22 and I said, yeah, we could do this. So they came up with
23 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 10 was Marked for 23 this contract and they put this contract out initially
24 Identification.) 24 because they knew that Scott's team knew that there was a
25 25 contract, a big contract flying around the clerk's office
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1 and they tried to use this contract as the contract that 1 Aptitude got a little bit almost like a bit of a poison
2 they said they were working on to get rid of the other 2 pill in their contract as well. Not quite as open as the
3 ones, 3 one on Blueware, it was very difficult. So it was passed
4 So even though the other ones were being housed 4 to Smith & Associates I think to try and break that and
5 by the FDLE and the scanning one was coming and they were 5 the Kiss Tracks contract.
6 trying to say that this was the big contract that they 6 So what I initially did, 1 identified them, I
7 were working on. 7 identified the potential savings. I tried to speak to
8 Q. Who put together the actual draft? This is a 8 the organizations, didn't get anywhere very quickly and
e Blueware work product; right? 9 they were passed to attorneys. But the money was paid,
10 A. Right, okay. The front page and the last two 10 that 150,000 for them and the work wasn't completed.
11 pages are -- would have been done by Deena and Rose with 11 Q. I'm sorry, when you say the 150,000 was paid
12 a little bit of my input, but the middle pages are just 12 for them, who is them?
13 box standard template terms and conditions. 13 A. Paid for the three contracts that we were
14 Q. The same as we saw on? 14 working on, Aptitude.
15 A. The other ones. 15 Q. Isee.
16 Q. The consultancy contract? 16 A. Kiss Tracks and Rico.
17 A.  And this was signed on the same day as we 17 Q. Even though there were no cost savings
18 signed the IT contract. 18 achieved?
19 Q. Right. 19 A. There was none achieved, they were identified.
20 A. At the same meeting, 20 Q. Okay. So you pointed at three contracts and
21 Q. Right. Okay. Well, this says that the term of 21 said you could have got a better deal?
22 the contract would be for 24 months; right? 22 A. Kiss Tracks was a cloud that had never been
23 A. Yep. 23 used and they were paying 30 grand a month. 30,000 a
24 Q. How long did it last to your knowledge? 24 month times five years.
25 A. Well, I was there on and off for about three or 25 Q. For what that had never been used?
Page 134 Page 136
1 four weeks, but I worked on about four contracts. 1 got 1 A. The cloud based storage. And that was one.
2 quite a bit of way down three of them and Rose needed 2 One was 37 Rico scanners and about 200 -- they had 37
3 money so Mitch paid $150,000, which is going back to thig 3 Rico scanners spread all over the clerk's office, big
4 exhibit here. So that invoice -~ so that payment was for 4 huge ones and then everybody had a scanner on their desk.
5 this contract. That invoice didn't exist, it was three 5 Some of them were only scanning 50 sheets a month, you
6 others. So that money was for this. 6 know, those big industrial scanners. So we identified
7 Q. Okay. The 150, $350? 7 only keeping one in each arca and getting rid of all the
8 A. Yeah. So that money was for that. And then I 8 others. Or the option was to take everybody's scanner
9 don't know where this invoice come from and there's three 9 off their desk except for the essential people and save
10 invoices missing. They're not here anymore. One of them | 10 the paper, the ink and the printers that way. So that
11 was for Kiss Tracks, one of them was for Aptitude and onef 11 was the second one. But they were paying a fortune.
12 of them was for Rico. 12 Sean Campbell had negotiated Rico and then he
i3 Q. Inotice there's no price on the cost 13 got a couple of his own scanner people in there, another
14 containment contract. 14 company. And then there was Aptitude and it was for some
15 A. Well, it's 35 percent of what we saved. 15 work on some platters of some kind, I don't remember what
16 Q. Ofwhat you saved. 16 it was, but they had been done in house and whatever.
17 A. Yeah. So that's why it was harmless to send it 17 And that had been done in house and whatever.
18 out, 18 And then there was a fourth contract, which was
19 Q. Sodid you -- with regard to the Rico and the 19 piddly, but it was through the ATM. We got an extra
20 other two companies that you mentioned, those three 20 quarter per transaction. But there was 28,000
21 invoices, did you successfully renegotiate those 21 transactions a year.
22 contracts so that the clerk's office -- 22 Q. Okay. With regard to -- setting aside that
23 A. No. 23 last one, the other three, am I understanding you
24 Q. --saved money? 24 correctly that you identified contracts that should be
25 A. No. We were part of the way through, but 25 renegotiated or revisited?

Filing 14255963

34 (Pages 133 to 136)

King Reporting and Video Conference Center

321~ 24 RSP COUNTY Vs BLHEGENR R T T 11T - COM (5.5013.CA-033457-XXXX-XX



Filing 14255963

Page 137 Page 139
1 A. Orcanceled. Or canceled. i was usually turned over to legal counsel on the other
2 Q. Or canceled? 2 side?
3 A. Kiss Tracks should have been canceled in my 3 A. Yeah
4 opinion. 4 Q. And then the next one says once a new contract
5 Q. But no action was actually taken on that to 5 or service agreement is negotiated on behalf of Brevard
6 your knowledge? 6 clerk's office and a vendor contract is received for
7 A. There was -- there was negotiations and there 7 review by Roseware and the Brevard clerk's office, a
8 were attempts to cancel them or get out of the contracts. 8 formal acknowledgment of gross savings or cost reductios
9 Was it actually done? No. By the time [ left and the 9 will be submitted to the clerk for review. Did that ever
10 money had been paid, no. 10 happen?
11 Q. Why had the money already been paid? 11 A. Yeah, on the back of an envelope. We
12 A. Because Rose needed it. 12 identified the savings on the back of an envelope, phoned
13 Q. And so she said I need 150,0007 13 Deena, Deena wrote an invoice for the full amount, sent
14 A. Yeah, 14 it the clerk and he paid them,
15 Q. Sohow did the number end up being 150,3507 15 Q. Okay. So no new contracts --
16 A. Because that -- the savings were real. She 16 A. No.
17 needed around -- she needed 156 if you want to be honest 17 Q. --or service maintenance were ever negotiated;
18 about it, all right. She needed around -- she needed 18 right?
19 156,000, We got it to the savings identified, if you'd 19 A. No.
20 canceled Kiss Tracks using the five years of the 20 Q. Much less signed?
21 contract, you canceled Aptitude and you done and changed] 21 A. No. They -- there was about two or 300
22 the Rico contract, it comes to $150,300. So that is 22 contracts that were put on a big boardroom table in the
23 real. They were identified as a saving. But were they 23 clerk's office. One of the ones that we were working on
24 executed? No. 24 was the internet with Time Warner I think it is down
25 Q. Okay. 25 here, but there was five or six I couldn't touch.
Page 138 Page 140
1 A. And instead of being paid on the execution, the 1 I wasn't allowed to touch -- I wasn't allowed
2 other thing that I heard was quite strange was I thought 2 to touch a company called MLS who were a -- like a run
3 that they were going to pay the savings annually. So 1 3 around courier service.
4 thought that we would get 12/60th of the savings, not the 4 Q. Why not?
5 full amount. Do you understand where I'm coming from? 5 A. Because --
6 Because in year one, you would have saved 60,000. And 6 Q. Ifyou know.
7 year two you would have saved 60 and three it would have 7 A. Because they helped with the campaign.
8 dropped off. 8 Q. Because they helped with Mitch?
8 Q. Right. 9 A. Mitch told me I couldn't touch it because they
10 A. But it didn't, it got all paid up front. Sol 10 helped with the campaign.
11 was expecting it to be paid, you know, pro rata. 11 Q. Okay.
12 Q. Okay. Looking at schedule A of the cost 12 A. And there was that one. There was the debt
13 containment contract, it says services, Roseware, LLC 13 collecting agency one.
14 will and then it says review all outside vendor 14 Q. What was the debt collecting agency one?
15 contracts, and we'll come back to just what you reviewed 15 A. There were three and I don't remember their
16 in a minute, number two is identify cost savings and cost 16 names.
17 reduction methods. So it sounds like you did that, you 17 Q. Was that the -- was that the companies that
18 did identify some cost savings opportunities? 18 contributed the 15,000 so that Mr. Guetzloe would create
19 A. On avery small percentage of the contracts 19 an award to give to Mitch?
20 that were there. 20 A. The only way I can answer that is there was
21 Q. Right. And then it says enter negotiations on 21 only three debt collection agency contracts with the
22 the Brevard clerk's office behalf to implement immediate 22 clerk and they were the three [ wasn't allowed to touch.
23 contract changes, cancellations or amendments to 23 So whether -- which one any of them or three of them [
24 guarantee immediate cost reductions. 24 don't really know.
25 And it sounds like you did some of that and it 25 Q. Okay.
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1 A. Which ones individually it would have been that 1 pitched to Nuxol?
2 done that. There was that one and there was some kind of 2 A. Yeah, Nuxol wouldn't play.
3 destruction company out of Cocoa Beach that I couldn't 3 Q. Igotyou.
4 touch. 4 A. He was in hot water enough with stuff that was
5 Q. Youmean like a document destruction? 5 going on. Scott was -- by this point the election was in
6 A. Yeah, yeah, it was peanuts, it was peanuts, but 6 full throw and the mudslinging was sticking.
7 I wasn't allowed to touch that. And United Health Care. 7 Q. Did Dupree or Needelman or anyone else suggest
8 Q. Okay. Do you know of any connection between 8 to you that you couldn't review the Source 2 contract or
9 Mitch or Matt Dupree and United Health Care? 9 the collection agency contracts or MLS because they had
10 A. United Health Care were to do with Source 2 and 10 received sweetheart deals and were helping out with his
11 Dixson [ was led to believe. Nuxol, David Nuxol. And it 11 clection?
12 was to do with this sourcing of outsource 2 and things 12 A. Twas told -- I was told that he was getting
13 like that. 13 $5,000 a month, Dupree was getting $5,000 a month fromr
14 Q. The outsourcing of employees? 14 Nuxol Dupree told me that from Source 2. Now whether
15 A. Yeah, yeah. That's how that was done and I 15 that was a lobbyist legitimate, I don't know. But he
16 wasn't really quite sure how that worked, but I wasn't 16 told me of every 100 employees that he outsourced,
17 allowed to touch it. 17 whether it be at the clerk's office or what, that he was
18 Q. Okay. So United Health Care was somehow 18 getting 5,000 a month. IHe was getting a percentage of
19 connected with Source 2 though? 19 some debt collection agencies. I think it was 15 percent
20 A. Yeah. 20 of the 40 percent that they charged or something, I don't
21 Q. Okay. 21 really know. But I don't know about any of this.
22 A. Twanted to have a look at it because it was 22 Q. Did Dupree ever tell you about how much he
23 fat, it was fat fat. And if you looked how fat it was 23 makes?
24 against what the employees were getting back compared to] 24 A. No.
25 what they were getting before, it made no sense. 25 Q. Between all of these payment sources of his?
Page 142 Page 144
1 The second year was so expensive, right, that 1 A. No. The only thing he ever told me was that
2 it just made no sense. And there's no limitation on how 2 even years are a good friend.
3 the increases came. It was either really, really, 3 Q. He said -- what did he tell you?
4 really, really poorly negotiated and the salesman went 4 A. Even years are a good friend because of the
5 out of there and probably went on a cruise for six months 5 elections and things like that. But I watched him make
6 or -- or I don't know. There's no other reason. It was 6 $76,000 in about ten minutes the one day.
7 bad. 7 Q. Doing what?
8 Q. Were you allowed to review the Source 2 8 A. His friend Jason Steele had a customer that had
9 contract? 9 a very large invoice stuck on the state's -- in the
10 A. No. But there's a story behind that. 10 state -~ in Tallahassee's desk, the governor's desk or
11 Q. Okay. 11 the thing. And they hadn't completed it or they needed
12 A. We wanted to make cost savings so there was a 12 it or there was questions about it and it was put to the
13 scheme where Nuxol increased his prices by ten percent.} 13 bottom of the pile. He needed it to come to the top of
14 We make a cost cut savings of six percent, Nuxol is up 14 pile and Steele would receive ten percent of a $780,000
15 four and we take six percent. Does that make sense what 15 contract which was 78,000.
16 I'm trying to tell you? 16 So he phoned Dupree, I was in the room, and
17 Q. 1believe so. Whose idea was if to put this 17 Dupree then had to phone his contacts through whether it
18 scheme into action? 18 be Tim Buckley or whoever to make this invoice come to
19 A. Matt's. 19 the top of the pile. It did and he got 38,000. And two
20 Q. Matt Dupree? 20 days later I listened to Jason Steele move it into Matt
21 A. (Nods head.) 21 Dupree's Wells Fargo account.
22 Q. Did Needelman go along with it? 22 And then they were doing a deal on Cocoa Expo,
23 A. T don't think he even got that far because 23 something to do with valet parking and Fisher, Robin
24 Nuxol wouldn't play. 24 Fisher was the comimissioner at that end and it was to do
25 Q. Ah,Tsee. So doyou know whether it was 25 witha guy called Kendall Moore and they were sitting on
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1 it for a commissioner's meeting and this guy went to 1 the next three weeks after that was signed. And the

2 another guy called Dave Degardi. David Degardi went to 2 money was paid on the 5th of May. That money paid the

3 Matt, Matt met the guy, they did a deal and he phoned 3 end of -~ that paid the Roseware money, it paid the bank

4 Mary Bolin to get the nod to get it through at the next 4 note that had called in and then we were looking for the

5 commissioner's meeting. And I don't know how much was 5 15th of May's payroll. So my focus was purely on the

6 past there, but that's pretty much how it worked. 6 15th of May's payroll.

7 Q. Withregard to the $150,350 that was paid under 7 Q. Okay. So you then you start furning to the

8 the cost containment contract, was any portion of that 8 scanning contract. You had mentioned carlier and I asked

9 kicked back to Needelman? 9 you to hold off, told you we would get to this later,

10 A. No, she needed every penny. 10 something about meeting I think you said Henry Sal at
11 Q. Okay. 11 Computer Systems Innovations, CS1?
12 A. Blueware was no more without it. 12 A. Yeah, Imet him, I met him in April at some
13 THE COURT REPORTER: I'm somry? 13 point, maybe March. Basically went over to Orlando. So
14 THE WITNESS: Blueware was no more withoutit. | 14 Blueware in theory I was comfortable that we could -- we
15 BY MR. RUSSELL: 15 had the technology to -- we had the ability to put the
16 Q. Did anyone else benefit from the collection 16 technology in place to do the scanning.
17 companies to your knowledge? 17 I was uncomfortable that we had the retention
18 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form. 18 and destruction knowledge subject matter experts as we
19 A. Tdon't know for sure, but the only other 19 called them to do that. The other part that was really,
20 person that was involved with that would be -- that went 20 really concerning me was the redaction. You know, within|
21 to the meeting would be Renee McGrory. She would goto] 21 HIPAA records we do simple reduction, it's almost like it
22 the meetings in Orlando with Mitch. 22 simulates a highlighter on a computer screen. So
23 BY MR. RUSSELL: 23 basically we can run a mouse along a lot of words to get
24 Q. Anybody else in the clerk's office involved? 24 rid of them.
25 A. Noftomy knowledge. Actually to my knowledge 25 But to redact at the level that this was going

Page 146 Page 148

1 was they kept it away from everybody else in the clerk's 1 to need to be redacted, we didn't have that skill. We

2 office. They didn't even enter it into the diary. 1 2 didn't have that software. So Matt introduced us to a

3 know that for a fact because they told me that they were 3 character -- two characters, a guy called Victor Lee and

4 in Orlando and it wasn't in the diaries. 4 another guy called Henry Sal. And myself and Elaine

5 Q. What do you mean the diaries? 5 Sladek went over to his place in Orlando, if I can

6 A. The calendar, on the calendars, they kept it 6 remember that, he offered us Magic tickets and they were

7 off their calendars. 7 playing the Heat. And my wife was back in Brevard and 1

8 Q. Igotyou. Do you know how much Dupree made on 8 didn't risk it, so I didn't go there.

9 the Cocoa Expo deal? 9 So we met, he showed us a demonstration of what
10 A. No. 10 he does and then he showed us around his facility where
11 Q. What happened when you started reviewing the 11 he got about 100 ladies looking at screens and doing
12 large pile of contracts you said for the clerk's office 12 reduction or checking reduction and he showed us his pipe
13 under the cost containment contract and then at some 13 in and how much -- how many files he was getting a day
14 point were you told to stop reviewing them or? 14 and stuff like that, very impressive.

15 A. No. Basically what happened she got -- Rose 15 And then Victor Lee took us for lunch at some

16 Harr got 150,000. So there was no more quick revenue 16 Italian place. When we were in there meeting initially,
17 coming from the cost contaimment contract, all right, so 17 Matt told him what the plan was and he said we need to
18 they were chasing revenue at this point. We'd missed a 18 get it through procurement, do you have any kind of

19 payroll on the 15th of May, so nobody got paid at 19 contract that we can piggyback on. And he said, no, the
20 Blueware on the 15th of May. It was five days late the 20 not only thing we had with the clerk's office is a

21 one at the end of April, four days late. So we were 21 firewall contract. I think he'd done the firewall,

22 chasing revenue. So that wasn't going to bring quick 22 And Matt said, Mitch, he's reluctant to just do

23 revenue. So the scanning contract was back at the fore 23 this, what do you suggest. And then Henry Sal said ITN,
24 and it was all down to the scanning contract. 24 invitation to negotiate. It's not a full tender, but it

25 So the scanning contract was the main focus for 25 basically allows companies to come out on a very short
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1 procurement through one of the websites and I think the 1 scanning contract?
2 website was Aptiva that it came out on. 2 A. Yeah, it's the contract price for the scanning,
3 And so Matt said do you have a copy of one. He 3 Everything is there, The contract has been written, the
4 said, no, but you need to go to Palm Bay they did one or 4 scanning contract has been written.
5 something similar, So we left there. Matt two days 5 Q. Okay.
6 later came back with a -- 6 A. It's there. So now what they needed to do was
7 MR. BERNBAUM: Wait, give me a copy. [ 7 turn the scanning contract into procurement. So they
8 apologize. 8 sent a copy over, I just looked at it and said we -- we
9 MR. RUSSELL: T'm sorry, go ahead. 9 can't do this, this isn't what we do, you know.
10 A. Matt then gave me a copy of this procurement 10 Matt Raab looked at it, he's my technical guy,
11 ITN agreement from Palm Bay. And Iread itand I went 11 and shied away from it instantly, said I don't want to do
12 you're joking. And he said what you mean. 1 said this 12 it. So I'sent it back to Pomichter and to Matt, I said,
13 has got all about their -- it's their mission statement 13 Matt, this isn't going to work. He said don't worry
14 on environmental over the next five years, what they're 14 about it, Sir Garrett will write all the bump. Matt just
15 going to do. Isaid I don't even know what's in Brevard,|] 15 come up with enough technical feed, speed, digital pen,
16 I don't even know what the clerk of the court is going to] 16 scenarios to make sure that nobody else can win it.
17 do. This is no good to me, I can't write this. He said, 17 Q. Okay. So to make the ITN custom made so that
18 well, just put in the spacey bits that you need to put in 18 only Blueware had a chance of winning the contract?
195 to make sure that you're going to win it and we'll dothe | 19 A. Yep. So Blueware put it together, wrote it,
20 rest. 20 Pomichter put the details inside it, sent it back to
21 Q. The bits to make sure that you're going to win 21 Blueware, Deena put the finishing touches to it and sent
22 it? 22 it to McDaniel or whoever.
23 A. Yeah. Sowe wrote the technical part. 23 Q. Sean McDaniel?
24 Blueware wrote the technical part of the ITN. 24 A. No, Mike.
25 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 11 was Marked for 25 Q. I'm sorry, Mike McDaniel?
Page 150 Page 152
1 Identification.) 1 A. Mike McDaniel.
2 BY MR. RUSSELL: 2 Q. Inthe clerk's office?
3 Q. Okay. And Il get to the ITN itself here 3 A. Yes. Via Dupree. Dupree had a copy as well.
4 shortly, but let me show you an e-mail chain between 4 And whether -- Needelman didn't get a direct copy, but
5 Victor Lee, Sean Campbell, Matt Dupree and then Rose Harl 5 Dupree got a copy and McDaniel got a copy of our
6 and GW Pomichter. Who is GW Pomichter? 6 response. No, not the response, our version of the ITN.
7 A. He's Matt Dupree's bitch. Basically he's got 7 This was before the response, so we wrote it.
8 no money, he lives with his wife and his girlfriend, in 8 Q. Yeah.
9 the same house. 9 A. So then it came out on the Activa website.
10 Q. Really. 10 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 12 was Marked for
11 A. And he gets 50 bucks here, 50 bucks there, 200 11 Identification.)
12 bucks here for writing disparaging letters or any bits. 12 BY MR. RUSSELL:
13 He's a bit of a journalist, he went to journalist school. 13 Q. Hold on. Before we get to there, and |
14 A weasel. 14 definitely want to ask you about that, but let me show
15 Q. All right. Well, what's going on in this 15 you what we've marked as Exhibit 12 for identification,
16 c-mail chain that we're Jooking at here? Is this related 16 which is also an e-mail but it goes into a little more
17 to the discussions that you were describing with Victor 17 detail about the purpose of the ITN. Do you recognize
18 Lee? 18 that document?
19 A. Yeah, 19 A. Yeah.
20 Q. Okay. So what's going on at this point? 20 Q. Okay. What was that?
21 A. So basically the financials are sorted, the 21 A. So going back to what I explained before. We
22 150,000s are in for everybody wants it, the 8.5 has been 22 got the ITN.
23 settled. 23 Q. The sample one --
24 Q. Okay. When you say the 150,000s are in, are 24 A. Just like the Palm Bay one.
25 you tatking about end of the contract price for the 25 Q. -~ from Victor Lee?
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Page 153 Page 155

1 A. Anditdidn't fit. So what -- I sent it back 1 THE COURT REPORTER: And who?

2 to Dupree saying this isn't going to work. Rose got on 2 THE WITNESS: Garrett Pomichter. He's on the

3 to my back and said write a technical paper with the 3 c-mail. He's on one of the e-mails.

4 boxes that will make sure that we win, So I'm as 4 BY MR. RUSSELL:

5 technical as -- I'm not technical at all. My technical 5 Q. He'sonllorl2

6 ability is parrot, I've learned it from the technical 6 A. The top.

7 guys within Blueware. So I wouldn't have the ability to 7 Q. Right there.

8 sit down and write this, but I would understand what was 8 A. Pomichter.

9 in it and I would understand how to sell it. 9 Q. Back to the invitation to negotiate. Did you
10 So my technical, I'm not complete full 10 play any role in the drafting of this -- other than what
11 technically, but 1 couldn't write it, I wouldn't have -- 11 you've already described?

12 I wouldn't understand feeds and speeds and stuff like 12 A. No.
13 that. So Matt had a crack at writing it with Garrett and 13 Q. Tunderstand you didn't do the technical part
14 this is what has come out of this. This is the technical 14 or whatever.
15 part of the ITN. It went to Garrett and then it was 15 A. No.
16 inserted into the ITN document that was then released on] 16 Q. Did--
17 the Activa website to be answered. 17 A. Well, actually I instructed Matt Raab to write
18 Q. And in case we haven't clarified on the record, 18 it.
19 I'TN stands for invitation to negotiate; right? 19 Q. Okay.
20 A. Yeah. 20 A. So it depends what -- on how granular you want
21 Q. And is that a document that the clerk's office 21 to get. At the C-level 1 was getting some kickback
22 published? 22 because they didn't understand and didn't want to write
23 A. Yes. 23 it, so I did have to lean on him a little bit to write
24 Q. So that Blueware and other competing vendors 24 it. So there would be an argument I was very aware of
25 could ostensively submit their proposals and bid for this | 25 what was going on.
Page 154 Page 156

1 contract? 1 Q. Sure. Okay. Ithink you mentioned something

2 A. Yes. So basically what happens usually there's 2 about like including the digital pen function in the ITN

3 aresponse time of 30 days. This one was 36 hours. 3 because Blueware would be the only vendor that would have

4 Right. 4 that?

5 Q. Did that benefit Blueware? 5 A. Yeah, the feeds and speeds. And it was

6 A. Oh, absolutely because we had all the 6 deliberately vague about the amount of records that they

7 information and we were the people who had been in there. 7 would need scanning, whether it was done internally,

8 And basically it came out on the website on a Wednesday, 8 extemally. It was very, very difficult for somebody

9 1 think they needed to be in by the Monday or the Friday, S from more than an arm's length away to be able to quote
10 the Friday or the Monday of the next week, so two or 10 this and respond in the same time.

11 three business days. 11 Q. Was there discussion with Needelman or his
12 Q. Let me show you before we get too far ahead. 12 people to the effect that you wanted to be intentionally
13 That was 12. 13 vague so that no one else could?

14 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 13 was Marked for 14 A. We were instructed to be intentionally vague.
15 Identification.) 15 Q. By whom?

16 BY MR. RUSSELL: 16 A. By Dupree and Needelman.

17 Q. Okay. I'm going to show you what we've marked 17 Q. Okay.

1 Exhibit 13 for identification and I'll ask you if that is 18 A. The thought was that nobody would respond in
19 the ITN that was ultimately published by the clerk's 19 such a short time, but they were mistaken.

20 office? 20 Q. Okay.

21 A. Yeah, it looks like it. 21 A. So the way it worked was this came out,

22 Q. Allright. And this document, and I understand 22 Blueware immediately sent an e-mail saying basically
23 may have been amended or what have you, but this document| 23 registering their interest, their intent to bid. Deena

24 was essentially drafied by Blueware? 24 sent that the next day within 24 hours of it coming out.
25 A.  Yeah, and Garrett Pomichter. 25 Q. Uh-huh.
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Page 157 Page 159
1 A. And then Blueware, to answer the question, 1 there any significant amendments or modifications to it
2 answered the questions that they put in there in the 2 by the clerk’s office or did they basically adopt it
3 first place. The thing that rocked everybody was that I 3 wholesale?
4 think two of the -- or I know two of the -- at least two 4 A. Yeah, they adopted it wholesale.
5 other vendors responded. 5 Q. Did you ever have any conversation with Mitch
6 Q. It was McDaniel posted the ITN on line? 6 Needelman as to why he wanted to use this ITN process
7 A. Yes. 7 rather than sole sourcing it to BlueGem or Blueware?
8 Q. Right. Okay. Go ahead. 8 A. He said the political fallout was too great
9 A. So then what happened was the vendors started S with the election coming that he wanted it {o appear to
10 coming back with questions. Because the ITN was so 10 be -- appear to be fair.
11 vague, they started coming back with questions. Being il Q. Tolook like a fair process?
12 that nobody in the clerk's office had written it, so they 12 A. Yeah
13 didn't understand it, so they couldn't answer the 13 Q. Inawarding the contract?
14 questions. So they sent an e-mail to Rose, McDaniel did, | 14 A. Yeah.
15 saying can you clarify and answer these questions forme.| 15 Q. Butdid he guarantee Blueware?
16 Rose put the e-mail on my desk with please call Mike and| 16 A. Oh, yeah, we knew we had won the contract. So
17 answer, 17 what happened was we sent our answers in, surprisingly we
18 Q. And did you do that? 18 scored the highest.
19 A. Yeah, I called him back. And basically, you 19 Q. Surprisingly?
20 know, it didn't verify whether the scanning would be donej 20 A. Yeah, we scored the highest. So then they got
21 in house or out house was one of the questions, how many; 21 us info -~
22 documents are there, can we use subcontractors. There 22 Q. Before you go past that, let me show you the
23 was a number of questions that came back in that we 23 scoring sheets and see if you recognize these.
24 answered. 24 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 14 was Marked for
25 Q. And when McDaniel would send you vendor 25 Identification.)
Page 158 Page 160
1 questions, forward you vendor questions, did he use his 1 BY MR. RUSSELL:
2 personal e-mail or did he use his clerk's office e-mail? 2 Q. Mr. Geaney, I'm showing you what appears to be
3 A. He used his personal e-mail to Rose because he 3 vendor scoring sheets associated with this ITN and ask
4 sent them to Rose and then Rose put them on my desk and 1 4 you if you've seen those before?
5 answered them by phone. Because I didn't use e-mail, 5 A. No.
6 very rarely. And we were particularly vague in our 6 Q. Okay. Are you aware that they existed?
7 answers that we sent back like yes, no. 7 A. T've seen these. I saw these.
8 Q. Allright. Presumably your responses to the 8 Q. You mean everything after page one?
9 vendor questions were not designed to actually assist the ] A. Yeah. I've not read them, but I saw them in
10 vendors? 10 front of the individuals when we were at meetings.
11 A. No. 11 Q. Okay. Were you present when the scoring team
12 Q. Okay. 12 met?
13 A. They weren't lies, they just were vague. 13 A. No.
14 Q. Am 1 correct in assuming that Blueware would 14 Q. Okay. So it wasn't done in front of you.
15 send the responses to McDaniel and then McDaniel would 15 A. No.
16 communicate with the vendors? 16 Q. Okay. Did Mitch Needelman or Matt Dupree ever
17 A, Yes. 17 talk to you about the use of these scoring sheets?
18 Q. Okay. Do you know whether Needelman was aware| 18 A. Yes.
19 this was going on? 19 Q. Or the process?
20 A. Yes. We were having meetings every Monday with 20 A. Yeah.
21 him by this point. 21 Q. What did they say?
22 Q. Okay. Was Rose also aware, Rose Harr? 22 A. Some of the team, some of the team weren't
23 A. The e-mails were going to Rose, she was putting 23 aware that the -- that Blueware had written the ITN, but
24 them on my desk saying please answer, 24 it didn't make any difference because we were so out far
25 Q. After Blueware essentially wrote the ITN, were 25 in front with the answers we gave being correct. So 1
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Page 161

Page 163

1 just want to work out who they are. 1 were made accountable. So there were 24 milestones in

2 Q. Well, you have Mike, Mark, Mitch and Merily 2 the initial contract, all right. So they were things

3 and I was actually going to ask you. 3 like scanning clear Viera by a certain date, certain

4 A. Merrily like wasn't aware, 4 percentage of racking, certain percent of destruction,

5 Q. Okay. 5 scanners up and operational, collection from Viera.

6 A. And neither was Mark Gager. 6 There were a number of milestones that I got in the

7 Q. Okay. Mark Gager, that's the Mark? 7 initial very, very first contract.

8 A. Yeah. Mark Gager and Merrily weren't aware. 8 So it doesn't surprise me that we scored higher

9 Q. And presumably this Mitch is Mitch Needelman 9 if you want to talk about the real contract. Because my
10 right? 10 version of the contract is a contract that was signed on
11 A. Yeah 11 the 23rd of May, not the one signed on the 29th of June.
i2 Q. Who is the Mike? 12 Because | was there when the one was signed on the 23rd
13 A. Mike McDaniel. 13 of May.
14 Q. McDaniel. Okay. T just wanted to make sure. 14 Q. The scanning contract?
15 If you look at page two or any page thereafter, [ wanted | 15 A. Yeah. Wednesday about 1:00,
16 to ask you a little bit about categories and to what 16 Q. Okay. And what happened to that contract?
17 extent these may have been discussed with you. 17 A. Thave absolutely no idea.
18 Like the first category, the three vendors were 18 Q. But then there was a second scanning contract
19 rated on is lump sum. Do you know what that means? 19 signed on the following month?
20 A. It was the way that the contract was together 20 A. Well, they got rid of me the next week. Sol
21 and how they were going to finance it. 21 put a records request straight in for it because I wanted
22 Q. Okay. Did your scanning contract, was it a 22 to see because I was owed on it. And they said it hadn't
23 lump sum contract? 23 been issued. So I started getting really nasty with them
24 A. No, it was -- an initial payment - initially 24 saying, and I think you got records of this, Kelly was
25 it was 325,000 and then 60 payments for difference. 25 being very aggressive saying we want to see alf the

Page 162 Page 164

1 Q. Okay. So and they had already told you, as 1 1 contracts and stuff like that. And they said that it

2 understand it, that they couldn't do a lump sum payment 2 hadn't been done, but they were paid 525,000 on the 23rd

3 to anybody because they couldn't borrow money; right? 3 So it doesn't surprise me that they scored high there.

4 A. No, they had to -- they said to me that they 4 Digital pen was a no-brainer, that was always

5 had a fixed budget of between 12 and 13 million a year 5 going to score four against not available because we know

6 and that would probably go down because the state were 6 nobody has that technology.

7 locking to cut a million dollars off each of the clerk or 7 Q. What's this performance location?

8 pro rata depending on size and they weren't in a position 8 A. Because we didn't define whether -- in the ITN

9 to raise any other money because they couldn't do that. 9 whether we would do it internally and externally, we gave
10 Q. Sodo you -- does it make any sense at all to 10 two scenarios. So we would say we'd do it wherever you
11 you why BlueGem received a score of four and the other 11 want us to do it, we'll do it internally or we'll do it
12 two vendors received a score of three on the lump sum 12 externally. So we were going to score five. They were
13 category? 13 going to try to take their records away by lorryload and
14 A. Well, I've not seen the other proposals, but my 14 bring them back a week later for destruction. Because we
15 guess is they probably wanted it over two years or they 15 don't indicate how we were going to do the scanning, how
16 wanted more of a lump sum up front. I don't know. 16 we were going to do it. But we said we would do it
17 Q. Isee. And then the second category is payment 17 wherever you want.
18 plan, which I guess is the inverse of lump sum. So if 18 Q. Do you know what turnaround time analysis is?
19 you win the first category, you win the second one too? 19 A. Turnaround time analysis. So if you -- if you
20 A. And the second one, yeah. 20 decide that the contract is going to be done externally
21 Q. Okay. The next one is timeline for 21 and you're going to take it off site. In a hospital, you
22 performance. 22 may need somebody that's not been into the hospital for
23 A. This is really interesting because in the 23 five years and their record might be in deep storage. So
24 initial contract -- in the initial contract I said to 24 we do a thing called scan on demand. So basically the
25 them you're not going to get this through unless Blueware | 25 night porter can go down to the lock up in the bottom of
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Page 165 Page 167
1 the hospital, pull the file that's needed, put it through 1 A. No.
2 a hand scanner and get it up in front of the doctor 2 BY MR. RUSSELL:
3 pretty quick. 3 Q. Doesn't surprise you?
4 Same principal for the clerk. We were saying 4 A, No.
5 we would have somebody that would, even if we did take 5 Q. Inthis circumstance?
6 them off site, we have to pull that file and scan it on 6 A. Any other contracts, yes, this one, no.
7 demand and get it back to them within a set period, 7 Q. Right. Were you aware of the fact that
8 whether that be 24 hours, four hours, 12 hours. Ina 8 BlueGem's bid was --
9 hospital, it's usually four. So we were saying we could 9 A, Six million dollars more than anybody else's,
10 do it straight away. 10 yes.
11 Q. And BlueGem didn't even have any scanning 11 Q. Was that discussed among BlueGem people and
12 cquipment at this time; right? 12 Rose Harr?
13 A. No. 13 A. Oh, yeah, and the Clerk of Courts.
14 Q. What about this FNTI company, do you know 14 Q. Okay. And describe that discussion.
15 anything about them? 15 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form.
16 A. No. 16 BY MR. RUSSELL:
17 Q. One of the competing vendors. What about 17 Q. Who said -- well, let me ask you this. What
18 AMCAD? 18 did Rose Harr have to say about the fact that your
L9 A. One is from Florida, one is from -- actually 19 contract was six million dollars higher than the next
20 do. One is from -- I think one is from Minnesota or 20 guy?
21 somewhere like that. I did some research on them 21 MR. BERNBAUM: Same objection, form.
22 afterwards. 22 A. Look, we knew that we had to be set up from
23 Q. Were these companies that were actually engaged 23 scratch. We also knew, right, that these guys were, in
24 in scanning business? 24 my words, pissing in the wind with the price, all right.
25 A. Oh, yeah, yeah. 25 They didn't know how many documents were there, they
Page 166 Page 168
1 Q. They were going concerns? 1 didn't know what condition they were in, they didn't know
2 A. Yeah 2 how easy their access was, they didn't know what the
3 Q. So would it be accurate to say that these 3 retention level was, they didn't know how many were to be
4 companies could have undertaken this project without 4 destroyed. They put a pitch in as a low ball reasonable
5 having to start fresh like BlueGem with personnel, 5 bid to get them to the table and it never got on there.
6 equipment, real estate? 6 So that is the, you know, if you want -- if you
7 MR. BERNBAUM: He's pointing because he's knows 7 want to talk about hard business, that's what Blueware,
8 I'm going to object, but you can finish. 8 that's what myself and Matt and the people in Blueware
9 A. What I was going to say to you - 9 would have done if we'd be on the other side. We would
10 MR. BERNBAUM: And you're right. Let me object 10 have low bid, gone back in and done it under change
i1 to the form, I don't know how somebody researches 11 contro! once we found the scope. We had no scope to
i2 two other companies on the internet possibly. 12 work -~ there was no scope to work to on the other two
13 A. No. Basically what I'm -- I'm going to tell 13 parties. So they were never going to be, you know, they
14 you about my knowledge is they had the ability to do it. 14 were, you know, they were trying to pin a tail on a
15 What capacity they were running at, 1 have absolutely no 15 donkey blindfolded.
16 idea. And whether they scanned multiple Florida court 16 Q. Right. Did you have a meeting in the middle of
17 notes, | have no idea. They did have by their website 17 May 2012 with Mitch Needelman, Rose Harr and Sean
18 the ability to scan, whether they had the capacity would 18 Campbell to discuss services to be provided under the
19 be an unfair answer for me to give an answer. 19 scanning contract?
20 BY MR. RUSSELL: 20 A.  As part of the negotiation process, they went
21 Q. Okay. No problem. Did it surprise you at all 21 through this formality meeting before Longacre and Gager,
22 that one of the criteria to be considered by the clerk's 22 because they weren't aware of what was going on at that
23 office in awarding a multi million dollar contract was 23 time, to talk to the vendors that they found selected.
24 not price? ) 24 So they met us in person because were down the road and §
25 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form. 25 think they spoke to the others on the phone, or they were
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1 going to speak to them on the phone, whether that 1 lack of a better word?
2 actually happened, I don't know. 2 A. That's the poison pill was the unbreakable
3 So they got us in and they asked us all these 3 part.
4 questions. This is where the milestones and everything 4 Q. Oh, okay. Okay.
5 came in. 1said, you know, you need to get milestones in 5 A. And every contract is unbreakable because if
6 there. The poison pill was brought up at that point. 6 you stop scanning, you don't get rid of the contract.
7 Q. The poison pill? 7 Q. I mean unbreakable by the clerk's office so
8 A. Yeah. 8 that when Scott Ellis comes into office, he wouldn't be
9 Q. Which was? 9 able to terminate the contract?
10 A. No matter whether we did the scanning or not 10 A. That was enough of a contract, enough. He
11 and whether it was counseled or not, we got the full 8.4 11 was -- if it had been legal, they would have been stuck
12 million. 12 between a rock and a hard place. Either let Blueware
13 Q. Right. And that was put into the contract; 13 continue, all right, and let them scan or pay the 6.1
14 right? 14 million and then pay his own staff to come back and scan
15 A. Yeah. 15 it back in. So that was the unbreakable part of the
16 Q. Whether you performed at all, you got the 16 contract. The finances alone was enough to make it
17 entire? 17 extremely difficult.
18 A. Ttwas put in there because we knew as soon as 18 Q. Did you ever have any discussions with other
19 Scott Ellis got in, he was going to cancel it and that 19 clerk's office employees regarding the ITN or the
20 was openly talked about. That's why it was put in there. 20 negotiation of the contract other than those we've
21 Not about performance, not about anything else. It was 21 already talked about?
22 put in there because we knew Scott Ellis would walk 22 A. No. We were kept well away.
23 through the door, cancel it and reinstate the scanning 23 Q. Okay.
24 people immediately. 24 A. So we talked to McDaniel, Rence McGrory, Mitch
25 Q. And Mitch Needelman went along with the idea of 25 Needelman, Sean Campbell, Mike McDaniel, Mark Cook about
Page 170 Page 172
1 the Clerk of Court paying out 8.4 million or whatever it 1 what we were doing. And a lady called Carol and she was
2 was? 2 something to do with Viera.
3 A. It was he and Dupree's idea. 3 Q. First name Carol?
4 Q. Regardless of whether Blueware ever scanned a 4 A. Yeah.
5 single document? 5 MR. BERNBAUM: Can we take a short break,
6 A. You got to remember by this point we were in 6 restroom?
7 Brevard, right, we're watching this election and we're 7 MR. RUSSELL: Yeah, that sounds okay to me.
8 watching this supposedly crazy guy called Scott Ellis 8 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Going off the record at
° putting up all these placards and all this stuff going on 9 2:20.
10 Facebook and the forums and the debates had started, 10 (A break was taken.)
11 right, and as a business you're sitting there thinking 11
12 he's down on Blueware, he's down on Roseware, he hates| 12
13 Rose Harr, all right, what are the chances of him keeping | 13
14 this contract. 14
15 So as a chief operating officer in my role I 15
16 went to him and said answer these questions. Don't worryy 16
17 about it. What do you mean don't worry about it? We'll 17
18 just pay you, we'll put a line in the contract that you i8
19 get paid whether or not you are and complete the 19
20 contract. So I said okay. That's all I wanted to know, 20
21 what you want to do. 21
22 Q. And that's from Mitch Needelman? 22
23 A. Yeah. 23
24 Q. Was there also any discussion of trying to 24
25 write the contract so that it would be unbreakable for 25
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Page 177 Page 179
1 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're back on the record a 1 a parting of the ways. Rose and [ had a massive fight.
2 2:33. 2 Q. Over what?
3 BY MR. RUSSELL: 3 A. Scanning contracts, her bringing her daughter
4 Q. Mr. Geaney, before we went off the record, you 4 down with a big mouth, all right, openly talking about
5 were trying to remember the name of a woman who you had 5 the scanning contract. And it was getting to the point
6 also had some discussion with about the ITN or the 6 that she thought Debbie Coldwell, Matt Dupree in her blog
7 confract negotiation. You said her name was Carol. Was 7 last week she said she's got a BS man.
8 her last name Rooksberry? 8 In Michigan she had three or four people around
9 A. Yes. Tall, blond, worked in Viera downstairs g that would say no to her. Deena, myself, Matt would
10 in the very end office, very end office at the back on 10 argue with her and say you can't do this, you can't do
11 the right hand side as you looked in. She took us around 11 that. And we used to have this saying if Rose asks you
12 the file room a couple of times. Basically didn't have 12 to do something crazy, you'd wait about an hour and ask
13 good words to say about the scanning teams and the stuff 13 her again. If she asks you to do something really crazy,
14 that were there at the time. She said it would be great 14 you'd wait a day and ask her and say you sure you want mg
15 to get it outsourced, so she knew all about it. She was 15 to do that, I've not had time to do it. And nine times
16 the only person that I -- the only clerk employee that 16 out of ten she would change her mind and do that.
17 ever mentioned it to me. 17 Here when she got down to Melbourne, these
1 Q. Okay. 18 people were all on the make, you know. Blueware was the
19 A. So she was forward knowing that it was 19 honeypot. So they were agreeing with everything she was
20 happening. I was a bit. 20 saying. Rose was joining the yacht clubs, traveling
21 Q. Right. Earlier when you talked about the 21 first class. She got the money and spent it before she
22 sample ITN, I think you mentioned it coming from Palm 22 had it.
23 Bay. Is it possible it was Palm Beach rather than Palm 23 I'said I wasn't happy with it, I wanted it
24 Bay? 24 divorced from the rest of the business because it was
25 A. Yeah, all the palms are the same, it could be 25 just going to get out of hand. So we come to an
Page 178 Page 180
1 one of the each or one of the other or both. 1 agreement | was going to set a separate organization up
2 Q. Okay. Did Rose Harr ever discuss her intention 2 called Blue 360 which was going to be myself where |
3 to use Blueware and Roseware and these dealings because 3 selled -- sold things on their behalf as an agent and |
4 she wanted to shield -- I'm sorry, let me start that 4 negotiated contracts and did separate as a legal separate
5 question over. Did Rose Harr ever indicate to you that 5 entity altogether. Rose was stalling in my severance
6 she wanted to use BlueGem and Roseware in order to shield 6 package and the stuff around it, so she was paying me as
7 Blueware in the event of any criminal charges or civil 7 normal. So on the 20 --
8 litigation? 8 Q. Severance package?
9 A. This was all to do with the EDC. 9 A. 1was going to have a severance package.
10 Q. Tt was all. Okay. 10 Q. For leaving Blueware?
11 A. Reimbursements. 11 A, For leaving Blueware and setting up this
12 Q. Okay. 12 organization on my own. So I was independent, I wasn't
13 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 15 was Marked for 13 having to listen to everybody else and I could do what I
14 Identification.) 14 wanted to do.
15 BY MR. RUSSELL: 15 Rose was working on that slowly. Idon't think
16 Q. Okay. Mr. Geaney, I am now showing you a 16 she was ever doing much about it really. I was pushing
17 composite exhibit that consist of a couple of invoices, 17 Deena, the finance gitl, to find out what she was doing
18 one in the amount of $300,000, one in the amount of 18 on it. And Deena asked me a few questions about
19 $210,000 and then a wire transfer form showing a $500,000; 19 percentages and money, so there was something going on in
20 wire transfer to BlueGem, LLC from the clerk. Do you 20 the background. So when I went to this meeting on the
Z1 recognize these documents? 21 23rd, Rose and my relationship was still up in the air.
22 A. Yep. 22 Q. What meeting on the 23rd are you referring to?
23 Q. What are we looking at here? 23 A. Well, the first meeting, 1 had a precalendar
24 A, So between the 15th of May when we had been 24 meeting with Mark McDaniel to meet at Manhattan Chase in
25 done selected and we were moving forward, Rose and Thad | 25 regards to the cost containment contract and where we
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1 were looking fo replace Suntrust with Chase Manhattan. 1 contract. Mitch -- McDaniel took the contract out with
2 We met them twice and this was their presentation to come 2 these two invoices and came back in and Mitch signed
3 back to talk to us. Mitch came in and did his handshake, 3 them. And he said that, yeah, you can pay them.
4 hi, I am the chief, you know, the chief of Clerk of 4 Now Rose left and wanted the money the same
5 Courts and lefi. We had got to the point that Mike 5 day, but Mitch said that Mike and Sean and Mark had to go
6 McDaniel was ready to move to Chase. Whether he did or 6 to lunch with him because something else was going on.
7 not, I don't know. It doesn't ook like it because I can 7 So the money didn't get transferred until 4:00 on the
8 see that they still had SunTrust later in the year. 8 Wednesday and it didn't arrive until about 11:15 it
9 After that meeting, we were supposed to talk 9 showed in our account in Michigan on the Thursday.
10 about the contract negotiations. Rose was really nervous 10 But Longacre was talking about the milestones,
11 because she didn't know what I was going to do because | 11 the poison pill on the 23rd. It was really funny because
12 can be quite a loose cannon when I want to be. And she 12 at that point they had already got the response from the
13 didn't know whether 1 was staying for the meeting or 13 attorneys on the contract and we'd only just given it to
14 going, so she phoned my wife and said is he at the Clerk 14 them, so they got the contract before the contract I
15 of the Court. And Kelly said I don't know where he is. i5 took. So they got a legal consideration already by a
16 So then she phoned my dad in England, who was working for| 16 firm in Florida whether the contract was. I think there
17 Blueware, and she said do you know where Nick is this 17 was a few changes that needed to be put in there.
18 moming. And he said no. My phone was on fire and 1 18 Q. Do you know who it was that reviewed the
19 just let it ring. 19 contract?
20 1 was in meetings, so I could watch Rose was 20 A. Well, there were contracts started in -- from
21 phoning me continuously one after another. Basically 21 January. So, you know, if that's the attorney, unless
22 nobody had been paid on the 15th, she needed the 525,000, 22 you got -- I don't even know what contract they give
23 she didn't know what 1 was going to say at the meetings 23 their opinion on.
24 in the moming thing, So we started the meeting, Chase 24 Q. What do you mean the contracts started in
25 left at about 10:30, we started the meeting at 10:30, 25 January?
Page 182 Page 184
1 quarter past 12 Rose just walks in with this Carol woman 1 A. Well, there was iteration starting from 380,000
2 unannounced, she just turns up at the meeting. 2 to 1.8 million, proof of concepts, there was different
3 Q. Carol Rooksberry? 3 scanning with different things put in nearly every week.
4 A. Yeah, she brought her from the front of Viera 4 So there was a number of -- there was a number of
5 into the conference around the back. You walk across the 5 contracts that they could have -- that they could have.
6 file rooms and through the corridor and into this right 6 Q. Earlier drafts?
7 by the canteen, by the drinks machines. And Rose just 7 A. Yeah,
8 walked into the meeting af about 12:15. 8 Q. Okay. And then you said Rose Harr signed a
9 Q. Who clse was already present? g scanning contract on May 25, 20127
10 A. Merrily Longacre, Mike McDaniel, Mark Cook, 10 A. 23
11 myself and Mike at the time and we were thrashing out the| 11 Q. Tmsorry. That is what you said. May 23rd of
12 last pieces of the contract. 12 20127
13 She -- the first thing she did was give me 13 A. Yeah.
14 these invoices to say you need to get them signed. But 14 Q. And at that time did Mitch Needelman also sign
15 we hadn't finished, It was interesting because it was a 15 the contract?
16 bit of strange day because Needelman came in and he 16 A. McDaniel took it out with these two invoices.
17 delivered the news to a lady called Debbie Puckett and 17 Q. Okay.
18 leaked it to Lori Rice that the scanning was going to go 18 A. Brought the invoices back.
19 outsource. So Debbie Puckett was upset that she had been| 19 Q. Signed by?
20 called into Viera, so they sent Longacre to go and deal 20 A. Mitch Needelman. And I never saw anything else
21 with Puckett for Cook to finish the contract. 21 again. And then that money was moved over. We left
22 The contract was finished, Rose said you going 22 there.
23 to pay these. And I said, Mike, Rose wants me to ask 23 Q. When you say you didn't see anything else, you
24 you, and she stood right next to me, if you'll pay these. 24 mean you didn't see the contract come back signed?
25 He said let me go and speak to Mitch. Rose signed the 25 A. No, didn't see the contract come back. Nobody
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1 came back. We were just left in the room and we left on 1 thing at the forum that we weren't allowed to go to
2 our own. Mitch said that he had to go -- that Mike had 2 because we had to stay away {rom the forums on a Thursday
3 to go to lunch with him and we saw ourselves out. And 3 night and I didn't see im again probably face to face --
4 then Rose got me to phone about 2:00 and say -- to see if 4 [ didn't ever see him again.
5 the money because she was desperate because nobody -- 5 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Two minutes.
6 everybody was a week -- it was a week late for salary, 6 BY MR. RUSSELL:
7 paychecks and Memorial weekend was the next weekend. 7 Q. Okay. This $500,000, was that for the contract
8 Q. You say a week late for paychecks. Is that for 8 guarantee payment under the pricing schedule?
9 BlueGem employees or Blueware employees? 9 A. What confract are you looking at?
10 A. There was no BlueGem employees. 10 Q. I'mlooking at --
11 Q. Okay. 11 A. Which one?
12 A. Only Blueware. $75,000 about a payroll. So i2 Q. June,
13 you add the American payroll which was paid on the 15th] 13 A. Twouldn't know because it wasn't this contract
14 for the month and on the 30th of the month the American | 14 that I saw.
15 and the English payroll was paid. So we had one atabout] 15 Q. Well, the contract that you saw, did it call
16 75 and one at about 100. So she had -- so out of this 16 for an initial $500,0007
17 money she was waiting to back pay and people weren't 17 A. No, 325,000 and 200,000 for the first month and
18 going in to work in Michigan. 18 the second month.
19 Q. Okay. 19 Q. Okay. For the first month and the second
20 A. People were staying at home because they 20 month?
21 weren't being paid and it was getting a lot of -- there 21 A. Second month,
22 was a lot of stuff happening, people, you know. In 22 Q. So you feel these invoices were made according
23 Michigan people were waiting for gas, they couldn't get 23 to the terms of the contract that you saw that was signed
24 gas in their cars because it's long drives and. So -- 24 in May?
25 Q. When Mitch Needelman okayed these invoices for] 25 A. Yeah, these are deposits. These are -- this
Page 186 Page 188
1 $500,000, you had never even seen a signed contract at 1 invoice isn't right.
2 that point? 2 Q. The one that says 210,000?
3 A. No. Just Rose had signed it and it had gone 3 A, Yeah.
4 off. 4 Q. What should it say?
5 Q. Okay. And -- 5 A, 200.
6 A. We were told it was signed, we were told it was 6 Q. I'was going to ask because the amount that was
7 signed, 7 wired was 500,000 and that's $10,000 short; right?
8 Q. Okay. 8 A. Yeah. This initially said -- it said $300,000
9 A. And then what happened was McDaniel, we aske(j ° for initial payment and that was to buy the scanning
10 when the monthly payments \»\lou]d start. Matt Dupree 10 machines. And the second two are the month -- the first
11 phoned us back there and said McDaniel won't sign, he's 11 two monthly payments. So I'm not actually 100 percent
12 throwing a fit because the contracts won't be uploaded on| 12 sure now that they're the ones that 1 gave her,
13 to some system and they wouldn't upload it. So he was 13 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This is the end of media
14 unhappy but willing, because he had sent this already, 14 number three, we're going off the record at 2:49.
15 because he thought the contract was going to goontothe ] 15 (A break was taken.)
16 system, he was unhappy that this had gone through, buthg 16 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're back on the record at
17 wasn't prepared to sign any monthly ones because it was 17 2:55, beginning of media number four.
18 illegal if he hadn't uploaded it on to the system or 18 BY MR. RUSSELL:
19 something. And they were trying to force him to do it. 19 Q. Okay. Mr. Geaney, just before we went off the
20 And at that point is when it went downhill for 20 record to change a tape I think we were talking about the
21 Mike. I very rarely saw him after that point. He had an 21 apparent $10,000 disparity between the two invoices and
22 outburst in the office one day when I was there, 22 the wire transfer amount in terms of Exhibit 15. There
23 something do with his wife's assessment. I was in the 23 was some discussion carlier about $10,000, something
24 office and he absolutely threw a fit and he was sent home | 24 related to $147 software program?
25 in the middle of one of my meetings. And then he did the] 25 A. Spyware.
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1 Q. Spyware. Do you understand this $10,000 1 Once they started negotiations about getting a
2 discrepancy to have anything to do with that? 2 kickback and spreading it over five years or operating
3 A. Itmay. 3 budget and changing it, the scope of the project changed
4 Q. Itmay? 4 dramatically. It changed from just the historical
5 A. It doesn't ring a bell. 5 scanning in Titusville to taking over some scanning at
6 Q. You wouldn't know though personally? 6 Melbourne, Viera, Merritt Istand, Titusville. I think
7 A. No. 7 there was six or seven locations to actually eventually
8 Q. All right. I wanted to ask briefly at this 8 doing away with all of the scanning that was done by the
9 time in May of 2012, had Blueware yet been awarded any 9 clerk and taking over from Blueware. So the scope grew
10 kind of incentive package through EDC or DEQ? 10 dramatically very, very quickly. So there were
11 A. Yes. 11 iterations going on at that point.
12 Q. Okay. You had. At what point in time was i2 At the same time Blueware were being courted to
13 Blueware awarded the incentive package? 13 take over the IT department as the Clerk of the Court at
14 A. A week before this. 14 the time thought that's where most of his problems with
15 Q. Okay. And prior to Blueware being awarded the 15 unrest and what he called sabotage was happening within
16 incentive package, did I understand you correctly that 16 the IT department at the clerk's office. So he was
17 Mr. Greg Weiner was aware of the contract negotiations 17 extremely keen to get rid of some. There was a guy
18 for the scanning contract? 18 called Fred or -- a guy with a beard, a white beard, a
19 A. Yeah, he was just begging me not to sign it. 19 guy with a white beard.
20 Q. Okay. You had mentioned that originally -- 20 MR. ELLIS: Ted?
21 well, I shouldn't say originally, but at least as far 21 A. Ted. And then there was another guy, a young
22 back as of January of 2012 you had negotiations and draft] 22 guy in the backup room who looked after the servers who
23 contracts for scanning for the clerk's office. Is that 23 wasn't very helpful. He wanted Cindy Rabe out the door
24 correct? 24 immediately, that was who he wanted out. And then there
25 A. Yeah, there was scanning and there was 25 was a couple of other guys. He liked two people in that
Page 190 Page 192
1 proposals to take over their IT department. 1 whole environment, one of them was like a tech guy, and
2 Q. Right. And can you give us -- I don't expect 2 I'm not trying to be rude, but he come across as a little
3 you to recall every detail or real specifics, but in a 3 slow, but he was extremely bright. And he fixed the
4 general sense can you tell us how the evolution of the 4 machines and did different things.
5 scanning contract deal changed between January and June 5 And then there was another lady that was
6 of 20127 6 contracted with a ponytail who was on site with Needelman
7 A. Itstarted -- the scope -- the scope changed in 7 as well and he liked those two. The rest of the
8 a number of ways. The scope initially was just scan 8 departments he wanted it gone. So that's where the IT
9 them, so there would be no software, nothing, just get 9 audit came in first as an excuse to look for reasons to
10 them scanned and destroyed and get out, 10 actually close and outsource that department.
11 Then once Blueware got into it realizing that 11 Q. Did he talk about closing or outsourcing other
12 they needed to keep two copies, one was attorney view andj 12 departments as well?
13 the other one was public view. So there would be -- have 13 A. HR. He absolutely hated the people in HR.
14 to be some -- it would have to be scanned and then 14 Q. Okay. Any others?
15 redacted in a way that it left two, which it made the 15 A. Not that I can remember. I don't think there's
16 process a lot more difficult. This is why each time that 16 alot left. Once you take the scanning out of the cause,
17 we investigated it a little bit more, it became more 17 unless he was going to outsource the judges, I don't
18 complicated. That's where the risk factor grew. 18 think there was a lot left.
19 So then we decided to, hang on, maybe we should 19 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 16 was Marked for
20 try this as a pilot where we take some of the older 20 Identification.)
21 records and we just scan it as a pilot. They thought 21 BY MR. RUSSELL:
22 - that was too risky in case it didn't work and get enough 22 Q. Allright. Okay. Mr. Geaney, I'm going to
23 traction, so that one got thrown out. Then we looked at 23 show you now a document we've marked Exhibit 16 for
24 doing one for around two million because that's what 24 identification which appears to be a scanning contract
25 Mitch said he had at that point. 25 between the clerk's office and BlueGem dated June 291
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1 believe it is of 2012. Yes, June 29th. If you look on 1 was -- it was just initial payment and the first two
2 page four, you'll see the signature and dates. 2 monthly payments of 100 grand.
3 A. This is really interesting because this is 3 What happened was we were supposed to get the
4 completely not in the format that Blueware would normally 4 500,000 and $100,000 a month for the rest of 2012,
5 want a contract. 5 McDaniel said he wouldn't do it. So they did it at 540
6 Q. Well, my first question to you then is have you 6 and that was just enough to keep Blueware afloat. And 1
7 ever seen this confract? 7 knew about that before I left that they were going to do
8 A. No. 8 that.
9 Q. Okay. So this is -~ does it differ 9 And then what they did was they pushed the
10 significantly from the scanning contract that you 10 40,000s into the second year and third and fourth year
11 provided to the clerk on May 23, approximately a month 11 and upped the monthly payments. I think it was 110
12 earlier? 12 initially and 135 and 145,000 a month, but they've added
13 A. Youhave to give me a minute. Yep. It's alot 13 the 10,000s on to make the difference up that they lost
14 more vague than the contract that was written on the 23rd 14 in the first period.
15 of May. 15 Q. Right.
16 Q. Okay. And in what sense? I understand in a 16 A. And this schedule was all about, and this was
17 general sense what vague means, but in what way do you 17 going back to something that was talked about from day
18 find it to be vague? 18 one, that the clerk couldn't borrow money and he could
19 A. The milestones are missing, the assumptions 19 only have that fixed income from 12 to 13 million dollars
20 around time scales and things, the deliverables are not 20 a year and basically the first payment was he could
21 there. 21 manage that with no staff going from within the court.
22 Q. So previously BlueGem had milestones that it 22 The second one was when we were working forward
23 had to meet? 23 and we were starting to get people in Debbie Puckett's
24 A. Yep. 24 area gone, which was about 15 to 18 people. And then the
25 Q. And what was the second item, I'm sorry, I know 25 third year was when the Justine's people were gone.
Page 194 Page 196
1 you already said it? 1 Now I'm not saying that they were going to do
2 A. I'mjust going -- the deliverables are 2 it in them chunks, but this was how it was worked out
3 different. 3 initially. I think they gotrid of some of Debbie's team
4 Q. Deliverables. 4 and tee peed -- tee peed some of them over to Blueware o3
5 A. Statement of work is different. 5 Debbie's team if they were willing to do that. And
6 Q. Inwhat way is the statement of work different? 6 Justine's team they just wanted gone. They didn't want
7 And are you talking about the services identified on the 7 them tee peed, didn't want them near the clerk's office
8 schedule A? 8 at all.
9 A. Yeah. The way we delivered the time, the 9 So by year three, by year three they were
10 project managers, the green light, red document, green | 10 looking to have gotten rid of about 48 staff, which would
11 light and red light document were in there, but it's 11 have justified the cost savings against contract. So
12 missing pieces. It's just no where in depth, it's a lot 12 they were trying to make it like a -- I don't know what
13 more vague. 13 we call it in England, basically trying to make it a
14 Q. Do you happen to have a copy of the May 23 14 neutral contract where the savings were equivalent to
15 scanning contract possibly in your laptop at home? 15 what the cost of the wages and the operations and doing
16 A. Don't know. 16 it internally. So in England we'd call it a neutral
17 Q. Don'tknow. Would you mind taking a look at | 17 contract where the cost saving and the expenditure, the
18 that for us? 18 difference was minimal to the point that it was a neutral
19 A. No, I wouldn't mind. The payment scheduleis | 19 contract.
20 the same. 20 Q. If you look over on the next page 22, it's
21 Q. Okay. 21 schedule C and it has separate pricing for digital pen
22 A. So going back to what I told you earlier, if 22 pilot project. Was that the same set up?
23 you look at -- if you look at the pricing schedule. 23 A. No, it was tied in, It was only going to be
24 Q. Starting at page 217 24 40,000 in the initial contract.
25 A. Yeah. The initial payment is different. It 25 Q. Okay. So in the May 23 contract, you didn't
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1 have this schedule C? 1 wired to BlueGem. Did BlueGem immediately wire it over

2 A. No. This is how they've used -- this is how 2 to Blueware?

3 they've used to get that out, they're actually adding it 3 A. Tdon't know if they even bothered. [ think

4 to the contract. 4 they just paid.

5 Q. To get what out? 5 Q. Okay. From there. BlueGem paying Blueware

6 A. To get the money out in the first three months 6 employees' back salary?

7 because McDaniel wouldn't sign the other 40 to make it. 7 A. Yeah. So they paid -- they paid the 15th of

8 He would only sign 40, he wouldn't sign the 100. So 8 May's salary, they paid the Memorial weekend salary,

9 they've separated the digital pen contract to make 9 90,000 to Dupree, health care, attorney's fees because
10 payments into November to do that, 10 the Michigan attorneys were going to turn off, I think
11 Q. Soinstead of 8.52, we're really at 8.677 11 they were owed 92,000. She didn't pay any attormeys, be
12 A. Yeah. 12 careful. So she paid a bit to them to keep them quiet
13 Q. Million; right? 13 because they were doing the Billingsley case and they
14 A. Yeah. Soon the front page the statutes are 14 were doing some of the work down here for the EDC.
15 declared here. The Florida statute 28.1221 and none of | 15 Cars, people's expenses. People were
16 that was on the front page of the first contract. 16 traveling, been traveling down to Florida into the UK,
17 Q. Okay. So that differed from the May 23 17 some of them were owed four, five, $6,000 in expenses.
18 contract as well? 18 And at the end of the 45 minutes, there was nothing left.
19 A. Yeah, the type is different as well, 19 Q. Okay. Did Needelman or Dupree tell you
20 Q. The font you mean? 20 specifically what the 90,000 was going to be spent on
21 A. Yeah, the font is different, typeface is 21 other than?
22 different. Idon't remember the second page being in 22 A. No.
23 there at all. Or the third page. Fourth page is right 23 Q. Okay. You mentioned two Susan Smiths. Who are
24 and then it goes into the normal. 24 they again?
25 Q. Standard terms and conditions? 25 A. The Susan Smith who is -- was the accounts

Page 198 Page 200

1 A. Uh-huh. 1 manager for Blueware in Michigan. Sue had been with

2 Q. And are those the same standard terms and 2 Blueware since about 2005. She basically looked after

3 conditions? 3 all the accounts, salaries, payables, incomings,

4 A. And they changed them a little bit for Florida, 4 outgoings, invoicing, salary. And she also looked after

5 but they've done that on previous contracts. 5 the maintenance.

6 Q. Okay. It scemed a little more comprehensive? 6 And what | mean by that is when you signed on

7 A. Yeah. 7 to Blueware proprietary software, cach year you were

8 Q. Okay. Let's see. 8 paying for 24 by 7 support. And depending on the amount

9 A. D'would have to read it read it to really 9 of users that you got or you paid for licenses depending
10 understand where it was different. 10 on what your maintenance payments was yearly. Now most
11 Q. Okay. When this half a million dollars was 11 of them paid yearly. So Blueware peaked and troughed.
12 wired to BlueGem, did BlueGem turn around and wire 12 So December, January was great and February wasn't bad.
13 $90,000 back to Matt Dupree? 13 March, April, May were dire. They were where we had very
14 A. Yeah. 14 little maintenance coming in. June wasn't bad. October
15 Q. What was that for? 15 was great. And November and December.
16 A. Needelman. 16 CHS, Community House Systems, which is
17 Q. Did Needelman ask for money for -- 17 Blueware's biggest customer, paid on the quarter. So
18 A. Well -- 18 they would pay their maintenance I think was around 450,
19 Q. -~ campaign or for television commercials? 19 $500,000 a year, so they would pay $132,000 usually the
20 A. Yeah. They were going to do a television 20 end of December like for the first of January, April,
21 commercial. Whether the whole 90 went to Needelman, I} 21 July and October. So we had a stream of revenue coming
22 don't know, The 500 grand was spent in 45 minutes. 22 in from that and Sue managed that.
23 Q. By Blueware? 23 Q. Okay. That sounds line the Susan I'm talking
24 A. Yeah. 24 about. Did she have skype discussions with people here
25 Q. Okay. And let me clarify there. The money was 25 in Florida while she was in Michigan?
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1 A. Yeah. She spoke to Rose, that's how Rose did 1 A. That was the payment for the digital pen pilot.
2 the payment, told Sue what to pay. 2 Q. The digital pen pilot?
3 Q. Did I understand you, there is some capability 3 A. Yes.
4 of recording skype conversations? 4 Q. That's Blueware paying what company?
5 A. What I mean by skype conversations, you're 5 A. Digital -- Paper 1Q, Digital 1Q, it's the same
6 talking -- I'm talking IM and she would save them. 6 company.
7 Q. Okay. 7 Q. Okay. So that's the company? Was that the --
8 A. Soyou could IM, Because Rose is -~ Rose has 8 A. Yes.
9 the ability to change her mind and say things that never 9 Q. -~ Swiss company you said?
10 happened that did happen a lot, everybody kept record of | 10 A. No. They use their data. It's an English
11 what Rose says because she changes her mind all the time} 11 company that used a Swiss technology called Anoto.
12 And especially in the delicate position that Sue was in 12 Q. Oh, Isee.
13 about paying people and not paying people. Rose gave 13 A. This is what I know about this. This 40,000
14 authority for everything. 14 Blueware had the money and they didn't pay Digital IQ for
15 Even in my position as CEO, I couldn't order 15 a very, very, very long time. And he refused to come
16 toilet paper, I didn't have the authority to pay 16 back to Florida until she -- when he got paid.
17 expenses, do anything. Everything was done by Rose. So; 17 Richard -- Richard Sargent was the contact, the company
18 nobody had control of the checkbook, the credit card 18 is owned by a guy called Roger, Robert Bakewell.
19 except for Rose and her daughter. And Sue and Deena 19 Q. Okay. Back to the scanning contract, we've
20 would use Rose's Blueware credit cards to pay things like | 20 talked some about the fact that BlueGem did not have the
21 American Express and stuff like that, but nobody else had| 21 capability to perform the contract when it signed it.
22 any authority to move, touch or do money or passwords o 22 What efforts were made to your knowledge while
23 anything. 23 you were there to recruit staff, to purchase equipment,
24 Q. Is Sue Smith still employed by Blueware? 24 et cetera in order to perform under the scanning
25 A. No. 25 contract?
Page 202 Page 204
1 Q. What happened to her? 1 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form.
2 A. She's gone to work for a company called -- I 2 A. Blueware were looking at -- I was really
3 ain't going to tell you. 3 surprised to see the scanners they initially bought.
4 THE COURT REPORTER: What? 4 When I was there, they were looking at a scanner company
5 THE WITNESS: I'm not going to tell you. 5 from, and it's gone blank, and they're called IBM Al, IBM
6 BY MR. RUSSELL: 6 Al They're not anything to do with IBM and they're from
7 Q. It'snot significant. Did she leave 7 down south somewhere. And basically they use the flatbed
8 voluntarily, on her own accord? 8 scanners that did the American Census, they used 90 of
9 A. Yes. 9 them.
10 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 17 was Marked for 10 BY MR. RUSSELL:
11 Identification.) 11 Q. Flatbed scanners?
12 BY MR. RUSSELL: 12 A. Yes. So basically they have the ability to
13 Q. Take a look at that. Do you think Ms. Smith 13 scan at speeds more than any conventional scanner. A
14 still has copies of those saved IMs? 14 normal scanner rolls and it jams. So when you do a
15 A. How long is a piece of string? [ have no idea. 15 scanner, it does that. These they just basically drop on
16 What would happen is Blueware would download a disc, all] 16 to a hopper, a suction pad holds them in place and they
17 right. So as soon as somebody left, they would download 17 Jjust go down a conveyer belt, something like 450 sheets a
18 a disc with absolutely everything on it. Probably Sue 18 minute depending on the resolution that you want. So we
19 would, she probably still owns her skype address. So the 19 looked at those.
20 answer is it's probably yes. 20 They knew it was something around the $165,000
21 Q. Allright. I'm going to show you an e-mail and 21 a year mark, I'm sorry, to purchase, plus maintenance,
22 an attached purchase order from Sue Smith to Richard 22 plus ink, plus whatever was needed on there. And it was
23 Sargent and ask you what you know about that, if 23 needed -- thought that we need two, one for up and one
24 anything? Which we've marked as Exhibit 17 for 24 for down time. And then a couple other Kodak scanners
25 identification. 25 that the clerk used at Viera to do things that
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1 miscellaneous stuff that was needed fo be pulled back 1 was really timid. I worked with him for a week or two
2 very, very quickly. 2 and he -- he was a yes man. That was never going to
3 So we researched buying this IBM Al scanners. 3 work. And really hadn't employed anybody else.
4 We had looked at the building at 405 New Haven as well as 4 About eight or ten people had decided they were
5 a couple of others and made an offer. And when [ left, 5 going to move from Michigan, four of them were Indian
6 there had been a $25,000 deposit paid by Rose on the 6 guys that were developers that were writing the product
7 building in New Haven, which I think I actually 7 and they hadn't relocated to Florida. One was named
8 negotiated the land contract deal. And the money from 8 Abalash (phonetic), I don't know, Abalash. There was
° this sccond and third payment was meant to pay this guy 9 another one called Hemith (phonetic).
10 called Chuck Green. 10 Q. First name or last name?
11 Q. You say this second and third payment? 11 A. FKirst name.
12 A. The one -- the 100,000 that McDaniel wouldn't 12 Q. Both of those?
13 signed, Rose had earmarked a proportion of that to go to 13 A. Yeah. Hemith Reddy and it's spelled as you
14 pay for this building on New Haven. 14 think it would be spelled. Abalash's wife, but she
15 Q. Okay. 15 didn't have a Visa so they got rid of them once it
16 A. Obviously that never happened and the deal 16 started to get hot. And then there was another one,
17 never happened on New Haven. 17 another guy.
18 Q. How were the scanners going to be purchased 18 Q. Do you mean by things getting hot?
18 since most -- 19 A. Once it -- there was a -- people asking
20 A, With this initial 500,000 to start with. 20 questions -~ Abalash was asking questions about Visas and
21 Q. But that went to the employees because Rose -~ 21 Blueware were looking to get Visas into the UK. England
22 I'm sorry, Blueware was so behind on paying its 22 is a very difficult place to go and work as an alien, as
23 employees? 23 a foreign alien.
24 A. Yeah, yeah. And so we looked at -- we looked 24 So basically what happens is if somebody in
25 at the scanners and the options for doing that. We'd 25 England can do the job of somebody that's traveling from
Page 206 Page 208
1 even been into the United Kingdom to see scanning 1 a company abroad and it's more than six weeks in period
2 operations from a company called EDM and they do 2 of time that you're going to be in the country, that job
3 something like half a million documents a day on three or 3 should go to an English person.
4 four of these scanners. So a number of us had flown over 4 So Blueware at the time were fighting the
5 there and looked at that. 5 British government from a Visa standpoint there and
6 And where the challenge was was around actually 6 Abalash and his wife, I can't remember her name, was
7 taking the files apart and putting them in an order to be 7 working for nothing and we were paying Abalash's rent in
8 scanned, indexing it so they made sense to the clerk's 8 return for her, she wasn't getting a salary. So she
9 office, you know. Because you don't want to be data 9 wanted an A-1 Visa or -- I think it's A-1 Visa, she
10 blogged. 10 wanted an A-1 Visa, Blueware were going to sponsor it and
11 If you're looking for a single sheet, say if 11 pay for it and Rose changed her mind and it got all out
12 you take this file when it's all in order, right, unless 12 of hand. So they were either fired or let go or whatever
13 you index it in the right way, when you go to look at a 13 you want to happen there. And it left three of them.
14 sereen, you don't even know what page you're looking at, 14 David moved under duress, he was Rose's son, he
15 you don't know what's in here until you actually go 15 didn't really want to move, but Rose told him he was
16 through every screen. So whether they put bar codes, 16 moving. And he moved with his friend called Eric Love,
17 separate the sheets, character recognition, different 17 And that's -- and myself were the only people that
18 colors, you could use different color sheets that meant 18 actually moved out of the 44, Rose said on June the 15th
18 different things. We looked at that. 19 at the grand opening that she did at Riverside that there
20 She -- Rose had employed a CTO for down here, 20 were 41 more people moving. She only had about 12 left
21 chief technology officer, a guy named Paul somebody andf 21 in Cadillac. So where the 41 were moving from, I had no
22 he only lasted a couple of weeks. Paul -- I don't know. 22 idea.
23 Q. Was he local here? 23 Q. During the time that you were here, did BlueGem
24 A. Yeah, he was. He was really a nice guy, but he 24 come to own any scanning cquipment?
25 wasn't going to last five minutes with Rose because he 25 A. No.
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1 Q. Okay. Do you know anything at all about 1 there was -- so she was claiming lack of venue. And it
2 BlueGem bringing in a couple of desktop scanners down 2 got into a massive legal battle because she hadn't --
3 from Blueware's Michigan operations? 3 Q. Because you filed suit in Michigan?
4 A. Yeah, they were down before. 4 A. Yeah. And1 filed suit in Michigan, so I moved
5 Q. Okay. Is that the only scanning equipment 5 back to Michigan, but I was only ever employed as a
6 you -~ 6 Michigan employee and I was under a work Visa that stated
7 A. 1don't think they moved them from Michigan. 1 7 that T had to work for Blueware Michigan, So I could
8 think that they came -- one came from Michigan, I think 8 work in Florida, but I was part of the Michigan
S the other one came from Office Max. 9 corporation which allowed me to file.
10 Q. Desktop though? 10 Because she hadn't done the articles and had
11 A. Yeah. 11 special meetings to dissolve the Blueware Michigan
12 Q. You had said something earlier about BlueGem 12 corporation, she wasn't allowed to do it. So she said it
13 originally being a Michigan corporation, but then it 13 was a mistake and they reinstated the Michigan
14 became a Florida corporation and then back to Michigan] 14 corporation and dissolved or I think dissolved the
15 Do you know why that happened? 15 Florida one.
16 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form. 16 And it got info a big legal wrangling. And it
17 A. T thought you would. I sued Blueware as a 17 went on for quite a while. And it was myself and another
18 Michigan corporation. They tried to defend it on a non 18 lady called Cathy Billingsley that were giving her quite
19 forum for tort and lack of venue. Was I right? 19 a beating over 12 months from a cost point of view.
20 BY MR. RUSSELL: 20 Q. Without getting too detailed in the arguments
21 Q. I don't know what non forum for tort means. 21 in that case, why did she owe you 325,000 in commissions?
22 A. Some tort thing. I don't know. 22 A. Onsales I'd done over different things
23 Q. Forum non convenience? 23 including this one.
24 A. Yeah. And then something tort. So what they 24 Q. So you -- did you have a written contract with
25 did was -- and I sued them for a million bucks, 325,000 25 Blueware?
Page 210 Page 212
1 she owed me, damages for when she said || || | IIIIR- 1 A. No.
2 and some other bits and pieces. 2 Q. Okay. Butyou had a contract that said when
3 Q. What was the 325 for? let's go ahead and talk 3 certain deals come to fruition that you're putting
4 about your lawsuit. 4 together, that you get a percentage?
5 A. Commissions. Commissions, And the lawsuit 5 A. Yeah, it was mainly verbal.
6 basically said that -- and I filed under the 6 Q. Okay. So did you get a commission -- were yo
7 Whistleblower Act and we were in negotiations of 7 seeking commission on the scanning contract?
8 settlement for a number of weeks. Got to the week before 8 A. Yeah, I signed it on the 23rd of May.
9 the election, and I was in power before the election, as 9 Q. Okay.
10 an individual I was in power because I was going to say 10 A. There's e-mails to that effect.
11 unless you -- unless you pay me what you owe me, I'mjust{ 11 Q. Okay. Is the lawsuit still going?
12 going to go public and tell them what they did. 12 A. No.
13 So, anyway, she called my bluff. On the 13 Q. Between yourself? Okay. You settled?
14 Thursday she said to me, yeah, through our attorneys, 14 A. We seftled under mediation in May of last year.
15 yes, she would pay. On the Friday she changed her mind, | 15 Q. And are you allowed to disclose -
16 it was for -- thought it was {oo late. So I sent a press 16 A. No.
17 release out saying that the contract was fraudulent and I 17 Q. It'sall confidential. We're okay, we don't
18 was part of it and I knew. All right. 18 need to go into that. So presumably this suit has been
19 Q. Where did the press release go? 19 dismissed after the settlement; right?
20 A. Florida Today, Brevard Times, anybody that 20 A. Yes.
21 would take it. 21 Q. Okay. Isthere any other litigation between
29 Q. Okay. 22 yourself and Blueware or any of its affiliates?
23 A. And the minute she did that, I filed under 23 A. There will be tomorrow.
24 Whistleblower Act. And as 1 filed, she changed her 24 Q. Oh, because of the breach of the settlement
25 corporation from Michigan to a Florida corporation. So 25 agreement you mentioned?
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Page 213 Page 215
1 A. Yeah. She last week -~ part of the settlement 1 Rose Harr?
2 agreement she can't say things about me that are untrue 2 A. Yeah. Boston attorneys are suing on behalf of
3 or were part of the settlement, as part of the settlement 3 a company called J2,
4 agreement. She basically put on her blog last week that 4 Q. Whatis J27
5 Lreported it to the police and lied (o the police about 5 A. ]2 did some outsourcing work, programmers 1
6 her and I embezzled thousands of dollars. 6 told you that we'd been out earlier to look for
7 That has been proven to be not true both by the 7 programmers to write version six, which is the Best Bond
8 police and by the courts and accepted within the 8 product. They worked alongside Blueware programmers for
9 settlement agreement that that didn't actually happen and 9 about three months. And Rose within that three months
10 she put on her blog last week. So there will be legal 10 racked up about $400,000 worth of programming time and
11 action again. And I think there's an amount in the 11 money and hadn't got anything really to show for it.
12 settlement that if either of us break it, that she -- 12 Now there's an argument about the directive
13 that we would be liable for, 13 that was given. You know, Deena and [ were really
14 Q. Okay. 14 against il because it wasn't done on what [ call -- what
15 A. To be quite honest with you, I was starting to 15 I would call a set scope, it was done on time and
16 feel quite sorry for her. And now she gets what she's 16 material.
17 got coming. 17 On set scope you got a thing called set scope
18 Q. Okay. You mentioned another lawsuit by Cathy 18 and you can control ouiside of the brackets how much
19 Billingsley? 19 money is spent. So you can say I want $100,000 worth of
20 A. Yeah, that was negotiated at the same time. 20 progranuning and I want you to do this for it. The
21 Q. Who is that? 21 company can come back and say it's going to take an extra
22 A. It was a CMO that had worked for Blueware. She; 22 three or four weeks to do it, it's going to cost another
23 had been enticed to work for Blueware. 23 20,000. 1 can either say, no, you told me it was going
24 Q. What's a CMO? 24 to cost 100 grand, or understand where they're coming
25 A. Chief marketing officer. 25 from, and if I can changed the scope, we pay the 20,000,
Page 214 Page 216
1 Q. Okay. 1 The deal was done on time and material, right.
2 A. She had worked for IBM for 20 years, she had 2 So these programumers could sit with their feet on the
3 put together or been part of the biggest software deal in 3 desk for three weeks in program one and nobody really
4 history with AT&T. So she was quite a catch for us. 4 knows what the scope is. So they work for three months,
5 Rose enticed her. What Cathy claimed was that she didn't 5 they got a bill for 120 -- first we got a bill for 37,000
6 tell her the truth about the revenues and the building 6 so they eased us in and that bill was paid, that invoice
7 and the revenues that the company were doing and all that 7 was paid. And then they were on 30 days. A second one
8 sort of thing and she lasted nine days at Blueware. 8 came in for about 120 and Rose sat on it and wouldn't do
9 Q. That was her term of employment was only nine 9 it.
10 days? 10 By the time that actually came in and got
11 A. Yeah. 11 processed, they were into the second month. So there was
12 Q. Okay. And so what did she sue for? 12 another one for 130,000. And by the time it ended up
13 A. She sued for a number of things. One of them 13 being canceled, there was another one for about 100
14 was this false enticement to work, untruths suit thing. 14 grand. So there was 400,000. We tried to he get them to
15 And then she sued for -- she moved to a house from St. 15 settle for 100, but Rose wouldn't pay it because she
16 Louis to Michigan and cost $38,000 in stuff and a number 16 thought she was being ripped off because she hadn't
17 of things she sued her for. And that was settled on the 17 gotten anything for it. But the argument was you get
18 same day as mine. 18 what you pay for.
19 Q. In the same mediation? 19 So there's that lawsuit and that's under a
20 A. No. Well, same mediator, but she was -- 20 Boston attorney. Deena and I sent them a $10,000
21 was -- she was done in - she was the afternoon and 21 retainer for the initial. I don't know whether it's been
22 Wednesday morning and I was done Wednesday afternoon. So 22 paid or it's been since from there. And then any other
23 she came up and did that. 23 stuff is the stuff I read in the press about the
24 Q. Areyou --I'm sorry, are you aware of any 24 employees and you guys and HP.
25 other lawsuits involving Blueware or its Baby Blues or 25 Q. Right. Okay.
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Page 217 Page 219
1 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 18 was Marked for 1 basically il's startup cost and the cost of the contracts
2 Identification.) 2 that were being -- that had been won or were about to be
3 BY MR. RUSSELL: 3 won by Blueware and sitting them in their separate fields
4 Q. Let me show you -- actually before I do, did 4 by using what we would call a starfup team.
5 BlueGem ever have any other clients besides the Clerk of 5 So basically what it represents is Blueware
6 Court that you're aware of? 6 executives at a higher level like Rose, myself, and
7 A. Where? 7 somebody of Cathy Billingsley's scope as CEOs of the
8 Q. Here in Florida. 8 mother ship and then in going to places like Harvard Law,
9 A. No. 9 Harvard schools and looking at young CEQs, young
10 Q. Did BlueGem have any other clients anywhere 10 financial chief financial officers and marketing from
11 since say 20107 11 people like for sale in Orlando and sefting them up and
12 A. Blue who? 12 maintaining the contracts and then paying a royalty back
13 Q. I'm sorry, BlueGem. 13 to Blueware for doing a large amount of their marketing
14 A. BlueGem, no. 14 and their administration, their wages, their salaries and
15 Q. I'm going to show you an e-mail now from Rose 15 things like that.
16 Harr to Blueware team. Who is Blueware team? 16 So the first page that you twn over is the
17 A. Basically it was a section on Lotus notes that 17 operations and delivery by contract. So it's the
18 allowed anybody in Blueware to e-mail all employees. 18 maintenance and support regeneration cost. So basically
19 Q. Oh, this is all employees? 19 that's Blueware's maintenance that they collect off the
20 A. Yeah. 20 software that they get for the health care. And
21 Q. It wasn't like an upper echelon team? 21 basically taking the streams out, cost of a young CEO,
22 A. No. 22 young CEO, a young IT director, a young VP of finance, a
23 Q. Okay. This e-mail dated March 27, 2012 we've 23 sales marketing manager and a general manager, the
24 marked Exhibit 18 for identification attaches a number of | 24 equipment startup cost that would need for a little sale.
25 spreadsheets and various documents. 25 So basically you take these offices, have -- by
Page 218 Page 220
1 A. Canl go to the bathroom? Can I stop? 1 all effect have Blueware sat in the middle and have a
2 Q. Absolutely. 2 section, a part that ran Blueware Health with a younger
3 A. And I'm not jibbing, I just need to go to the 3 team in it and then one that ran the government in it.
4 bathroom, 4 So basically at any point if she wanted to get out of a
5 Q. Go ahead. 5 market or sell, she had it in diverse and separated
6 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Going off the record at 6 enough fo be able to sell one of the Baby Blues off.
7 3:36. 7 Q. Let me ask you about the first page after the
8 (A break was taken.) 8 e-mail cover. If you look at the column on the left, the
9 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're back on the record a 9 last three entries are total cost?
10 3:44. 10 A. Yeah.
11 BY MR. RUSSELL: 11 Q. Contract value?
12 Q. Mr. Geaney, just before we went off on that 12 A. Yeah.
13 break, I was showing you the March 27 e-mail from Rose 13 Q. And then Rose, Nick and Matt?
14 Harr to Blueware team, which we marked as Exhibit 18. Dq 14 A. That's our commission.
15 you recognize that document? 15 Q. That's your commission?
16 A. Yep. 16 A. Yeah
17 Q. Okay. What are we looking at here? 17 Q. This is projected commission; right?
18 A. Failure to explain. It's a document which 18 A. Yeah
12 basically -- how will I explain this? Basically what 19 Q. Who is Matt? Dupree?
20 Rose was looking to do was to have Blueware as the mother| 20 A. Yeah.
21 ship and have the Baby Blues around it looking after 21 Q. Okay. So why would Nick -- I'm sorry, why
22 certain segments of the market like health care, 22 would Matt get a commission?
23 government and cloud scanning, different -~ different 23 A. Because he brought the initial to us. He
24 scenarios, 24 brought the initial contract. He brought the initial
25 So I came up with this. So what this is is 25 lead to us or he was working on it.
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Page 221 Page 223
1 Q. And this is based on a contract value of 2.7 1 cost for an organization. So if you're at nearly break
2 million; right? 2 even with one confract, you have to -- as soon as you
3 A. Yeah. 3 sign the next contract, your standing fees stay the same.
4 Q. Okay. And then the next page it has the 4 You don't need another CEO. So basically this was to
5 same -- that same column and three rows with total cost 5 Jjustify setting up the Baby Blues. So the one contract
6 contract value and then Rose, Nick, and Matt and now 6 nearly gets you to break even. It's like the only
7 we're looking at 7.5 million dollars in total cost. 7 outsourcing IT contract that Blueware were going to go
8 A. That was a scanning thing for -- that was the 8 for and go to win.
9 scanning contract for Brevard. 9 Q. Do these -- okay. So you're reflecting
10 Q. Okay. And then contract value of 7,449,000? 10 overhead being?
11 A. Right. Which I told you carlier was before 11 A. Yeah.
12 they had told me not to take the ten percent out. 12 Q. Part of the calculation?
13 THE COURT REPORTER: Not to what? 13 A. Yeah. If you got - if you got -- if you got
14 THE WITNESS: Take the ten percent out. You 14 overhead as your calculation, if you look in there, if
15 remember 1 said to you in a private place there 15 you look in there, you got in there young CEQ, you got it
16 would be a BAFO offer of 8.4 minus ten percent. 16 on every page, right, so that's for the initial contract.
17 BY MR. RUSSELL: 17 By the time that you win your second contract within cac
18 Q. Yeah. And you have the Rose, Nick and Matt 18 of these brackets, you're standing cost stay the same and
19 commissions? 19 the profit moves forward.
20 A. $5,000 a month, 20 Extremely clever way of doing it. You work at
21 Q. Commissions? 21 that business, you sign three contracts, you trade for
22 A. For 60 months. 22 three years, right, then you can look at the business, go
23 Q. Okay. $900,000? 23 down on -- down on Bradstreet and say this has got three
24 A. §5,000 each a month for 60 months. Six percent] 24 contracts, this is our standing cost and this is where
5 is a normal software sales commission. 25 we're working off, I would like to take out one of the
Page 222 Page 224
1 Q. Soyou -~ 1 Baby Blues and sell it.
2 A. Six percent of 800,000 -- eight million 2 So basically these were all of the Baby Blues
3 dollars. 3 assigned to different contracts which give them
4 Q. Okay. So you considered this to be closely 4 legitimacy like you asked me either, are they legitimate
5 analogous enough to software sales? 5 companies, this is what this was the aim to do.
6 A. Yeah. 6 Perfectly legal way of doing it, looking at it and saying
7 Q. To use that number. I'm assuming you never got 7 [ want a young CEO, a young CFO, young marketing person,
8 your share of this commission? 8 and four or five menials and some admin and some
9 A. No. Ijustgot the contract signed and they 9 different things and this is what it would take to set it
10 got the money. 10 up.
11 Q. Okay. And whenIlook at this third page, it 11 How would you justify that? By giving it the
12 shows total cost 3.9 million, contract value seven 12 win of the initial contract, it gets you at break even,
13 million and still the same commissions? 13 right. And now it's just below, but what we're saying is
14 A. Yeah, it was done at five grand a month over 60| 14 we're taking money and paying it to Blueware. In the
15 months. 15 first three years, we probably wouldn't have moved that
16 Q. Okay. Why is it that the fota] cost actually 16 money back into Blueware,
17 exceed the contract value on the second spreadsheet and] 17 So basically this was a sheet that allowed each
18 they're barely more than half of the contract value on 18  of the markets to stand on their own. So if one failed,
19 the third? 19 the rest were protected. Rather than set the whole lot
20 A. Inregards to -- go on, explain to me again. 20 under Blueware, health care went down, we got a massive
21 Q. Ifyou look on the second page of the 21 lawsuit, yeah, and at the moment everything was sat under
22 spreadsheet, this shows total cost of 7.5 million.  And 22 Blueware. This enabled us to manage the business, have
23 In contract value just less than 7.5 million. It's 23 some really talented people at the top of each of the
24 7,449,000 24 industry streams and aliowed us to -- to do that without
25 A. Right, okay. You remember these are start up 25 any real set up cost because the contracts are paying for
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Page 225 Page 227
1 it. 1 were just looking at. It's from Sue Smith to you and I'm
2 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 19 was Marked for 2 marking it Plaintiff's Exhibit 19 for identification.
3 Identification.) 3 And if you could take a look at the e-mail in the
4 BY MR. RUSSELL: 4 attached Excel spreadsheet and tell us what we're looking
5 Q. Okay. Allright. 5 at on this one.
6 A. That's what I did at Blueware. That's 6 A. Because I traveled a lot of the time, going
7 basically what my job was, chief operations officer. So 7 back to when I first moved over to America, Rose was
8 we limit the risk, so we take away the insurance risk of 8 trying to manage cash and do everything together and we
9 health because your getting sued in health care is awful. 9 were laying off people, bringing back people and it got
10 Taking the government, separating it out. Taking the 10 to the point that I wasn't from an environment where
11 English market, separating it out. And if one went, the 11 people were Jaid -- in England you can't just lay
12 rest were still sound. And you can project profit and 12 somebody off for a week. You pay them if you lay them
13 loss and industry streams. Health care sits outside the 13 off. You just can't do it.
14 economy. 14 Here when they started laying people off and
15 In recession, health care is still strong. 15 they weren't getting paid, I was like it's not the
16 Usually when the business comes out of -~ when the 16 environment that I come from. And it's not an
17 country comes out of recession, health care weakens 17 environment that I necessarily agree with.
18 because it goes government has gotten more money so they| 18 Q. When -~ I'm sorry, when you say laid off for a
19 spend it in -- in different ways. But when -- when the 19 week, you mean like they were furloughed but they
20 recessions come in, people bank on health care. So they 20 weren't?
21 go for health care over salary because they want to feel 21 A. Paid.
22 safe. So if you're offered 60,000 with health care or a 22 Q. Employment wasn't terminated; right?
23 100,000 without, most people take the 60 with. So they 23 A. Yeah, they were just laid off for a couple of
24 know they're going to be fine and they can live and they 24 weeks or ten days or five days or. And they weren't
25 got that. So this was basically a projection to do that. 25 being paid.
Page 226 Page 228
1 And they were the commissions against each of the 1 Q. Isee
2 contracts. 2 A. And that's not an environment that I was
3 Bearing in mind at this point I wasn't going to 3 comfortable with. So I think the first thing that we
4 be working for Blueware as a straight employee, I was 4 needed to do before we looked at the state of the company
5 going to be working on my own under Blue 360. And the 5 was to look at getting it stable.
6 reason -- that's half the reason I wasn't staying because 6 So we come up with a thing called the cash
7 175 grand would have been the brains behind the operation 7 crunch so I'd know exactly what cash I got in the bank on
8 weren't cutting it anymore. And [ wasn't being paid the 8 the Monday, the receivables that were due in for the
9 commissions because Blueware never had any money because 9 week, expenditures, where the money was coming from,
10 it was being spent as quick as it came in. So this was 10 payrolls. And they were rough, round figures of what
11 to do that. Rose actually liked it. We went ouf as a 11 needed to be spent and bought on the day. And the e-mail
12 team. 12 refers to this.
13 THE COURT REPORTER: I'm sorry? 13 So basically we would self CHS or any of our
14 THE WITNESS: Rose liked it It enabled some 14 customers a scanner with maintenance, okay. And each
15 of the junior managers to step into some of them 15 year the company would or the hospital, the company would
16 roles. it didn't mean straight away that we go and 16 pay us for the maintenance on the scanner. And basically
17 buy -- go and get a new IT director. Some of the 17 because we were in such a cash position, we didn't always
18 kids that were coming up that had been trained in 18 buy the maintenance straight away. All right. So
19 Michigan were more than capable of doing that role 19 basically what we had to do was play a game where we
20 and some of them -- some of it would come from 20 couldn't let the maintenance go completely out of date
21 within inside and some of it would come from 21 because the reinstatement cost was more than the money
22 outside. 22 that came in from there.
23 BY MR. RUSSELL: 23 So what Sue is saying in here is changing cash
24 Q. Okay. Let me show you an e-mail dated 24 flow, we need to buy the scanner maintenance for Laredo.
25 February 24 of 2012, so about a month prior to the one we 25 So one of two things, Laredo needed maintenance from the
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1 manufacturer or it was coming out of the maintenance, all 1 about for the lawsuit in Boston from earlier. This
2 right. So that's what that e-mail says. Yeah. 2 263,000 is the figure that I believe was changed on the
3 So what you got then is Matt Dupree, lobbyist, 3 EDC thing.
4 we were behind so he was due 5,000 on the second of the 4 Q. Don't write on that. T justrealized you were
5 third and he was due 5,000 on the 30th of the third. 5 writing on the exhibit.
6 Q. When you say the second of the third and 30th 6 A. Oh, well.
7 of the third? 7 Q. It's okay. So you're making --
8 A. Third or second. 8 A. Yeah.
9 Q. You mean of March? 9 Q. You've made three check marks?
10 A. Yeah. 3/2, it's different here, isn't it? In 10 A. Yeah.
11 England we say 2, 4, 6, 8 is second to the fourth 9, 6, 11 Q. Next to the three last entries you discussed.
12 8. And in America you go. 12 A. So basically --
13 MR. ELLIS: Day, month, year. 13 MR. BERNBAUM: You want to mark Exhibit 207?
14 THE WITNESS: Yeah. So he was owed that money.| 14 MR. RUSSELL: You have any problem with that?
15 Mantis was a PR firm in England that Rose has got a 15 THE WITNESS: Can I draw on this one and keep
16 contract for 10,000 a month. Credit card payments, 16 this one for a minute?
17 so basically Rose -- I needed to pay $6,744 and one 17 MR. RUSSELL: Yeah.
18 of 31,000 on the American Express on the next day 18 THE WITNESS: So --
19 and then 50,000 needed to come out for American 19 BY MR. RUSSELL:
20 Express. American Express was running about 80 20 Q. Can you remind me what the number is, is it 197
21 grand a month. 21 A. Yeah. So the first one was a law firm in the
22 BY MR. RUSSELL: 22 UK. The second one was the Boston invoice that I tatked
23 Q. Where was most of that being spent on? 23 to you about. The third one was the debt on the licenses
24 A. Day-to-day, Rose's travel, anybody's travel 24 that I believe was the change made with the EDC that
25 that was booked for hotels, hired cars, pretty much the 25 talked about earlier. And it was more than I thought, it
Page 230 Page 232
1 business was run on the American Express card. Citizen's 1 was 263,000. But, then again, I think we may have made
2 Bank is in there, that would be to pay the note, but she 2 some payments of 1500 a month off those between the time
3 wasn't paying it. Employees expenses for the 10,000. 3 that this went in and the time -- the time that it was
4 And then you got the US and the UK payroll. And if you 4 done. Yeah. IBM were paid amounts each month down on
5 look, I explained earlier that you've got UK payroll, 5 that. 1 think 1t was about 150,000 by the time it come.
6 which is 10,000 at the beginning of the month and 15,000 6 IBM UK was for some service that we bought that
7 at the end of the month, yeah. And the UK one and the 7 we haven't paid for I series service. Qatalys is another
8 US one sifs at 73 each time. So we're looking at around 8 company the same as J20 that hadn't been paid. The CTO
3 $110,000 a month in payroll. 9 that you asked me if she employed any other CTOs or
10 Q. And this was all Blueware employees; right? 10 people at the beginning of the deposition, yeah, his name
11 A. Yeah. So we were negative, if you look at 11 was Jim Dyson and he was out of North Carolina. He was
12 there we were negative 17 -~ we were negative $17,176 on. 12 owed $13,000 and never paid.
13 Tuesday. We were 57,000 in the hole on Wednesday. We 13 Q. And you said CTO is chief technology officer?
14 had a large payment coming from Sussex for $400,000. 14 A. Chief technology officer and he was there to
15 Citizen's too 100,000 in the red. And then it went down 15 get involved in the rewrite. And the 160,000 went on top
16 and out through payrolls down to pretty much nothing. 16 of it more than that, it went to 250 at one point was
17 At the bottom is this is how Rose always paid 17 Dave Harr bailed out Blueware. Dave Harr is Rose's
18 legal and accounting first, local vendors and then people 18 ex-husband that owned a dental lab in Cadillac and he
19 that were on reminders. 19 lent money to Blueware as when it needed it.
20 Q. What does that mean, people on reminders? 20 He initially lent her about 400 grand I think
21 A. People that were going to shut us off if we 21 when she bought George out and that money went up and
22 didn't pay. Right. This is the bottom. So at the 22 down over the next period depending on where we were. Sd
23 bottom Taylor Wessing is a law firm -- Taylor Wessing is| 23 that's what there. That's the money we were expecting to
24 a law firm in England that Rose still owes $90,000 to 24 get in in the week. And this was done every week. So no
25 my -- she never paid. J2 is the invoices that [ talked 25 matter where I was in the world, I knew pretty much where
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1 we were, [ think I even had one sent to the clerk's 1 over the place. They didn't -- they didn't -- they
2 office once because they needed me to get it if we 2 weren't impressed with us at all really.
3 weren't -- you know, if the brackets got too big, then I 3 Q. Okay. As far as the managerial level folks
4 was on the phone to customers looking for maintenance to 4 tike Mitch and his right hand people like Sean and Mike,
5 be brought forward or we were looking to do another sale 5 did any of them ever express any concern that BlueGem
6 of software to an existing customer or maintenance. So 6 wouldn't be able to do the job?
7 pretty much that's what this is. 7 A. Yeah. I spoke to Matt in depth about it, |
8 Q. Okay. Did anyone at the clerk's office ever 8 told him that I wouldn't trust Rose to deliver pizzas for
9 raise any concern about BlueGem's ability to perform e Domino's, let alone a scanning contract. And Blueware,
10 under the scanning contract? 10 if you followed any of their efforts, have a very bad
11 A. Yeah. This is interesting. Let's go back a 11 history of delivery. And that's one of the things that
12 minute, I didn't see this. 12 we need to address quite quickly, The concern wasn't
13 MR. BERNBAUM: Well, let me -- I'm going to 13 there.
14 object, although it's your question. I would like 14 Q. Okay. We had started to move on away from
15 him to respond to the question you asked unless you 15 Exhibit 19 and you indicated that there was something
16 want to reask it rather than having an ongoing 16 clse of interest on there. So I'll give you a chance to
17 narrative as we've had. 17 explain that before we move on.
18 THE WITNESS: Right, okay. 18 A. Ifyou go back --
19 MR. RUSSELL: It's okay. I'll let him go. 19 MR. BERNBAUM: Objection, form.
2 THE WITNESS: The scanning contracts -- 20 A. If you go back, I looked at the first sheet,
21 MR. BERNBAUM: Note my objection to the lack of| 21 which was a cash crunch. The second sheet was us moving
22 a question and the non responsiveness. 22 money. And now at the time I indicated earlier that Rose
23 THE WITNESS: Well, I'm not. I want to go back 23 needed an entrepreneur Visa. So she needed to lodge
24 and answer it. 24 250,000 pounds or $300,000, whichever it may be on the
25 MR. BERNBAUM: I know, I'm just putting it on 25 currency on the day to that point. So around $320,000
Page 234 Page 236
1 the record. Did you get that, lack of a question 1 needed be to be safe, needed to be put and made available
2 and the lack of responsiveness? 2 for the entrepreneur Visa, so we needed to indicate it in
3 THE WITNESS: In answering your question - 3 an account. Blueware doesn't have $320,000 or didn't
4 MR. RUSSELL: Hold on. Whenever he's putting 4 have $320,000 to hold in an account. So we needed to
5 an objection on the record, we have to stop because 5 come up with some really interesting way of showing that
6 her fingers will get tied in a knot. 6 we did.
7 A. There was Lori Rice said that it was a lot more 7 So what we did was we collected a Jot of money,
8 complicated than we believed it would be, so did Debbie 8 we collected a lot of money that was coming in. The CHS
9 Puckett. 9 costly check, didn't pay anybody for a few days and
10 BY MR. RUSSELL: 10 collected the maintenance on a really good month and had
11 Q. So these were some of the ladies up in 11 $320,000 in First Bank. Then what I did was I lodged it
12 Titusville who were not big fans of Scott Ellis, I'm 12 as a CD, yeah, so she showed 300 and then [ ran a line of
13 sorry, of Mitch Needelman? 13 credit against the CD to 320,000.
14 A. Yeah. No, but I think in fairness to them, by 14 BY MR. RUSSELL:
15 this point they were more concemed about the records. 15 Q. And started paying people again?
16 As custodians of the record, they were more concerned 16 A. And started paying people again. So when we
17 that we were going to come in and destroy them and to a 17 sent the bank account in Rose's name to England, it
18 point that they couldn't rescue them. So I think they 18 showed $320,000 as a balance. So what this is on the
19 were being quite genuine when they had some concerns, 19 second page is the first part is Honigman is Rose's CD
20 which I don't blame them. 20 and that was the date it was in there. And this is the
21 When we asked them what their retention period 21 money coming down on the line of credit. So Honigman,
22 was, [ thought they thought they were going to die 22 the attorney, was owed 47,000. King was -- King & King,
23 because we had no knowledge. You know, they asked ushow| 23 the attorneys, were owed 27,000. The interest on the
24 many court -- Florida court files have you scanned? 24 account and that's where it was sat, so 60,000 left on
25 None. You know, it was just like -- their eyes were all 25 the line of credit.
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1 So then they moved Blueware First Bank 174 from 1 for 20 grand.
2 Blueware to the CD for Rose. So we were building the CD 2 Q. Yeah. And that's {ine. I'm looking here at
3 at this point. And then a check from Rose for 10,000 3 this item on the third page of this spreadsheet it says
4 posted for clearing because we needed to pay payroll and 4 moved to CD 1/3/11, $174,000.
5 we couldn't clear it because we couldn't touch the CD 5 A. Yeah, that was to make the 320. So you got to
6 money because we were building it to 320. Then what we 6 remember they're collecting the revenues from the
7 did was we deleted the check and sent it and moved it to 7 business. We're collecting everything that comes in
8 Rose Harr CD. So we were basically at this point - 8 maintenance over a period of time and paying over it. So
9 Q. Are you referring to the $30,000 check? 9 the 174 may have came from CHS or a different vendor or
10 A, Yeah. 10 it could be four checks coming to 174,000, Then it was
11 Q. Rather than the ten? 11 moved to the CD and then we paid everybody off using the
12 A. Yeah. Sowe deleted it from the Blueware 12 line of credit but showing that Rose got 320 grand in her
13 account and put it into the CD account. 1t couldn't be 13 account.
14 in a Blueware account, it had to be in Rose's. So we 14 Q. Twas just noticing it's the same amount as
15 were moving money from Blueware into Rose's account, 15 moved from CD to Rose back in if looks like in November
16 building a CD and then running a line of credit. So 16 0f 2011, but I can't reaily tell. On the last page, the
17 that's what that shows there. So basically what Sue is 17 previous page.
18 saying by the time we done that, we're broke, we got zero 18 A. All I'm telling you is they were -- we were
19 balance. 19 moving money to make it her Visa.
20 What the next shows is how we did it. Money 20 Q. Right.
21 was paid into Adam's bank in England, which is the 21 A. Moving money backwards and forwards. So we
22 Blueware bank account for England. So IBM made a paymen{ 22 weren't paying anybody, we built it up enough to get the
23 0f 40,000. Yep. And then it was transferred into the 23 320 and then I ran a line of credit.
24 Citizen's Bank 1o do that, That there is a check for 24 Q. Got you.
25 36,750. 1paid that out of my personal account to make 25 A. Getting 0.65 percent on the CD and paying two
Page 238 Page 240
1 payroll because we didn't have -- 1 bits above base on the line of credit.
2 Q. You paid the employees and Blueware paid you 2 Q. Okay.
3 back, is that how it happened? 3 A. Which T thought was quite a smart move to have
4 A. Yeah. So 36,750. 4 no money and show that we have 320 grand.
5 Q. What's the $100,000 from Citizens? 5 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 20 was Marked for
6 A. That was moved from a different account 6 Identification.)
7 either -- 7 BY MR. RUSSELL:
8 Q. Isaid from, I meant to Citizens. 8 Q. Allright. I'would like to show you now an
9 A. So Citizens is where Roseware was such they 9 invoice dated June 29 of 2012 in the amount of $50,000
10 were doing some moving around for the CDs. 10 which we marked Exhibit 20 for identification. You
11 Q. Okay. This wire for Mich Street, is that short 11 recognize that invoice?
12 for Michigan Street? 12 A. No. I'd gone.
13 A. Which page are you on? 13 Q. That was after you left?
14 Q. That third page about halfway down the list 14 A. Yeah.
15 below 12/20/11 deposit. 15 Q. Okay. That may make things clear. June 29 was
16 A. That was for -- that was for Rose and I bought 16 the date of the scanning contract?
17 a house. Iput 10,000 in, she had put 10,000 in and we 17 A. Yeah.
18 bought on Michigan Avenue, that's why it's not Michigan 18 Q. That we've identified as an exhibit here;
19 Street, it's Michigan Avenue. And we bought it in 19 correct?
20 BRluelands' name. So Rose and bought a house for 20,000, 20 A Yeah
21 we spent five grand on it and flipped it for 45. Do you 21 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 21 was Marked for
22 understand what I mean? 2z Identification.)
23 Q. 1do. 23 BY MR. RUSSELL:
24 A. So that basically went to the closing company 24 Q. Allright. I'm showing you another invoice now
25 with my -- and it was matched by my 10,000, we bought it 25 that we're marking Exhibit 21 and this one is also dated
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1 June 29 and the amount is 40,000 instead of 50. Do you 1 they reduced it to 40.
2 recognize that invoice? 2 Q. 1sce.
3 A. Nope. 3 A. SoTknow -- I know there was a $40,000 a month
4 Q. Do you see where it says -- and there's kind of 4 payment, but the contract that you asked me about didn't
5 amemo block right over here. And if you see the second 5 have the 40 in it.
6 line of that 1t says digital pen pilot project. 6 Q. Okay.
7 A. That had been already paid for in my opinion 7 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 24 was Marked for
8 for the 40,000 in May whether they amended it or extended 8 Identification.)
9 it. 9 BY MR. RUSSELL:
10 Q. That's what I was going to ask you about. 10 Q. Now I'm going to show you another SunTrust wire
11 A. Thave no idea. 11 transfer document indicating the $40,000 payment to the
12 Q. Earlier you said that the digital pen was 12 clerk on July 9, 2012. Have you ever seen this document
13 incorporated into the main contract -- 13 before?
14 A, Tt was initially, 14 A. No.
15 Q. -- and then done under a separate. Okay. 15 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 25 was Marked for
16 A, The pilot was separate for 40,000. So there 16 Identification.)
17 should be a digital pen pilot for 40 grand. Then the 17 BY MR. RUSSELL:
18 rest of it was incorporated within the main contract, but 18 Q. Sir, I'm going to show you now a composite of
19 it looks like it's been slightly separated again on the 19 some invoices for billable expenses and ask you if you
20 schedules. 20 recognize this invoice. And since it's dated after you
21 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 22 was Marked for 21 left, I'm assuming the answer is no. But have you seen
22 Identification.) 22 similar invoices by Blueware or BlueGem?
23 BY MR. RUSSELL: 23 MR. BERNBAUM: Let me object to the form.
24 Q. Okay. I'm now showing you a wire transfer 24 MR. RUSSELL: Yeah, it was a bad compound
25 document from SunTrust indicating the Clerk of Court wire| 25 question.
Page 242 Page 244
1 transferred $90,000 to BlueGem, LLC on June 29th, 2012, 1 BY MR. RUSSELL:
2 A. Ihave no idea what that is. 2 Q. Sir, have you ever seen this document that we
3 Q. Okay. No knowledge of that? 3 marked Exhibit 25 for identification?
4 A. No. 4 A. No.
5 Q. Okay. And Irealize that that's going to 5 Q. Have you ever seen invoices for billable
6 continue being the case, I just want to have a clean 6 expenses created by BlueGem or Blueware?
7 record. 7 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form.
8 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 23 was Marked for 8 A. Yes. Tknow about the 6,000 for Richard
9 Identification.) ) Sargent for the proof of concepts scanning.
10 BY MR. RUSSELL: 10 THE COURT REPORTER: For what?
11 Q. Mr. Geaney, now I'm showing you a June 29 11 THE WITNESS: For the proof of concepts
12 invoice -- wait a minute, is that the same? Give me just 12 scanning. Iknew about that.
13 one second. Another June 29 invoice in the amount of 13 BY MR. RUSSELL:
14 $40,000, but this one differs from the last because this 14 Q. Proof of?
15 one is invoice number 999103 and the other $40,000 15 A. Proof of concept. Basically it's a pilot, but
16 invoice was 999105. And this one references a monthly 16 a bit more than a pilot -- it's a bit less than a pilot.
17 payment for July 2012. 17 Basically a pilot in the terms that they talk about here
18 Is that consistent with the scanning contract 18 is when we go to the system live and we mess with the
19 that you delivered to Mr. Needelman on May 23, 20129 19 system live and we run with the clerk staff using the
20 A. No. 20 digital pen in a day-to-day environment.
21 Q. Okay. So it didn't have a monthly payment of 21 A proof of concept basically allows us to sit
29 40,0002 22 on the system and run alongside the clerk staff and not
53 A. No, it was greater than that. 1 know that the 23 use and interfere with the day-to-day process that
24 payment was changed before -- so the payment on the 23rd] 24 they're doing today. So we can demonstrate to the clerk
25 of June was around 100,000, McDaniel wouldn't pay it, so| 25 of the court staff that the pen works in a concept form.
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1 A pilot would be the next stage where we would 1 A, Yep.

2 say that you've got to stop using a normal pen and a 2 Q. Who is she?

3 piece of paper and you've got to use a digital pen. This 3 A. She is the IT help desk technical person, the

4 is basically saying we're running along your normal 4 person that understands scanning within Blueware,

5 system and we can demonstrate that it works. So a proof 5 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 26 was Marked for

6 of concept is like a precursor to a full blown pilot. 6 Identification.)

7 Q. And this is expense incurred by BlueGem paid to 7 BY MR. RUSSELL:

8 Richard Sargent? 8 Q. I'm showing you an invoice now number 999110

9 A. Yeah. Basically -- 9 dated July 11, 2012, This is a Roseware invoice. Do you
10 Q. And Dave Collins? 10 recognize that document?
11 A. Yeah. So Dave Collins is the technical guy for 11 A. No, Idon't. Butlknow what it is.
12 Digital IQ. So basically Richard Sargent as and Dave 12 Q. Okay. What is it?
13 Collins have put their plane fares and their hotels into 13 A. We had on numerous occasions put expenses into
14 the time that they were here and whatever meals and 14 the clerk for the IT contract. And because we didn't
15 invoiced Blueware and Blueware passed it on. 15 understand the roles around Florida state's expenses, we
16 Q. Did -- under any contract you ever saw, did 16 were billing real and actual expenses and there is a
17 Blueware have the right o pass on expenses that Blueware| 17 limit on or I believe there is a limit on what can be
18 was supposed to pay someone else? 18 claimed
19 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form. 19 So from coming out of state, initially there
20 A. Tt was a Blueware contract or BlueGem contract. 20 were plane tickets in there and lots of different things.
21 So they were contracted and working on Blueware's behalfl 21 And when I left in June, there were two or three attempts
22 so I would -- being as Digital IQ had no direct dealings 22 for these April and May dates to get the money out of the
23 with the clerk, I would say that it would be a valid 23 clerk's office, but they wouldn't sanction them because
24 expense put in by Blueware because Blueware is the prime| 24 we didn't meet the proper criteria for claiming expenses.
25 on the contract for digital pen. And Richard Sargent -- 25 Q. Okay.

Page 246 Page 248

1 and I can't believe I'm defending Rose here. 1 A. And these -- that's about when I left that they

2 And so being as Blueware are the prime on the 2 were claiming. So they were all the time that was there,

3 contract and Digital 1Q are effectively working for 3 so it's about right.

4 Blueware or BlueGem, I would think it would be right that 4 Q. Okay.

5 Blueware/BlueGem bill the clerk and not the digital pen 5 A. So it took until July for them to get it right.

6 company because they have no contract with that and 6 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 27 was Marked for

7 they're just saying claiming their expenses and passing 7 Identification.)

8 them on. 8 BY MR. RUSSELL:

9 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This is the end of our video 9 Q. I'm going to show you a document now that
10 number four. We're going off the record at 4:23. 10 purports to be an amendment to BlueGem, LLC Brevard
11 (A break was taken.) 11 County Clerk of the Court contract dated June 29, 2012
12 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Back on therecord at4:24. { 12 and you'll see that this references amendment to the
13 This is the beginning of media number five. 13 scanning contract. Have you ever seen this amendment
14 THE WITNESS: Going back to finish answering 14 before?
15 your question. There's a fair chance that Blueware 15 A. No.
16 would have paid or BlueGem would have paid for the 16 Q. Before you left, was there discussion of an
17 plane tickets to fly Richard and Dave over. So the 17 early payoff to make sure that Rose would get her money
18 actual invoices for the plane tickets would have 18 before Needelman left office?
19 probably been in Blueware's name, which is another 19 A. No, he couldn't borrow money. So that was the
20 reason that they probably would have done that. 20 risk, that's why the poison pill was put in there. If it
21 BY MR. RUSSELL: 21 could have been paid earlier, there was no need for the
22 Q. Ifyou look over at the third page of expenses 22 poison pill.
23 there's reference to Elaine Sladek. 23 Q. Do you have any knowledge of Rose or anyone
24 A. Sladek. 24 else talking to Hewlett Packard Financial Services or any
25 Q. Sladek. S-L-A-D-E-K. Do you know who that is? 25 other lender trying to somehow finance an early payout or
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1 the contract? 1 offered it to me after I finished at Blueware, but 1 said
2 A. No. Well, IBM, IBM initially we looked -- we 2 I would only take it on an invoice with a 1099 because |
3 look at leasing and financing to get -- to get to factor 3 was pretty sure of what was going down. I might be
4 our revenues as quick as we can. This in my opinion 4 green, but I'm not cabbage looking. So, you know. [
5 didn't fit that criteria because less than 50 percent was 5 wouldn't take it. So I didn't take the money.
6 cither -- was in software or it wasn't ten service. 6 It wasn't for personally me, it was an invoice
7 So, no, we did have -- we have -- Blueware had 7 to Blue 360. But Matt wanted to just give it to me as a
8 a very good relationship with IBM. IBM at no point would 8 drop and I refused to accept it.
9 have lent Blueware this money, we didn't have the credit 9 Q. Isee. Allright. Did you ever participate in
10 rating to do so. We tried to lease purchase an [ series 10 Mitch Needelman's reelection campaign in any way other
11 box for Genesis Health Systems in early 2011 and we 11 than obviously the payments for various things through
i2 didn't have the credit rating to do it because of the 12 Blueware?
13 money owed to IBM. So the deal was structured in a 13 A. No, I never stole any of Scott Ellis' banners
14 different way where Genesis Lease purchased it and we 14 or did anything that would indicate me doing anything,.
1 just picked up the commission payment of about 30 or 15 Q. No bumper sticker?
16 40,000 for it. 16 A. No, no bumper stickers.
17 And as we got to HP, I've met with HP in the 17 Q. Okay.
18 UK, we looked at being a prime -- they looked at us as a 18 A. @'was very adamant that Blueware should stay
19 prime applications vendor so basically Blueware Wellness 19 neutral in that campaign because, you know, putting your
20 Connection if it ever got to Best Bond on Unix being the 20 eggs in one basket in an election race being as a vendor
21 method to go to market for HP. We had met numerous times] 21 was extremely risky. So I was erring on the caution of
22 in the United Kingdom with those, as well as CSC, the 22 we should stay vendor neutral, we should sit there
23 Computer Science Corporation of America, we met with 23 neufral as a vendor, but that never sort of went that
24 those. 24 way.
25 But HP dealings were primary -- were solely in 25 Q. While you were employed with Blueware, can you
Page 250 Page 252
1 the UK with a couple of guys came up to that, as well as 1 say how much money that was paid to Blueware by the
2 Dell. We looked at using Dell as well at some point. 2 clerk's office was funneled back to Needelman or Dupree?
3 But in regards to this contract, no. But we have had 3 A. There was the initial -~
4 dealings with both HP and Dell to some extent in the 4 MR. BERNBAUM: Wait, stop you from writing on
5 past. 5 there.
6 Q. Okay. 6 BY MR. RUSSELL:
7 A. But primary with IBM. 7 Q. Here you go.
8 Q. Letme take you back to something we had 8 A. The initial 10,000 that I know of. The 30,000.
9 discussed carlier and I'm able to weed out some of my 9 Another 10,000. And the 90,000. And the 90,000.
10 notes here, but one thing | wanted to ask, I thought I 10 Q. So 140,000 that you're aware of?
11 saw an indication in an e-mail or somewhere saying that 11 A. Around 140,000. ThatI can think of. And then
12 your dispute with Rose Harr was in part because she 12 the 5,000 a month.
13 wanted the commission payment to come from Matt Dupree or| 13 Q. ToDupree?
14 did I read something wrong? 14 A. ToDupree. So around 165, 170 in the time that
15 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form. 15 I'was there including those.
16 BY MR. RUSSELL.: 16 Q. Are you aware of any kickbacks or payoffs,
17 Q. Yeah, it was not a great question. Let me ask 17 bribes or other payments that went to anybody else
18 you a better question. With regard to the commissions 18 besides those two out of the money that was paid by the
19 that you felt you were owed before you left Blueware or 19 office of the Clerk of Court to Blueware?
20 when you left Blueware, did Rose Harr or other Blueware 20 A. Not to Blueware. [ was aware of other
21 representatives ever suggest to you that you shouid 21 kickbacks going on, but not from Blueware.
22 receive that payment from Matt Dupree? 22 Q. What other kickbacks were you aware of?
23 A. Atsome point, yeah, there was a $25,000 23 A. T'was aware of a Cocoa Expo dealer that I
24 payment that was going to come from Matt Dupree when | 24 talked about earlier where that was happening and I was
25 started to initially for me to start Blue 360, Matt 25 aware of the Jason Steele deal.
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1 Q. What was the Jason Steele deal? 1 identification. And they appear to be primarily
2 A. Where he had done -- he had done the state 2 correspondences between Kelly Dwan Geaney or is it Dwan?
3 780,000 and Matt got 38 for moving the invoice. 3 A. Dwan.
4 Q. Oh, okay. You told us that, 4 Q. Kelly Dwan Geaney?
5 A.  We paid Doug Guetzloe the $5,000. There was 5 A. Yeah,
6 the Axe the Tax kickback from. 6 Q. And representatives of the clerks office back
7 Q. The 157 7 in the summer of 2012. Do you recognize -- I'll give you
8 A. Yeah, the 15,000. There was something going on 8 a minute to flip through those and then tell me if you
9 with a guy out of Connecticut that was doing some 9 recognize those as communications to and from your wife?
10 marketing. 10 A. Yeah.
11 Q. Do you know someone named Brian West? 11 Q. You had mentioned making at least more than one
12 A. Oh, Brian West. There was a deal going on, and 12 public record request to the office of the Clerk of the
13 I don't know too much about it, so I better be careful 13 Court; correct?
14 what I say. And it was something to do with a house 14 A, Yes.
15 taken from property tax or for lack of taxes or a 15 Q. And this was shortly afler your departure from
16 property and -- 16 Blueware?
17 Q. You mean foreclosed upon? 17 A Yep.
18 A. Yeah. Or to be about to be foreclosed upon. 18 Q. Okay. Are these the public record requests you
19 And there was a deal -- there was a deal where somebody| 19 were talking about?
20 sued the Clerk of the Court's office for a million bucks. 20 A. Some of them.
21 And Needelman, the property appraiser, West and Dupree] 21 Q. Okay. Did you ever make any in your own
22 got together and there was some deal for $325,000 as an 22 writing or did Kelly make all of them for you?
23 out of court settlement or something. 1 don't really 23 A. Well, because [ wasn't classed as legal alien,
24 know too much about it. 24 we didn't know where we stood legally and they knew it.
25 Q. Okay. 25 So Kelly -- we used Kelly's e-mail to do it.
Page 254 Page 256
1 A. Butlwas just listening to the phone calls 1 Q. Isee.
2 coming backwards and forwards. 2 A. And it was basically just to wind them up. If
3 Q. Okay. Did you ever work for BlueGem or 3 you look at them in here, there's some missing, the early
4 Roseware | mean as an employee of those companies? 4 ones are not here. There's one e-mail where she asked if
5 A. Like I said, anybody that worked for Blueware 5 she was a man because she responded to me a lot quicker,
6 worked for all entities. 6 that's in here.
7 Q. Okay. Where did your paychecks come from? 7 Q. It'sin here, yeah.
8 A. Michigan Blueware, 8 A. And it was basically that we were -- the reason
9 Q. Okay. 9 this was -- the reason this was done was I finished from
10 A. Inc. 10 Blueware on the 4th of June and then I did nothing. Rose
11 Q. Okay. Ihave one last exhibit, 11 was expecting me to come and go in this blazing and I
12 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 28 was Marked for 12 didn't do anything. So on the Monday 1 didn't do
13 Identification.) 13 anything. On the Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday, [ didn'
14 MR. BERNBAUM: Off the record. 14 do nothing,
15 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Going off the record? 15 On the Friday I sent an e-mail. On the
16 MR. BERNBAUM: We don't have to go off the 16 Thursday -- on the Thursday I got a recorded delivery
17 record, I forgot. That was the extra copy he wrote 17 letter from Smith & Associates saying thank you for your
18 on, I pulled it out. 18 resignation from Blueware. And so -- and at the same
19 MR, RUSSELL: Got you, 19 time a press release came out saying that I resigned and
20 MR. BERNBAUM: The new original is already in} 20 she wished me the best for the future. 1sent a very
21 there. So that's yours. 21 curt e-mail to Emily DeBoer, who is HR in Michigan, ang
22 MR. RUSSELL: Got it. Thank you. 22 said remove it in 24 hours or I'll tell them why I'm
23 BY MR. RUSSELL: 23 really not there. So that came down.
24 Q. Okay. Tam now going to show you a composite 24 And they were demanding that I send in my
25 of e-maii correspondences that I marked Exhibit 28 for 25 laptop that I personally owned back to Blueware. And so
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1 they could take all the stuff off it. And 1 said, yeah, i being very specific in the way that we asked the
2 not happening, absolutely no way. And then I did nothing 2 questions.
3 for a week. Rose reacts on -~ on a vent. She's reactjve 3 Q. [Isee that you initially sought records related
4 rather than proactive. So I set there and did nothing, 4 to the ITN, vendor responses and scoring of the vendors.
5 absolutely did nothing for a week. 5 Now why did you request those records?
6 The next Thursday Susan Smith phoned and said 6 A, Tknew that Blueware had written the I'TN,
7 Rose would like to solve this amicably, what do you want. 7 right, and I could prove everything because I got enough
8 And then from that point it got out of hand going 8 on my e-mail to do it. And the scoring responses I knew
9 backwards and forwards. And at some point at the end of} S that Blueware were going to be out by a field in front.
10 June I demanded my personnel file and the resignation 10 They knew by me asking for those that I had enough within
11 letter that I'd written. 11 my laptop to bring them down at that point.
12 And I got an e-mail back from Susan Smith 12 Q. Yeah. And then I notice in the June 11 e-mail
13 saying, yes, Nick, not an issue, I'll get your i3 the request is broadened to include records regarding or
14 resignation letter and your personnel file over to you by 14 contract with Source 2 outsourcing and contracts or
15 the end of the day. 4:00 she phones me and says I can't 15 payments -- contracts with or payments to Matt Dupree.
16 act anymore, I can't act anymore, this has got to go back 16 A.  Yeah, that was just sort of to piss him off.
17 to Michigan's aftomeys. 17 Q. And my understanding is that the clerk's office
18 What had happened was Rose had told Sue Smith 18 via Sean Campbell and Merrily Longacre essentially
19 that the resignation letter was in Michigan and I never 19 stalled and said we think some of these documents are
20 resigned, so there was never a resignation letter. So [ 20 exempt and we're going to need to review them?
21 then I got on with the Michigan attorneys and we got into| 21 A, Well, firstly, only Campbell replied. Then
22 a massive to-ing and fro-ing and frying to settle out of 22 Kelly sent the e-mail saying because she responded to
23 court for about six weeks. And -- and I didn't really 23 Nick instantly is it because I'm 2 woman and the minute
24 get any response on these records until somebody on 24 he did that he got Longacre involved. And she basically
25 Scott's behalf or Scott had got ahold of Kelly's Facebook 25 tried 1o get to the point where she was just saying under
Page 258 Page 260
1 and put a message on there, I hear you're no longer at 1 statute this, this, this, and this.
2 Blueware, do you want to talk. 2 So then we started to chase the statutes and in
3 So what I did was I said you're not responding 3 the end Susan Smith sent me a letter saying you better
4 to our personal records request. I photo shopped the 4 cease and desist or we're going to do this, that and that
5 message from Scott or whoever had sent it and sent it to 5 and then were going to sue you for this, that and the
6 Campbell and said, well, maybe you'll answer to this. If 6 other. And I said I ain't got anything, right, you can't
7 you won't give me the answers, I'll ask this guy. Within 7 sue a man that ain't got anything, right, go for it.
8 20 minutes I got Longacre all over us and them saying 8 Q. Did they ever produce any records, the clerk's
9 we'll do what we can, you know, what you want, where are 9 office?
10 you at. 10 A. No
11 And then basically we were tried to be starved 11 Q. And eventually you told them that you no longer
12 out. They kept getting to a settlement point and then 12 needed the records. Why?
13 pulling back. Getting to a settlement point and then 13 A. Huh?
14 pulling back. And the clection was getting nearer. So 14 Q. Yeah, if you look --
15 if I was going to act, I needed to do it. So I gave them 15 A. Yeah, I know. Itold them that because they
16 a week. And they said, yes, yes, we're going to settle. 16 said if T withdrew the request, they would settle,
17 And then on the Friday morning she said no, so that's 17 Q. The clerk's office told you that or?
18 when [ did the press release. 18 A. Susan Smith. Right. Because Susan -- see
19 But this was to-ing and fro-ing. Basically 1 19 these are supposed to be private.
20 knew the contract had been paid and signed. The cost 20 Q. The Blueware Susan Smith?
21 containment had been paid. And I knew that they hadn't 21 A. Yes. No, the lawyer. So I was putting these
22 uploaded them. And I knew the people on the other side 22 requests in, Campbell was giving them to Rose Harr, Rose
23 of the election campaign were watching the public records | 23 Harr was giving them to Susan Smith and Susan Smith was
24 requests. So by me doing this, I was basically telling 24 threatening me. And I kept saying I thought that these
25 them what was happening without saying anything. By me] 25 were supposed to be private, so how come that you got
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1 copies of them. 1 THE WITNESS: Stuffed.

2 Q. Why was Campbell giving them to Rose Harr? 2 BY MR. RUSSELL:

3 A. Because they -- because they were ~- if this 3 Q. To get stuffed.

4 got out or I could prove that these were false, they were 4 A. Basically did nothing. So this was a notice of

5 all in trouble. So the minute that I put the request in, 5 my -- a letter of my resignation. So it went from that

6 Campbell was giving them straight to Rose Harr who was 6 to I was fired for embezzlement and then it went from

7 giving them to Susan Smith. 7 that T was fired for attempted embezzlement and then I

8 Q. Okay. And Susan Smith the lawyer? 8 was fired for being too aggressive in my confract

9 A. Yes. 9 negotiations.
10 Q. Where is she based? 10 So when it -- in the deposition that was done
11 A. Down the road here on Riverside, Smith & 11 by Rose late last year in my civil case, which you got a
12 Associates. 12 copy of, states that I was very aggressive and bullying
13 Q. Okay. 13 in the way that I moved, but initially I resigned and
14 A. She was the -- she did a lot of the 14 then I got letters saying that I embezzled money, which I
15 incorporation to the Florida stuff. She also started 15 didn't, and that was never taken.
16 working on a confract, a back to back contract between 16 Q. Okay. In this letter they're saying that you
17 Blueware and Matt Dupree that basically saying and Rose} 17 owed Blueware $38,731; right?
18 wanted it to say that basically no matter what we paid 18 A. Yeah.
19 Matt, what he did with it was nothing to do with us. 19 Q. Did they ever tell you why you allegedly owed
20 Like a, you know what I mean, like a back to back 20 Blueware money?
21 contract. So she was working on that and a couple of 21 A. No. She'd made up stuff that -- the furniture
22 property deals and some other bits and the EDC withour | 22 and stuff like that that was in the house in Florida
23 Michigan attorneys. 23 which was a gift and other stuff. It was just rubbish.
24 Q. I'm going to show you -- [ know I said we were 24 She ended up doing one initially eventually that come to
25 finished with exhibits, but this just got put in my 25 87,000, which was just bull.

Page 262 Page 264

1 hands. 1 Q. And they also said your L-1A Visa was no longe:

2 A. And you only got one? 2 valid because they had notified your termination fo

3 Q. Yeah, Tonly have one. Let's see, we're at 29, 3 USCIS?

4 right, Yvette? 4 A. Yeah, yeah. They basically tried to force me

5 THE COURT REPORTER: Yes. 5 back into the UK.

6 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 29 was Marked for 6 Q. And then they wanted you to hand over your

7 Identification.) 7 laptop?

8 BY MR. RUSSELL: 8 A. Yeah. Weren't going to happen, I owned it.

9 Q. Tl let opposing counsel review that before 1 9 Q. Right. Did you actually respond to Ms. DeBoer?
10 hand it over. Okay. Here you are, Mr. Geaney, it's a 10 A. No. I found Sue Smith, it came from her
11 June 4, 2012 letter which I have marked Exhibit 29 for|] 11 processer.
12 identification. 12 Q. Okay.
13 A. Yeah, yeah. 13 A. And then see when you -~ I spoke to Emily, 1
14 Q. Do you recognize that document? 14 wasn't allowed to speak to anybody. The next letter that
15 A. Yep. 15 came said that everything had to be gone through Steve
16 Q. Okay. Who is it from? 16 King. So I basically found him and told him to get
17 A. Emily DeBoer, the human services officer, but 17 stuffed as well.
18 it came from Smith & Associates. 18 Q. @ want to ask you about your familiarity with a
19 Q. Isee. And it was directed to you? 19 number of entities now. And hopefully we can move
20 A. Yep. 20 through this section quickly. You talked about Source 2
21 Q. Okay. Did you take any action in response to 21 Did you ever have any meetings with Source 27
22 that letter? 22 A. Yeah, I met Dave Nuxol on two occasions.
23 A. Yeah, I'told them to get stuffed. 23 Q. Okay. What were those meetings about?
24 THE COURT REPORTER: To get what? 24 A. The first one was in regards to moving some
25 25 more staff potentially from the scanning contract or the
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1 IT contract to Source 2. 1 of New York and it had nine women and one guy on it and
2 And then the second one was where Matt Dupree 2 we met once in Palm Beach in Florida. So she flew this
3 was trying to broker the Blueware employees to become 3 advisory board down and she didn't like what they said,
4 Source 2 employees. But that was never going to {ly. 4 so she never had another one.
5 Q. Right. 5 Q. Okay. Was the guy named Dallas Ustrud?
6 A. Because the intent -- the incentives from the 6 A. Yeah, ] think it was.
7 state were measured purely on the amount of W-2s that 7 THE COURT REPORTER: How do you spell that?
8 were registered in Florida as employees at the end of 8 MR. RUSSELL: U-S-T-R-U-D.
9 each financial year. So if T outsourced them to -~ if I 9 BY MR. RUSSELL:
10 outsourced them to Source 2, it would be myself and Roset 10 Q. What time period was this meeting with that
11 and the people from Michigan and no other employees. 11 advisory board?
12 Nuxol and Dupree said they could do a work 12 A, It's when Nancy Barr was there who was the ]T
13 around on that, but for me that was just too complicated. 13 director out of Cheboygan who joined Blueware. So Nancy,
14 The other thing he tried to do was to get us to join 14 myself, and Rose went down. So it would be in 2011 at
15 their health care, United -- the health care, where they 15 some point. And I don't know, Florida is always hot, I
16 got 100,000 and it's cheaper because all these different 16 know it was really hot and there was lots of
17 entities are in it. But it was all blah, blah, blah, and 17 thunderstorms. So I don't know.
18 it was very catly. 18 We met -- we met at this place and they
18 Q. Okay. 1e basically Rose gave this presentation and the women were
20 A. You know, we hadn't even got a building let 20 ripping pieces out of it saying where is your operational
21 alone and the incentive by that point. So it was very 21 budget, where is this, where is that, where is the men on
22 early to talk about it. 22 the ground, but she didn't like what she heard and never
23 Q. You mention something there you didn't have a 23 had another one.
24 building. At some point Blueware did purchase a building 24 Q. What about the other board, you said she had
25 here in Melbourne; right? 25 two?
Page 266 Page 268
1 A, After I went. 1 A. Then she was looking to build a second board as
2 Q. Ol it was after. Okay. Where they were 2 1 left Blueware and she was asking people like Susan
3 leasing space before then? 3 Smith to be on it and the lady out of the chambers of
4 A. They rented two offices at Riverside for 1500 4 commerce, and a doctor who owns a really big house in
5 bucks a month and then they bought Riverside -- they 5 Melbourne and the house is called Shangri-La, it's huge,
6 bought the big building when they got the 6.1 after I'd 6 and he was one of the partners at Osler and some other
7 gone, 7 people, Matt Dupree.
8 Q. Did they ever rent space at the Reinman Harrell 8 Q. Do you know if Dallas Ustrud was among that
9 building? 9 group as well?
10 A. Reinman Harrell building? 10 A. He was invited to some summit at some point,
11 Q. You're saying - 11 but I don't know if he was on the board.
12 A. The Riverside building is -- is that the 12 Q. What do you mean a summit?
13 Reinman Harrell building? 13 A. She had a summit at Eau Gallie Yacht Club that
14 Q. Did Blueware ever have an advisory board? 14 actually happened after I went, but he was invited to
15 A. 1t had two. 15 that. Same as some people from HP in the UK that we'd
16 Q. Okay. 16 had some dealings with earlier in 2011,
17 A. Rose read this book and it's called a Blueprint 1 Q. Did ever you meet Dallas Ustrud?
18 to a Billion. And it's basically a guy has done research 18 A. No, not that I can remember.
19 on seven countries -- seven companies that have gone toa| 2 Q. You ever talk to him?
20 billion dollars from nothing using the seven same 20 A. No.
21 concepts. And there's people at Harley Davidson, 21 Q. Tthink you said you never had authority to
22 Starbucks, in that. And part of this thing is to have a 22 write checks?
23 board of directors and to -- and to IPO. And to IPO, you 23 A. No.
24 need an advisory board. 24 Q. For Blueware or anything. And I think you said
25 So Rose in 2010 employed an advisory board out 25 BlueGem had just got its bank account open right before
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1 they received the first payment from the clerk's office? 1 agency which, you know, you ook at and you've got people
2 A Yeah. 2 chasing people for money that's more than a year old,
3 Q. Right. Do you know the current legal status of 3 it's difficult, it's time consuming. And if Dupree
4 Blueware as in is it still active and incorporated in 4 brought it to you, you're going to be paying forever, so
5 Michigan? 5 it didn't really go anywhere,
6 A. As of the 24th of May when I did my scttlement, 6 Q. Do you have any familiarity with Pioneer
7 1t was incorporated in Michigan, it had changed back from 7 Credit, Penn Credit or MSB/GILA Credit?
8 a Florida corporation. As of today, I have no idea. 8 A. Tknow --
9 Q. Right. What about BlueGem, any idea? 9 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form.
10 A. 1think that stayed a Florida corporation. The 10 A. Iknow who they are by looking at -- by
11 EDC mandated that you couldn't be a business outside of 11 actually looking at the contracts that were out on the -~
12 Florida and receive the incentives. So BlueGem was moved| 12 within when I was doing the cost containment that I
13 to Florida and I don't think it's ever been moved back. 13 didn't touch. But I know -- I know who they are.
14 But I don't know. 14 BY MR. RUSSELL:
15 Q. Do you know anything about the Buckley 15 Q. Were they among the contracts that you were not
16 contract, the non disclosure agreement related to a VA 16 supposed to?
17 contract? 17 A. Yeah.
18 MR. BERNBAUM: With who? Is it with the 18 Q. So were these the companies who contributed
18 clerks? 1 just want to make sure I understand the 19 financially to the Florida tax cutter award through
20 question so I know whether to object. 20 Mr. Guetzloe?
21 MR. RUSSELL: Tdon't know. There's a 21 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form because I'm
22 reference to a VA contract. 22 not sure which companies. I think you've listed a
23 A. Tim Buckley and Matt Dupree were partners of 23 few with your last couple of questions.
24 Eligere as I told you earlier. Tim Buckley had a client 24 MR. RUSSELL: Yeah. Pioneer Credit, Penn
25 that did the grand opening for -- who did the grand 25 Credit, and MSB/GILA credit.
Page 270 Page 272
1 opening for Blueware and his name was Colonel 1 A. No, I can only assume that because they were
2 Prendergast, which I talked about earlier. He was in 2 the ones under contract.
3 charge of the rest homes or nursing homes in Florida and 3 BY MR. RUSSELL:
4 they wanted us to put a system in to their nursing homes. 4 Q. That's okay. If you don't know, you don't have
5 They use Microsoft Vista in their -- in their 5 to -- I don't want you to guess. Are you familiar with a
6 main hospitals, which is quite a good system, and they 6 group or an entity of some kind named 4 the Kids of
7 use that, but the nursing homes are like the poor 7 Brevard?
8 cousins, they still use paper. So we were asked to maybe 8 A. Yeah, that's Joan Needelman's children's
9 put a system in to the rehabilitation on nursing homes, 9 charity.
10 whichever you want to call it. 10 Q. Did 4 the Kids provide any training for
11 And basically Dupree said to me that you can 11 Blueware employees?
12 get Prendergast to do it, but he's only got 750,000 and 12 A. Not that I'm aware of.
13 how much does 650,000 buy him. I said, well, it buys him 13 Q. Did Brevard Work Force provide any training for
14 $650,000 worth of a system. You know, I don't know if we| 14 Blueware employees?
15 can do that, didn't know what the scope is. He said, no, 15 A. Maybe one employee at some point.
16 he's got 750,000, but he's going to need 100,000 for his 16 Q. Are you familiar with a company called McBride
17 war chest back. At which point I just laughed. And then 17 Marketing?
18 Rose took over the negotiations with Matt Dupree and 18 A. Yes.
19 Colonel Prendergast and I left. He came down and did the 19 Q. Can you describe very briefly your familiarity?
20 grand opening, but I don't know if anything ever moved 20 A. Brian McBride was employed to manage the
21 forward from there. 21 fallout from a public relations and marketing position if
22 Q. Are you familiar with any collection action 22 the scanning contract got out before the election and
23 contract being put out for bid by Needelman? 23 before Needelman was happy with it being released.
24 A, No. We knew that it was coming and Matt Dupree 24 Q. Okay. So am I understanding correctly that
25 talked about maybe us starting up a debt collection 25 Needelman was trying to keep the scanning contract quiet
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i and this guy was hired to deal with public relations in 1 Q. I'm probably mispronouncing it badly. Iknow
2 the event it wasn't kept quiet? 2 you've testified as to some -- a report to FDLE of an
3 A. Yes. 3 intended intrusion into the clerk's system. Are you
4 Q. Okay. 4 aware of any actual instances of computer hacking or
5 A, But it wasn't being kept quiet because the 5 intrusions?
6 reason he was brought in is that Scott and that team that 6 A. No.
7 were fighting the election had got a sniff of it. So it 7 Q. Okay. What if any facilities were made
8 was out there. They knew the 500,000 was being paid. So 8 available by the clerk's office to Blueware, like office
° he was brought in to manage that. And he also was 9 space or warchouse space or anything?
10 diverse and he was looking to do some work for -- from a 10 A. Rose -~ Rose asked for a desk and an area for
11 marketing perspective for Blueware. Whether he did 11 the IT audit and that was given. The facilities and
12 anything or not, I never know, I didn't know. 12 passes for Eric, Matt and I and David to get in and out
13 Q. Right. Did Needelman ever indicate to you why 13 of the building, they had to go through a police check,
14 he was concerned about the public becoming aware of the 14 fingerprints were done and they were given access to all
15 scanning contract? 15 areas with swipe cards. We were given use of the
16 A. He was more concerned with Scott Ellis becoming 16 conference room whenever we wanted it.
17 aware of the scanning contract than the public. He 17 Q. Isthis in Titugville or Viera?
18 thought that he would be torn away. 18 A. In Tiwsville.
19 In a previous forum a big thing that happened 19 Q. Okay. Was it used regularly?
20 within Blueware was that Mitch Needehman said that he had} 20 A. There was somebody -- over that six week period
21 no contact or wasn't in a working relationship with Matt 21 I would say two or three, four times a week in the
22 Dupree. And it was very aware, people were very aware 22 scanning in that 600 building and around the gym and
23 that that wasn't true and so that was all brought into 23 around the IT area there was David and Eric mooching
24 this fold of Brian McBride and Needelman keeping Dupree | 24 around and doing stuff and maybe Matt and Elaine
25 separately. 25 sometimes. The conference room I used when we were
Page 274 Page 276
1 Dupree's conversation with Needelman happened 1 looking at the scanning contracts and stuff like that.
2 at 8:15 every morning when Needelman was driving up to 2 But pretty much whatever we wanted, Mitch gave.
3 Titsville. So if you wanted to get either Needelman or 3 Q. Okay. Did Rose -- I'm sorry, did Blueware pay
4 Dupree, they would -- it would be -- Needelman would be 4 the clerk's office for use of space or furnishings or
5 driving up 1-95 to Titusville or they would meet at the 5 equipment?
6 Apollo Cafe on Apollo. 6 A. Not that I'm aware of, no.
7 Q. On Hibiscus? 7 Q. Are you familiar with a company called Valkaria
8 A. Apollo Cafe. I've been there a couple of 8 Ventures?
9 times, it's like a greasy spoon. I met Needelman -- Rose 9 A. 1think that's a company in Cocoa. No, I don't
10 and Needelman met there numerous times when they didn't; 10 know, no.
il want to be seen in public, they met at the Apolio Cafe. 11 Q. Do you recall there being a lawsuit that was
12 Q. Are you familiar with Sloane MacKenzie Public 12 going on back in the 2012 time period with possibly
13 Affairs? 13 Valkaria Ventures?
14 A. No. 14 A. The only thing -- the only lawsuit that I can
15 Q. Are you familiar with Solutions for Government 15 think of is the softball one.
16 LLC? 16 Q. The softball one?
17 A. Yeah. 17 A. Yeah, there was something about softball, kids
18 Q. Okay. What's that? 18 going to do softball.
19 A. That is Matt told me that Eligere needs to be 19 Q. Okay. Are you familiar with a lawsuit that may
20 reinvented every three or four years around election time 20 have involved Brian West or Westco Development?
21 and it was Buckley and Eligere's rebirth -- Buckley and 21 A. No. Ican't-- I know who he is, but I don't
22 Dupree's rebirth of Eligere's Strategies. 22 remember the lawsuit,
23 Q. Okay. And that's the one I referred to earlier 23 Q. That's okay.
24 as Eligere's? 24 A. The only ones I remember are the Cocoa Expo ong
25 A. Yeah. 25 and the house property one where there was something to
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1 do with a lawsuit that happened where the house was 1 A. Who then became a Blueware employee.

2 repossessed. 2 Q. Okay. And what about -- what did she do when

3 Q. And that involved Brian West or Westco 3 she became a Blueware employee?

4 Development too? 4 A. God only knows.

5 A. Tknow the name Brian because 1 was just 5 THE COURT REPORTER: What?

6 listening to a phone call. 6 THE WITNESS: God only knows.

7 Q. Okay. Do you know who was supposed to receive 7 BY MR. RUSSELL:

8 money from that deal? 8 Q. Okay. You don't know. What about

9 A. It was to do with the property developer at the 9 dbrigham@blueware.net?
10 time and Dupree, West and Needelman, It was some -- 10 A. That's Deena and you can also send it as
11 Needelman was trying to make a million dollar lawsuit go 11 dedwards and it will get to the same place.
12 away or something. And I'know Dupree got paid onit, but; 12 Q. Okay. What about wmdupree@gmail.com?
13 how it was done I'm not 100 percent sure. [know they 13 A. That is one of Matt's.
14 settled for around 320 or something like that. 14 Q. One of Matt Dupree's e-mails?
15 Q. Do you know Steve MacNamara? 15 A. (Nods head.)
16 A. Tmay, I don't know. 16 Q. Do you know how many others he regularly used?
17 Q. Okay. Are you aware of any other lawsuits with 17 A. He used one off his phone that was different
18 Blueware during the time period that we're talking about 18 and then he used the Eligere Strategies one.
19 through now other than the Billingsley and J2 interactive 19 THE COURT REPORTER: The what one?
20 case? 20 THE WITNESS: Eligere.
21 MR. BERNBAUM: Object to the form. 21 BY MR. RUSSELL:
22 MR. RUSSELL: And yours. 22 Q. I'll show you the spelling on that. What about
23 A. IBM we're having a bit of a go about their 23 gwpomichter?
24 software. They sent a private investigator to sce if we 24 A. That's Garrett's. He used that in regards to
25 were still in business. Matt Bass, a former employee, 25 the ITM.

Page 278 Page 280

1 had a bit of a dig for a while, but I don't know if he 1 Q. What about ssmith@blueware.net?

2 continued it. 2 A. That's the wages lady.

3 In England a PR company called Mantis were 3 Q. Okay. That's the Susan Smith who works for

4 looking to sue the English entity for non payment of PR. 4 Blueware obviously?

5 And I know that the mediator had to go to court on our 5 A. (Nods head.)

6 seftlement because Rose wouldn't pay her portion of the 6 Q. Oh, here we are. Mdupree@cfl.rr.com?

7 mediation. And in the end the attorney that was 7 A. That's the one off his phone.

8 representing Rose paid it out of his own funds. 8 Q. Okay. What about viee@gcsisoft.com?

9 BY MR. RUSSELL: 9 A. That's Victor Lee from CSL
10 Q. Okay. Let me run a few e-mail addresses by 10 Q. Okay. And then bluewaretcam@blueware.net?
11 you. Rose@blueware.net? 11 A. Basically if anybody has got -- we use a system
12 A. That's Rose's e-mail. 12 called Lotus notes and we use that to run our e-mails in
13 Q. Rose Harr? 13 the carly stages and basically it's a group in there that
14 A. (Nods head.) 14 incorporates all Blueware employees.
15 Q. Okay. What about ngeaney(@blueware net? 15 Q. Okay. What about jroslin@spacecoastede.org?
16 A. That was mine. 16 A. That's Julie Roslin from the EDC.
17 Q. Okay. It was when you were at Blueware? 17 Q. And gweinger@spacecoastede.org?
18 A. (Nods head.) 18 A. Yeah.
18 Q. What about kelly.d.geaney@gmail.com? 19 MR. RUSSELL: Let's take a couple minutes and
20 A. That is Kelly's e-mail. 20 we'll step out and I might be able to wrap this up.
21 Q. Okay. What about debbiecoldwell9@gmail.com?| 21 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Going off the record at
22 A. That was her personal when she was at Caldwell 22 5:14.
23 Banker. 23 (A break was taken.)
24 Q. Okay. And this was the realtor who you were 24 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Back on the record at 5:24
25 introduced to when you first got to Melbourne? 25
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1 BY MR. RUSSELL: 1 A. Yeah.
2 Q. Mr. Geaney, I'm going to ask you a few more 2 Q. Okay.
3 questions and then we're going to wrap up onmy end. Yo 3 A. Because of the public record issues, sunshine
4 had said something about Mr. McDaniel using his personal 4 state in Florida.
5 e-mai} address? 5 Q. Tjustwant to clarify one thing. When you
6 A. Yeah. It was an AOL account that he used and 6 were in the ITN process and the competing vendors had
7 sometimes I needed information and he said, oh, I can't 7 sent questions, inquiries about the ITN.
8 get it from my home computer. So I would have to sit in 8 A. Yeah.
9 the office and wait for him to drive from Titusville to 9 Q. And Blueware provided responses to those
10 wherever he lived fo get it off his home computer to come | 10 vendors that went back to McDaniel. Did McDaniel then
11 back. 11 forward those to the competing vendors under the guise
12 And it was something to do with the internet at 12 that it was the clerk's responses?
13 home and how much and I don't really know. I think he 13 A. Yes.
14 was using dial up at home or he was using an internet 14 Q. Okay. Ihad asked you I think at the
15 spur that belonged to the Clerk of the Court with, you 15 beginning, it was Exhibit 1 in fact about the payment.
16 know, like you can get like a flash drive with interet 16 This is not it. Yeah. And this, I'll just show you my
17 on it. 17 copy. The check for $100,000 with the bonus line or the
18 Q. So there were certain records and documents and 18 memo line says bonus for EDC. And I think you said that
19 things that were kept only on his home computer and not 19 you were not sure exactly what the payment was for.
20 on? 20 Do you know whether any portions of that
21 A. Yeah. So Deena would send over an invoice or [ 21 $100,000 were paid to someone else?
22 would say have you had a chance to look at the invoice or 22 A. No. That was after | went. Matt and --
23 the proposal and he would say it's on my home computer 23 Matt -- the bonus or the commissions from the scanning
24 and I can't do that from here. So he would have to get 24 contract and the EDC were $150,000. So it doesn't match.
25 in his car, drive over and print it off and bring it back 25 So I knew there was a bonus, but I thought it was
Page 282 Page 284
1 to the Clerk of the Court and then talk to me about it. 1 $150,000 not 100 and that was after I finished at
2 Q. Was it Mitch Needelman who required him to keep 2 Blueware the actual payment was made. So I would only bd
3 certain things on his home computer? 3 surmising where that came from.
4 A. Yeah, it came -- it was a directive that came 4 Q. Okay. You had described a realtor, a male
5 through Mitch through Renee McGrory to use I think -- I'm 5 realtor earlier in your testimony and you didn't recall
6 pretty sure it was an AOL account because I know that not 6 his name.
7 many people use AOL anymore and it was a personal e-mail 7 A. Mike Jaffe,
8 from there. 8 Q. Oh. And what was Mr. Jaffe's involvement?
S Q. What about Mitch Needelman, did he also use his ° A. He was the commercial guy out of Caldwell
10 personal e-mail? 10 Banker for commercial properties and he was a bit of a --
11 A. He -- yeah, he did and there's a number of 11 abit of a hustler. I didn't like him very much, so
12 reasons -- it was strange. He didn't do e-mails. So 12 used to wind him up.
13 Renee looked after all his e-mails, opened his e-mails 13 Q. You wound him up?
14 and had them at the office and Joan did it from home. So 14 A. Yeah,
15 he didn't really use e-mail. And they were printed off. 15 Q. In what respect?
16 So it was pretty much -- 16 A. Tused to just tell him that I was going to go
17 Q. His wife did it from hoine, is that what you 17 and sign with somebody clse if he annoyed me anymore
18 said? 18 because he was very aggressive. He was representing the
19 A. Yeah, his wife did it from home. 19 Osler building along River -- Riverview. If you pull out
20 Q. What about Renee, did she use her personal 20 of -- come over the Melbourne bridge and turn right and
21 e-mail as well? 21 you drive and you got Holmes going that way and then you
22 A. Yeah, as well as Gager and Campbell. 22 got the Osler building going there, he wanted me to rent
23 Q. So any time they were talking to you about 23 two of the floors there 12,000 square fect and he wanted
24 scanning contracts, 1T consultancy, it was always using 24 something like $30 a square foot for it in 2012 where
25 personal e-mail? 25 there was buildings vacant all over the place and it was
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1 like. And he was trying to sell it that there were 1 Q. But never met with before today?
2 medical companies below and all that. But it needed 2 A. No.
3 major restructure. It didn't fit for us to bring 3 Q. How about any other attorneys with the Gray
4 scanning up four flights of stairs and escalate, it 4 Robinson firm that we're here at who represent the Clerk]
5 didn't make any sense. So that was never an answer and 5 of the Court in this litigation, have you ever spoken to
6 used to just... 6 them before?
7 Q. Did he ever try to get you fo build or lease on 7 A. Not unless they used to work at the sister
8 Melbourne Airport property? 8 associates that I know about, but never in regards to
8 A. Yes. 9 this legal battle.
10 Q. Okay. How did that conversation go? 10 Q. Mr. Scott Ellis, the current Brevard County
11 A, Tt didn't. 11 Clerk of the Circuit Court who is here today, have you
12 Q. Okay. 12 seen him before today?
13 A. You'll find that I'm quite like this where I'm 13 A. Yes.
14 reasonably blunt, I don't like stuff, we're not doing it. 14 Q. Have you met him before today?
15 The incentives from within the city, the airport -- the 15 A, Yes.
16 airport sits on a different realm, so it wouldn't have 16 Q. Okay. Have you spoken to him before today?
17 been the incentive to come from there, Blueware wanted: 17 A. Yes.
18 to be in the medical and the downtown district walking. 18 Q. Okay. How many times?
19 Where the building where they did it, I don't know 19 A. Loads.
20 eventually, but that was one of the criteria. So he got 20 Q. Okay. Those loads of times you've spoken to
21 shortchanged very, very quickly. 21 him, have some of those been in person?
22 Q. That's about all I have for now. T just want 22 A. One before today I think.
23 to ask you have -- have you ever met me before this 23 Q. And other times by telephone?
24 deposition? 24 A, Yep.
25 A. No. 25 Q. Ande-mail?
Page 286 Page 288
1 Q. Have you ever talked to me before this 1 A. Very rarely.
2 deposition? z Q. Okay. But mostly telephone?
3 A. No. 1think I spoke to that gentleman on one 3 A. Yeah.
4 occasion to talk about the deposition, schedule the 4 Q. Okay. How many times would you think you've
5 deposition. 5 spoken to Mr. Ellis before today?
6 Q. To schedule? 6 A. 15,20 maybe.
7 MR. JACOBUS: Curt. 7 Q. Okay. And what were the reasons you -- strike
8 A. Yeah. And it was for about 30 seconds. 8 that. Do you remember the first time you spoke to
9 MR. RUSSELL: Okay. Allright. I think that's 9 Mr. Ellis?
10 all I have for now. 10 A. Yes.
11 CROSS EXAMINATION 11 Q. Okay. When?
12 BY MR. BERNBAUM: 12 A. End of June, beginning of July 2012.
13 Q. Okay. Ihave some questions. Mr. Geaney, let 13 Q. Okay. So within a couple of weeks or so of
14 me pick up right where Mr. Russell left off. So prior to 14 when your employment ended with Blueware; correct?
15 him taking your deposition today, you had never met 15 A. A month.
16 Mr. Russell? 16 Q. Okay. Within a month or so of when your
17 A. No. 17 employment ended with Blueware?
18 Q. And never spoken to him by phone? 18 A. Yeah.
19 A. No. 19 Q. Never prior to that?
20 Q. Ore-mail? 20 A. No.
21 A. No. 21 Q. You knew who he was before that; right?
22 Q. And Mr -~ I think you were referring to Curt 22 A. Yep.
23 Jacobus, who is his colleague here you spoke to one time;, 23 Q. Okay. And did you initiate contact with
24 by phone? 24 Mr. Ellis or did he initiate contact with you at the end
25 A. Yeah, for scheduling. 25 of June or beginning of July of 20127
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1 A. Tt was Facebook request from Mr, Ellis or one 1 Q. Okay. So your recollection of that -~ strike
2 of his representatives, 1 can't quite remember. 2 that, When he reached out through your wife's Facebook,
3 Q. Okay. 3 did you then pick up the phone and talk to him?
4 A. From Scott and then we went back through Tyler 4 A. Did nothing for a week.
5 to talk I think because you couldn't get ahold of Scott. 5 Q. Okay. No response at all fo his inquiry about,
6 Q. Okay. So do you believe that -- even if it was 6 hey, I heard you're not at Blueware anymore?
7 a Facebook friend request, do you believe that the 7 A. Did nothing for a week.
8 contact was issued by Mr. Ellis? 8 Q. Right. Was there anything else about his
9 A. Tt wasn't a friend request. 9 inquiry other than what you've told me?
10 Q. Okay. Let me restate my question then. Was 10 A. No.
11 the contact initiated by Mr. Ellis or was it initiated by 11 Q. Okay. And what did you do in a week?
12 you to him? 12 A. TIsentitto Campbell and Needelman and told
13 A. By Mr. Ellis. 13 them to settle and pay me or I was going fo falk to him.
14 Q. Okay. Was it through Facebook? 14 Q. Okay. So at that point you had -- well, let me
15 A. Yes. 15 back up. When you say settle, are you referring to the
16 Q. Allright. Was it in a Facebook communication | 16 pending litigation you had in Michigan or something else?
17 like you post on someone's wall or you have a private? 17 A. Thadn't litigated or done that at that point.
18 A. Ttwasapost. Idon't doFacebook, it was on 18 I told them what I wanted to go away and be quiet.
19 Kelly's. 19 Q. So there was -- when you said settle, you
20 Q. On what? 20 weren't referring to a specific, pending court case?
21 A. Onmy wife's Facebook. 21 A. Nothing pending, verbal negotiations between
22 Q. Oh, your wife's Facebook? 22 Smith & Associates, Rose Harr and myself.
23 A. Yep. 23 Q. When you said settle, you were referring to
24 Q. Thank you. So Mr. Ellis made contact with you| 24 settle some money you thought you were due?
25 through your wife's Facebook? 25 A. Yes.
Page 290 Page 292
1 A. Yep. 1 Q. Okay. And the people you thought you were due
2 Q. Gotit. And do you remember what his initial 2 the money from were Ms. Harr -- can you tell me all the
3 contact was? 3 people or entities?
4 A. Not word for word, but pretty much. 4 A. Blueware.
5 Q. Okay. Tell me what you remember. 5 Q. Okay. And how much money is it that you had
6 A. It was I hear you're not with Blueware anymore. 6 asked for at that time?
7 I had a shaky response when I asked Rose why do you 7 A. The commission from the contracts and some back
8 want -- are you free to talk. 8 salary, about 300 grand.
9 Q. Okay. At this point, and I apologize I don't 9 Q. Okay. Yeah, [ think carlier in the testimony
10 remember, when was -- do you recall when it was that 10 you had said about $325,000.
11 M. Ellis -- when the election took place that he became 11 A. That came later when it was done through the
12 the Clerk of the Court again? 12 litigation.
13 A. November. 13 Q. Okay.
14 Q. 0Of2012? 14 A. The numbers were rounded up.
15 A, Yeah, 15 Q. Allright. But are we talking about the same?
16 Q. Okay. Yes? 16 A, Yes.
17 A. Yeah 17 Q. Money you felt you were due?
18 (). Okay. And so this contact we're talking about 18 A. Yes.
19 that he initiated through your wife's Facebook was before | 19 Q. Okay. So it was money you felt you were due
20 that time? 20 for compensation from Blueware?
21 A. Yes. 21 A. Yeah.
22 Q. DBut was during the time when the campaign was 22 Q. That included back wages and/or back
23 ongoing? 23 commissions?
24 A. Yeah, it was in the early stages of the 24 A. Yes.
25 primary. 25 Q. Allright. How long after Mr. Ellis reached
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1 out to you through your wife's Facebook did you contact 1 helping Scott with his campaign.
2 the Blueware people to see about settling? 2 Q. Okay. Did you understand him to have a
3 A. Twas already in the negotiations with them, 3 specific role?
4 right. 4 A. No.
5 Q. Okay. 5 Q. Okay. Did you try to reach out to Mr. Ellis
6 A. Tsent them the next day the -- a photo shop of 6 directly before you reached out to Mr, Winik?
7 Scott's request. 7 A, Can'tremember. I wouldn't have done it, it
8 Q. Okay. And Scott's request being where he was 8 would have been Kelly. I don't have Facebook.
S seeking out or, I'm sorry, was asking you, hey, 1 heard 9 Q. Kelly being your wife?
10 you're not still employed by Blueware? 10 A, Yes.
11 A. Yes. 11 Q. Well, Kelly could have reached out to Mr. Ellis
12 Q. So within 24 hours you sent that? 12 through Mr. Winik at your direction, correct, through her
13 A. Yes. 13 Facebook?
14 Q. And you said what? 14 A. She could have done.
15 A. Basically if you're not going to talk to me and 15 Q. Okay. So the contact that you or your wife
16 settle with me, do you want me to talk to him. 16 made, was it through Facebook?
17 Q. Okay. And then you mentioned earlier in 17 A. No. I got telephone number from Tyler to phone
18 response to Mr. Russell's questions I guess discussions 18 Scott.
19 back and forth you had with them? 19 Q. Okay. Who got -~ how did you or your wife get
20 A.  With -- initially with Blueware through Smith & | 20 the telephone number from Tyler Winik? Was it a response
21 Associates in Florida and then through King & King and} 21 to Facebook, an e-mail?
22 Honigman's in Michigan. 22 A. Tthink so. I think it came from Facebook.
23 Q. Okay. And then in about a week you reached out] 23 Q. Okay. Do you know if at that time you or your
24 and spoke to Mr. Ellis? 24 wife had corresponded with Mr. Winik through Facebook?
25 A. Yep. 25 A. No, not at that point.
Page 294 Page 296
1 Q. So to jump ahead, is it fair to say that 1 Q. Okay. Do you know how your wife found
2 whatever took place in that seven day period, you did not 2 Mr. Winik through Facebook?
3 reach an agreement that was satisfactory to you? 3 A. Like everybody else, search.
4 A. Yep. 4 Q. They hadn't had contact before?
5 Q. Okay. 5 A. No.
6 A. Actually I didn't reach out to Scott, 1 6 Q. Allright. So about a week after Mr. Ellis
7 spoke -- I sent a message to Tyler I believe, Winik. 7 reached out to you through your wife's Facebook, you or
8 Q. Okay. And that was in about a week? 8 your wife on your behalf reached out to Mr. Winik and got
9 A. A week, ten days. It was the last two days g Mr. Ellis' phone number?
10 before the 4th of July weekend when I moved back to 10 A. Yes.
11 Michigan. 11 Q. Okay. And then in about that same week after
12 Q. Okay. Tyler Winik is one of the gentlemen that 12 the initial contact did you have a phone discussion with
13 is here today? 13 Mr. Ellis?
14 A. Yes. 14 A. Yes.
15 Q. Was he copied on the Facebook e-mail I'll call 15 Q. Okay. And did you discuss the circumstances of
16 it from Mr. Ellis to your wife? 16 the Blueware contract with the Clerk of the Court,
17 A. Twouldn't -- 17 Mr. Needelman, at that time as you've testified here
18 Q. Orhow was it that you knew who Mr. Winik was? | 18 today?
19 A. Tknew who Mr, Winik was from when I worked at| 19 A. No.
20 Blueware and I knew he was working with Scott in the 20 Q. Okay. Well, what did you discuss?
21 campaign. 21 A. Meeting before I went back to Michigan.
22 Q. Okay. What did you understand his role to be 22 Q. Okay. So at that point you were still in
23 back at the time you knew him as someone with Mr. Ellis' 23 Brevard County?
24 campaign? 24 A. Yes.
25 A. He was a supporter of Mr. Ellis that was 25 Q. Allright. And did you set up a time to meet?
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1 A. Yes. 1 had a newborn, so she was up and down the stairs.
2 Q. Allright. And when did you meet, how long 2 Q. Okay. How long did you meet with Mr. Ellis on
3 afier? 3 that first time?
4 A. 9:00 on that Friday evening that I phoned him. 4 A. A couple of hours.
5 Q. Okay. So the same day? 5 Q. And what did you discuss? And at this time I'm
6 A. Yep. 6 just asking about the general topic if you remember.
7 Q. So we're about -- still about seven days, eight 7 A. We discussed basically the first thing that we
8 days after Mr. Ellis' initial contract? 8 talked about was Scott told me how that he had heard
9 A. Yep. 9 different reasons from Rose and Blueware why I wasn't
10 Q. Yes? 10 there anymore.
11 A. Yes. 11 Q. Okay.
12 Q. Allright. And where did you meet? 12 A. And that he said it was shaky in the response
13 A. At my house in Malabar. 13 that he had got and he hadn't got a clear picture of a
14 Q. Okay. And who was there, if anybody, besides|{ 14 reason why I wasn't there so.
15 you and Mr. Ellis? 15 Q. You told him why you thought you weren't there
16 A. Kelly and a newborn of two weeks and an 18 16 anymore?
17 month old. 17 A. Not at that point.
18 Q. Okay. Your wife and your two children? 18 Q. Okay.
19 A, Yes. 19 A. Tleft it and listened to what he got to say
20 Q. Okay. Any other adults other than your wife? 20 for a while and just smiled and listened. Then he asked
21 A. No. 21 me about the public records request because he -- he had
22 Q. Did your wife sit in or overhear -- 22 seen it. You know, at that point I didn't know Scoft
23 A. My -- 23 Ellis apart from being told he was a crazy man by
24 Q. --the discussion you had with Mr. Ellis? 24 Needelman. So I was basically listening to what he had
25 A. Tthink my mom was in bed. 25 1o say, listening to his version of events that happened
Page 298 Page 300
1 Q. Okay. 1 over the last 18 months,
2 A. From England, I think she was still there. 2 Q. Okay.
3 Q. Okay. What is your mother's name? 3 A. And I quile liked him when I met him. We had a
4 A. Maureen. 4 couple cups of coffee and I told him that I was going
5 Q. Same last name? 5 back to Michigan and I was going to start to take action
6 A. Yeah, Geaney. So she was -- she wouldn't have 6 against Blueware. And he said any way that he can help
7 heard anything, but she was in bed. 7 us, that he would. And I said, well, I suppose at that
8 Q. Okay. Sojust -- 8 point I've got to sort of agree to participate. And --
] A. If she was there. 9 and I started to help Scott with what I knew around the
10 Q. I'msorry to interrupt you. Just so the record 10 contracts, filling in the gaps that he didn't have. He
11 is clear, your mother even at that time in June or July 11 had most of the information around the contracts. He had
12 of 2012 was still a full time resident of the United 12 gathered that information from within the clerk's office.
13 Kingdom? 13 I couldn't tell him much that he didn't really know.
14 A. Yes. 14 Q. What was your understanding as to why he wanted
15 Q. But around that same time was visiting you? 15 to know about the contracts at that point given that he
16 A. Yes. 16 wasn't -- that the election was still ongoing?
17 Q. May have been present, but didn't sit in on any 17 A. T1think there's a number -~ I think there's a
i8 discussion? 18 number of reasons. One -~
19 A. Yep. 19 Q. I'msorry to interrupt you, but just so I make
20 Q. How about your wife, did she sit in on the 20 my question clear, tell me what he told you about why he
21 discussion? 21 wanted to know, not what you suppose are the reasons.
22 A. Backwards and forwards cause the kids were 22 A. He didn't tell me why.
23 crying 23 MR. RUSSELL: Objection to form.
24 Q. I'msorry? 24  BY MR. BERNBAUM:
25 A. Backwards and forwards cause the kids -- she 25 Q. Okay. So you don't know for sure -- he didn't
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Page 303

1 tell you why he wanted to know? 1 whatever you told him with regard to the dealings between
2 A. No. He just said that they were -~ well, he 2 Mr. Needelman and yourself and Mr. Dupree?
3 did actually, I apologize, he said that they were 3 A. Because it was actually election and the
4 scamming bastards and he wanted to basically see them all 4 settlement point had finished. Then, yeah, it was
5 in jail. 5 obvious that what I told him because it was after the
6 Q. Okay. Did he tell you who he was referring to? 6 election date.
7 A. Necdelman, Campbell, Rose Harr, 7 Q. Okay. Well, you didn't tell him when you first
8 Q. Okay. 8 talked to him by phone?
9 A. And Dupree. 9 A. No.
10 Q. Okay. Anybody else other than those four? 10 Q. Orwhen you first talked to him at your house
11 A. No, I don't think he went into it too much. 11 in Melbourne; right?
12 Q. Okay. Other than -- strike that. You've told 12 A. We spoke about -- we talked about the contracts
13 me about some things My. Ellis shared with you and told 13 a little bit. And the bits that I told him, he already
14 you and that you did some listening and told him you had 14 knew.
15 to go back to Michigan, 15 Q. Yeah.
16 Other than maybe filling in some general gaps 16 A. Then we talked a little bit about information
17 about the contract between or contract between Blueware 17 that he was gathering for his election and I was using
18 or BlueGem or Roseware and the clerk, did you give him 18 that in my campaign. We talked about the private and the
19 any information? 19 public records request and why I requested them. Then
20 A. No, not at that point. 20 the rest of the stuff that came at about the election
21 Q. Okay. And did you go back to Michigan the next 21 point. On the Friday before the election, I sent an
22 day? 22 e-mail to the press.
23 A. No, I went on about three days later. T went 23 Q. Okay. The Friday -- tell me about what date
24 over the 4th of July weekend. 24 you're referring to.
25 Q. When is the next time you spoke to Mr. Ellis? 25 A. Something -- I think the election primary was
Page 302 Page 304
1 A. Probably around mid July. 1 on the 13th of August and [ sent it on the 1 1th or the
2 Q. Okay. When was the first time that you told 2 10th.
3 Mr. Ellis the substance of what you've testified to today 3 Q. T'will - let me ask this question, and I
4 with regard to certain meetings you had with 4 should know it, but I don't, I don't recall if the
5 Mr. Needelman and Mr. Dupree and Mr. Needelman's 5 clerk’s office here in Brevard was a -- if there was a
6 campaign? 6 primary for the clerk and if Mr, Needelman and Mr. Ellis
7 A. From about that point didn't do anything really 7 are the same political party.
8 too much until the election because I was still trying to 8 A. Yes, they are.
9 settle out of Michigan. In August, the primary election, 9 Q. Okay. So the contest between Mr. Ellis and
10 not the November election. 10 Mr. Needelman at least themselves was determined at the
11 Q. Okay. So was it after the August primary 11 primary process part in August not in the general
12 portion that you first told Mr. Ellis? 12 election?
13 A. Itold him a few bits before, but I kept enough 13 A. No, no.
14 for me to still be in a strong position when [ was 14 Q. Okay.
15 negotiating with Blueware. 15 A. Because Dupree put a write in for the
16 Q. Okay. Was it only after you decided that you 16 democratic party I think. Like I said before, I don't
17 weren't going to be able to reach an agreement to get the 17 exactly understand how that -- no. Yes, it was,
18 money you felt you were due from Blueware that you went| 18 Needelman and Dupree's -- Needelman and Scott Ellis'
19 ahead and told Mr. Ellis what you thought was everything 19 fight I think was fought out at the primary stage. Scott
20 that had happened? 20 still wasn't named Clerk of the Court because there was a
21 A. 1didn't tell him anything. Inever tell 21 write in for the democratic party.
22 anybody everything. 22 Q. Letme ask it better and [ apologize. After
23 Q. Okay. Was it only after you felt that your 23 Scott Ellis became the Clerk the Court in November of
24 chances of an amicable and relatively quick seitlement 24 2012, was it after that time --
25 with Blueware had expired that you told Mr. Ellis 25 A. No, before.
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1 Q. Letme just finish the question. Was it after 1 the deposition today at last night's dinner?
2 that time that you first told him that you felt that 2 A. Whether Rose would be here.
3 money was paid to Blueware and diverted -- 3 Q. Okay.
4 A. No. 4 A. And whether there would be some people from HP
5 Q. --to Mitch Needelman's campaign? 5 or different people being here.
6 A. No. Iputitinane-mail press release that [ 6 Q. Okay. Did they have any discussions with you
7 sent to Scott Ellis around the primary time in August. 7 about what they expected you to be asked by their
8 Q. Okay. Was that the press release that you also 8 attorney?
9 sent to other news publications as well? 9 A. They were very careful in not telling me what
10 A. Yeah. 10 questions would be asked today.
11 Q. Okay. That was a press release that you made 11 Q. Did they have any discussion about what they
12 after you told Blueware that if I -- let me just finish 12 expected their lawyer would ask you?
13 my question, sir. That if I don't get my $325,000 that 13 A. No, not really.
14 I'm due for wages and other money due, I'm goingtogo | 14 Q. How about before dinner last night, when was
15 forward with what I know and tell the presses? Is that 15 the last time you met with Mr. Ellis in person?
16 the same press release we're talking about? 16 A. Inperson?
17 A. Yes, itis. 17 Q. Yes.
18 Q. Thank you. 18 A. That night.
19 A. But-- 19 Q. I'msorry, when was the last time you spoke
20 Q. Hold on, I'm going to ask you another question 20 with Mr. Ellis before last night?
21 in a minute. If you can just answer my questions and notf 21 A. A couple of months ago.
22 explain unless I ask you to. Thank you. Okay. Sohow | 22 Q. Now that you've talked to Mr. Winik more than
23 many times do you think total you tatked to Mr. Ellis in 23 once, what is your understanding of what his role is with
24 person? 24 the current Brevard County Clerk of the Court?
25 A. Two. 25 A. He works on some audit board.
Page 306 Page 308
1 Q. Okay. Butlthink did I understand about 1 Q. Okay. Is he an employee of the Clerk of the
2 including the in person times and by phone about 15 or 2 Court to the best of -- if you know?
3 so? 3 A. Yes.
4 A. Yes. 4 Q. Okay. And other than maybe when you first got
5 Q. Allright. Before today, when is the most 5 Mr. Ellis' phone number from Mr. Winik back in June or
6 recent time? 6 July of 2012 and at dinner last night, how many other
7 A. Last night. 7 times have you spoken to him?
8 Q. Okay. Was that about today's deposition? 8 A. A few around the initial schedule of the
9 A. Very little. 1t was more about a Japanese 8 deposition when it was canceled for the weather, when we
10 restaurant that we went to with a group of people. 10 couldn't get down about two or three weeks ago.
11 Q. Okay. You went and had dinner with him? 11 Q. Okay.
12 A Yep. 12 A. A couple of occasions he's asked me if we
13 Q. Who else went? 13 had -- if T had specific pieces of paperwork. I think
14 A. Two guys that I never met before and Keith Fitz 14 Kelly may have sent him a couple of things.
15 or somebody and Rachel and Tyler, 15 Q. Kelly your wife?
16 Q. Okay. And by Tyler and Rachel, you mean Tyler] 16 A. Yeah.
17 Winik and Rachel Sadoff who are here today? 17 Q. Okay. And Ms. Sadoff, other than yesterday at
18 A. Yes. 18 dinner, other times you've spoken to her?
19 Q. Was it just a friendly get together or was 19 A. No.
20 there some purpose to the dinner? 20 Q. And how about Mr. McBride who is here today,
21 A. It was a friendly get together. 21 have you met him before?
22 Q. Okay. And did you talk about today's 22 A. No.
23 deposition? 23 Q. Have you spoken to him before to the best of
24 A Alitile bit. 24 your knowledge?
25 Q. Okay. What did you talk about with regard to 25 A. No.
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Page 309 Page 311
1 Q. No? 1 A. Yes.
2 A. No, 2 Q. And the deposition that was taken on that day,
3 Q. Okay. Ithink Mr. Russell asked you about or 3 were those questions asked at feast in large part by
4 maybe as part of a question he mentioned a deposition yo 4 Blueware's lawyer?
5 gave before in your -~ was that in your case where you 5 A. Yes, Stephen King.
6 sued Roseware in Michigan? 6 Q. Okay. And in that particular case, other than
7 A. Blueware. 7 that deposition, did you give any other sworn testimony?
8 Q. Blueware I'm sorry [ meant. 8 Was there ever any other occasion in that lawsuit we're
9 A. Yes. S talking about in Michigan where you gave sworn testimony
10 Q. And that was the lawsuit that was in Michigan? 10 other than that deposition?
11 A. Yes. 11 A. No.
12 Q. That you were -- that mentioned earlier that 12 Q. Whether it be a second deposition or a trial?
13 you settled? 13 A. No.
14 A. Yes. 14 Q. Okay. Have you cver been deposed before other
15 Q. Yes? 15 than that instance and the one we're here today?
16 A. Yes. 16 A, Yes.
17 Q. Okay. And do you recall when your deposition 17 Q. Okay. How many times?
18 was taken? 18 A. Once.
19 A. Febroary or March. 19 Q. And when was that?
20 Q. 0f20137 20 A. 2011 o0r'12,'11.
21 A. Yes. 21 Q. Okay. And where was that?
22 Q. Okay. 22 A. At King, King & King law office in Cadillac,
23 A. Yes. 23 Michigan.
24 Q. Yes? 24 Q. Okay. What were the circumstances of that
25 A. Yes. 25 deposition?
Page 310 Page 312
1 Q. Other than -- and I'm sorry, where was that? 1 A. It was I was deposed as COO of Blueware in the
2 A. It was taken at Haslim law office in Grand 2 case of Cathy Billingsley by Mark Haslim who was her
3 Rapids, Michigan. 3 lawyer at the time.
4 Q. Okay. And is that your attorney? 4 Q. Okay.
5 A. Yes. 5 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Two minutes.
6 Q. And what was your aftorney's name? 6 BY MR. BERNBAUM:
7 A. Mike Haslim. 7 Q. Okay. Just so we're clear, is that
8 Q. H-A-S-L-I-M? 8 Ms. Billingsley who you mentioned before was a chief
9 A. Yes. 9 marketing officer for about a nine day period for
10 Q. And Mr. Haslim does -- either did or maybe| 10 Blueware?
11 still does represent you in that cause of action you 11 A. Yeah.
12 brought in Michigan? 12 Q. And at the time your deposition was taken in
13 A. Yes. 13 2011, you were still employed by Blueware?
14 Q. Against Blueware? 14 A, Yes.
15 A. Yeah. And other things that [ do. He's my 15 Q. And your -- you gave a deposition testimony as
16 attorney. 16 a witness or a corporate representative?
17 Q. Okay. But I'm only asking about with that 17 A, Yes.
18 matter. 18 Q. Okay. Later after you left you hired the same
19 A. Yeah. 19 lawyer?
Z0 Q. Was that lawsuit filed with the state or 20 A. Oh, yeah.
21 federal court, if you know? 21 Q. Okay. And later your lawsuits weren't
22 A. State. 22 together, but they were mediated the same day?
23 Q. And in what county in Michigan? 23 A. Yes.
24 A. Wexford. 24 Q. Yes, they were?
25 Q. Is that where Cadillac is? 25 A. Yeah. They were mediated the same day.
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Page 313 Page 315
1 MR, BERNBAUM: Okay. You want to switch now? 1 enforcement about the subject matter of what you
2 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This is the end of media 2 testified today, whether it be the state attorney's
3 number five, we're going off the record at 5:55. 3 office, FDLE, Florida attorney general or anybody?
4 (A break was taken.) 4 A. Yes.
5 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Back on the record at 5:56, 5 Q. Okay. Who else?
6 beginning of media number six. 6 A. Aninvestigator came up to Michigan to meet
7 BY MR. BERNBAUM: 7 with me named Mark Mitchell and he came with a special
8 Q. You've told me about three occasions where 8 agent, and I don't know who his name was, and he had a
9 you've given deposition testimony in three different 9 complaint made about Blueware from a Matt Ni, Ni and he
10 cases. Any other time where you've ever given sworn 10 came because he was told that I would probably know a lo
11 deposition testimony? 11 about it.
12 A. No, not that I recall. 12 Q. Allright. Let me break that down, I'm not
13 Q. Any other fime where you've given swom 13 sure I understood. Did you say the gentleman's name was
14 testimony even if af trial or a hearing other than the 14 Mark Mitchell?
15 depositions? 15 A. He was the FDLE, yes, investigator for FDLE.
16 A. No. 16 Q. And he came up to Cadillac, Michigan?
17 Q. Okay. You gave a statement to the federal -~ 17 A. Yes.
18 I'm sorry, the Florida Department of Law Enforcement 18 Q. When?
19 about some of the information you've testified here to; 19 A. uly, July/August of 2012.
20 correct? 20 Q. 20127
21 A. Yeah. 21 A. Yeah.
22 Q. And according to my records, that statement was 22 Q. Okay. Soamonth or two, maybe a little more
23 given on or about May 8th of 2013. Does that sound right 23 after you stopped working at Blueware?
24 to you? 24 A. Yes.
25 A, Yes, 25 Q. But well prior to your statement to FDLE in
Page 314 Page 316
1 Q. Okay. 1 20137
2 A. And that was sworn testimony. 2 A, Yes.
3 THE COURT REPORTER: That was what? 3 Q. Okay. But you understood him to be with FDLE?
4 BY MR. BERNBAUM: 4 A. He introduced himself as the special
5 Q. That was? 5 mvestigator working for the special crimes out of
6 A. Yes. 6 Tallahassee involved in an elected official. He had a
7 Q. T'msorry. Iwas looking down. That was sworn 7 guy with him who was a supervisor special agent.
8 testimony? 8 Q. Okay. Do you remember that person's name?
9 A. Yes, ] was at the state attorney's office. [ 9 A. No.
10 apologize, I thought you were talking civil. 10 Q. Okay. Did they ask you a number of questions?
11 Q. 1was. Just following the question. You 11 A. They interviewed me for two and a half hours.
12 answered. Okay. So that was a statement that was sworn| 12 Q. Did they record the statement?
13 under oath that you gave to a representative of the state 13 A. Yes.
14 attorney's office and/or FDLE; correct? 14 Q. Okay. Did they ask you to swear under oath
15 A. Yeah. 15 when you gave it?
16 Q. Allnight. Have you ever reviewed the 16 A. Yes.
17 transcript of that -- 17 Q. Okay. And did they ever send you a written
18 A. No. 18 copy of that statement?
19 Q. -- statement that you gave to FDLE? 19 A. No.
20 A. No. 20 Q. Do you know who made the complaint that
21 Q. Did they ever give you a written copy of the 21 initiated their investigation?
22 transcript? 22 A. Yes.
23 A. No. 23 Q. Who was that?
24 Q. Okay. Have you given any other swomn 24 A. Matt Ni.
25 statements to, I'm going to use the term generally, law 25 Q. Okay. Can you spell that?
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Page 317 Page 319
1 THE COURT REPORTER: Matt who? 1 A, Yes.
2 A. No, I just know him as his name Matt Ni. I've 2 Q. And I'm going to spell [ think
3 never met him, never spoke to him, 3 Mr. Augustyniak's name, A-U-G-U-S-T-Y-N-I-A-K, first name
4 BY MR. BERNBAUM: 4 Dan?
5 Q. Okay. Do you know, even though you don't knoy 5 A. Yes.
6 who he is and haven't spoken to him, what Matt Ni's, | 6 Q. Okay. And you at that time -- and he was
7 don't know, job was or how he was involved such that he 7 present when you gave your statement in Viera?
8 made a complaint? 8 A, Yes.
9 A. He worked -~ I Googled him. 9 Q. Okay. And he was an FDLE investigator that
10 Q. Okay. 10 took over for Mr. Mitchell?
11 A. To be honest. And he is involved in the tea 11 A, Yes.
12 party and a consultant doing different things, that's how 12 Q. Atleast that was your understanding?
13 I know who he is. 13 A, Yes, yes.
14 Q. Matt Ni is not someone you ever met with or 14 Q. But at some point after Mr. Mitchell met with
15 talked to at any point? 15 you in Michigan in 2012 and before you gave your
16 A. No. 16 statement in Viera, you had actually spoken to Mr.
17 Q. When you lived or worked down here in Brevard 17 Augustyniak in between?
18 County, Florida? 18 A. On the phone. So, yes. I spoke to Mark
19 A. No. Never ever spoken to him even in Michigan 19 Mitchell first, he left, he came up, | gave a statement.
20 on the phone. 20 Dan Augustyniak phoned me there and said he had taken
21 Q. And the FDLE agent or agents did tell you the 21 over from Mark Mitchell. 1didn't meet him until I came
22 name of the person who made the complaint? 22 to give a statement to the state attorney’s office.
23 A. Yes, because they asked me if I knew him, 23 Q. Okay.
24 Q. Okay. Did you ever talk to Mr. Ni after that 24 A. Then I met him again when he came to Michigan.
25 statement? 25 Q. Okay. Which was when?
Page 318 Page 320
1 A. Never spoken to Mr. Ni. 1 A. Don't know. In the winter of last year.
2 Q. Other than the two times you've now just told 2 Q. Winter of 20137
3 me about, any other statements you've given whether at a 3 A 12/13.
4 deposition, in a court or just a recorded statement at 4 Q. Okay. Let me see if this helps. If you gave a
5 your home or office to law enforcement regarding the 5 statement in Viera in May of 2013, he was up there before
6 subject matter of this? 6 that?
7 A. Tve spoken to Mark Mitchell and the special 7 A, After, sorry, so it was after.
8 agent. He then came -- he was taken off the case and a 8 Q. That's okay.
9 guy called Dan and it begins with A, Augustyniak, Daniel 9 A. Twas trying to work it out because it's
10 Augustyniak came up with the same special agent, [ can't | 10 difficult. So I met Mark Mitchell first. Then I spoke
11 remember his name. 11 to Augustyniak on the phone. I had never met him when 1
12 Q. Okay. 12 came down and did the deposition in May. Then after May
13 A. And he -- actually, no, no, that's not. 1 13 Dan Augustyniak came up to meet with other people that
14 don't know if it's -- I don't know now. 14 worked for Blueware and he came in and saw me and asked
15 Q. Well, let me back up and let me ask you a 15 me a few questions, not under oath, in my restaurant in
16 couple of questions to help you out and I don't mean to 16 Manton with the same special agent.
17 cut you off. The statement you gave in May of 2013, that{ 17 Q. Okay. In your restaurant?
18 was a statement you gave in Viera, Florida; correct? 18 A. Yeah
18 A. Yes. 19 Q. In where?
20 Q. Okay. And were you actually present in Viera 20 A. Manton, Michigan.
21 at that time? 21 Q. Okay. And this is before you gave a statement
22 A. Yeah. There was ~- 22 on May 8th, 2013 in Viera?
23 Q. Hold on. 23 A. No. Let me go back. Mark Mitchell I met
24 A. Soiry. 24 first, he phoned me, then I gave a statement to Mark
25 Q. Yes, you were present? 25 Mitchell and special agent. Mark Mitchell was taken off
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Page 323
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1 the case 1o go and do something else. Dan Augustyniak 1 that you were immune from prosecution for any wrongdoing
2 then phoned me and spoke to me a few times and asked me a 2 on your behalf as it relates to anything to do with these
3 few questions on the phone. Then he got me to fly down 3 transactions?
4 and give a statement to four state attorneys. 4 A, Yes.
5 Q. And he was present? 5 Q. You mentioned before about a Visa, so I just
6 A. And he was present. 6 want to ask. Are you a citizen -- what is your status in
7 Q. First time you ever met him? 7 the United States? I don't know if you're a dual
8 A. Yeah, first time I ever met him. Then [ flew 8 citizen.
9 back to Michigan. Dan then came up and tried fo meet 9 A. Thave a green card.
10 with Elaine Stadek, Deena Brigham and Matt Raab and | 10 Q. Okay. You're still a citizen of the United
11 think he was having trouble tracing them and he came in 11 Kingdom?
12 and saw me and asked me a few questions in my restaurant. 12 A. Yes.
13 That's the two times that I've met Dan. 13 Q. And do you still now reside in Cadillac,
14 Q. At that point you didn't really take another? 14 Michigan?
15 A. No. 15 A. No.
16 Q. Okay. And that's the last time you've seen 16 Q. Where do you reside now?
17 him? 17 A. St Joseph, I gave that address earlier.
18 A Yes. 18 Q. You did, I apologize. That's in Michigan?
19 Q. Gotit. Any other statements that you've given 19 A. Yes.
20 to any law enforcement agency at least some persons you 20 Q. And St. Joseph in what county?
21 knew were with the law enforcement? 21 A. Berrien.
22 A. No. 22 Q. Do you reside there essentially year round?
23 Q. Or prosecutor's office? 23 A. Just moved there. Kelly's parents live in
24 A. No. 24 Berrien County so we've moved nearer to there so they can
25 Q. And there were prosecutors at the statement you 25 help with the kids and I can go back to work now.
Page 322 Page 324
1 gave in Viera on May 2013; right? 1 Because I couldn't work until November of this year.
2 A. Tour. 2 Q. Why is that?
3 Q. Four? 3 A. Because I didn't have a green card.
4 A. Yeah. 4 Q. Okay. But when you say November of this year,
5 Q. Okay. And by prosecutors, those are people 5 you mean November of 20137
6 with the assistant -- with the state attorney's office? 6 A. Yeah, this last year.
7 A. Yeah. Ican give you their names if you want. 7 Q. Are you working now?
8 Q. That's okay, I think I have them. At any time 8 A. No.
I} did those folks -- did you ask for immunity for criminal 9 Q. Okay. You mentioned a restaurant, do you own
10 prosecution for yourself? 10 or run a restaurant?
11 A. Yes. 11 A. Tusedto, I closed it.
12z Q. Okay. And did you get that? 12 Q. Okay. When I asked if you're working now, |
13 A. Yes. 13 want to make sure my question is as broad as I mean it to
14 Q. And did you have a lawyer that represented you 14 you. Are you working whether it's self employed or
15 in dealing with the state attorney's office for those 15 working for anyone?
16 issues? 16 A. No. T'look afier the kids.
17 A. No. 17 Q. Tunderstand. You started working for Blueware
18 Q. Okay. Butyou were given immunity by the state 18 in approximately what year? Was it 2006?
19 attorney's office? 19 A. 2006.
20 A. Yes. 20 Q. Okay. And at that point you were still
21 Q. Full immunity? 21 residing in the United Kingdom?
22 A. Don't know. 22 A. Yes.
23 Q. Have you been prosecuted for anything? 23 Q. What city and country?
24 A. No. 24 A. Nether Wallop.
25 Q. Was it your understanding when you got immunity, 25 Q. Okay.
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1 A, N-E-T-H, W-A-L-L-O-P, Nether Wallop in 1 contracts with Brevard County Clerk of the Court's
2 IHampshire in England. 2 office? Meaning was all the commission that you were
3 Q. Okay. And you continued to reside in the 3 secking from those contracts?
4 United Kingdom for some period of time while working for 4 A. No. 150,000 of it was.
5 Blueware? 5 Q. Was from those contracts?
6 A. Yes. 6 A. Yeah.
7 Q. And when was it that -- strike that. You then 7 Q. And the other amount was from?
8 moved to Michigan at some point? 8 A. Other things I'd been selling. If you look
9 A. T--it was a gradual process. 9 back, 1 sold nearly 70 to 80 percent of all sales of
10 Q. Approximately, when was it that you were 10 Blueware were mine.
11 residing in Michigan while working for Blueware either 11 Q. Just talking then about the contracts with the
12 most or all of the time? What year? 12 Brevard County Clerk of Court and not asking you to d
13 A. 2010. 13 the math unless you have to, was the 150,000 or so you
14 Q. Okay. When was it you became the COO for 14 thought you were due a percentage of some pait of thosqd
15 Blueware? 15 contracts?
16 A. In2010. 16 A. Yes.
17 Q. Okay. Before that, what was your position? 17 Q. Or contracts? What was the percentage?
18 A. Vice president of operations. 18 A. Twas owed $5,000 a month for the length of the
19 Q. Okay. So for the whole time you were at 19 contract.
20 Blueware, were you always working in an executive 20 Q. Okay.
21 capacity? 21 A. And [ thought it was fair that [ was -- 1
22 A. No. InEngland I didn't, 22 wasn't there, so I would take half of it and not the full
23 Q. When you were working for Blueware in England, 23 amount of the contract.
24 were you still doing, I'm going to use the term 24 Q. The length of the contract was five years?
25 generally, document scanning and/or copying services? 25 A, Yes.
Page 326 Page 328
1 A. No. 1 Q. Okay. So you took the five year -- the 5,000
2 Q. Okay. What was it generally that you were 2 times 12 months is 60,000 a year?
3 doing? 3 A. Yeah
4 A. Software sales. 4 Q. Times five years is 300,0007
5 Q. Okay. When you moved to Michigan and were 5 A. Yeah.
6 working for Blueware, what was Blueware's business? Did 6 Q. But you weren't going to be there, or at least
7 it include software sales still? 7 by that point you realized you weren't going to be there
8 A. It was mainly software sales. 8 the whole time and so you were seeking 150,0007?
9 Q. Okay. And you mentioned -- strike that. When 8 A. Half, yes.
10 you became the COO, what was your salary? Was there an; 10 Q. Thank you, understood. Exhibit -- I don't know
11 annual salary? 11 that you need to look at it, but feel free. Exhibit 28
12 A. 150,000, 12 which was the composite of e~-mails/public records request
13 Q. And I'm jumping around a little bit, I 13 that were made I guess from your wife to different folks
14 apologize. 14 at the then Clerk of the Court's office. It looks like
15 A. That's fine. 15 the first public records request was made, as least as
16 Q. The 300 or $325,000 you were seeking from 16 part of this composite, was made on June 12th, 2012.
17 Blueware, I understood you to indicate that that was you 17 A. That's about right.
18 felt compensation due based on back salary? 18 Q. Okay. And all of these e-mails, public records
19 A. Salary. 19 request are from your wife's e-mail; correct?
20 Q. And/or commission? 20 A. Yes.
21 A. Yeah 21 Q. And signed by her? I mean it has her name as
22 Q. Okay. Was it all commission or most of it? 22 the signature?
23 A. Most of it was commission. 23 A, Yes.
24 Q. Okay. Can you tell me what -- what was the 24 Q. But you actually wrote them; correct?
25 commission you were seeking out of the contract or 25 A. No. She wrote them,
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1 Q. She wrote them. Did you actually tell her what 1 the e-mails words to the effect of why you're responding
2 to say? 2 more timely, is it because I'm a woman, was that your
3 A. Onsome of them. 3 idea?
4 Q. Okay. You're the one that -- whether you told 4 A. No, that was hers.
5 her the wording to use or not, you're the one? 5 Q. What is your father's name?
6 A. Orchestrated. 6 A. Barry. Barry.
7 Q. Orchestrated it, thank you. Yes? 7 Q. Barry, Same last name, Geaney?
8 A. Yes. 8 A. Yes.
9 Q. Okay. And 1 think you testified earlier that 9 Q. lask you that because I think you said at some
10 the reason you did it was to wind them up? 10 point he was working for Blueware.
11 A. Yeah. 11 A. Yeah, in the UK, He ran the UK office.
12 Q. And by that you mean you wanted to get those 12 Q. Okay. From when to when?
13 people upset or angry? 13 A. January 2011 until June 2012
14 A. Yes. 14 Q. Okay. So when he began running the UK office,
15 Q. Okay. And those people included Blueware? 15 you were no fonger working at the UK office?
16 A. Yeah. 16 A. No.
17 Q. Okay. And included Rose Harr? 17 Q. Correct?
18 A. Yeah. 18 A. Yes.
19 Q. OfBlueware. Okay. And then by June 29th, 19 Q. AndJune 2012, does that mean his employment
20 2012 you decided to, through your wife writing an e-mail,} 20 with Blueware in the UK or at least the end of his
21 withdraw the public records request? 21 employment coincided with the end of your employment?
22 A. Yeah. They told me that they would settle if 1 22 A. About three weeks later.
23 did. 23 Q. Okay. Did he leave or was he let go?
24 Q. Okay. 24 A. He was Jet go.
25 A. And they didn't. 25 Q. Okay. I'know we've talked about two Sue
Page 330 Page 332
1 Q. Is that why you withdrew it? 1 Smiths.
2 A. Yeah 2 A, Yes.
3 Q. Because they told you they would settle? 3 Q. And justso I'm clear, one is a lawyer down
4 A. Yeah. 4 here in Brevard County?
5 Q. Okay. You didn't really care about getting the 5 A, Yep.
6 public records that you requested; right? 6 Q. Who did some legal work for Blueware?
7 A. No. 7 A. (Nods head.)
8 Q. It was just leverage to get money? 3 Q. Yes?
9 A. Tt was leverage -- 9 A. Yes.
10 Q. And to upset them? 10 Q. And one was an employee of Blueware?
11 A. - to get settlement. 11 A. Yes.
12 MR. RUSSELL: Objection to form. 12 Q. Based up in Michigan?
13 BY MR. BERNBAUM: 13 A. Yes.
14 Q. Tt was leverage to get money through a 14 Q. Okay. Did the Sue Smith that worked as an
15 settlement? 15 employee for Blueware ever transfer and work down here in
16 MR. RUSSELL: Objection to form. 16 Brevard County?
17 BY MR. BERNBAUM: 17 A. No.
18 Q. Is that true or not true? 18 Q. But she's no longer with Blueware?
19 A. Tt was leverage to get what I thought T was 19 A. No longer with Blueware.
20 owed. 20 Q. When did her employment end with Blueware?
21 Q. And to wind them up? 21 A. 1think she finished about November/December
22 A. Yes. 22 time.
23 Q. Okay. 23 Q. Ishould have asked that better. Did she stop
24 A. Ends to a means. 24 working for Blueware before or after you stopped?
25 Q. You have any idea why your wife put inone of’ 25 A. A long time after me.
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Page 333 Page 335
1 Q. Okay. Sowhen you say November/December, are 1 A. No.
2 you talking about 20127 2 Q. Okay. Other than vou claiming you were
3 A, 13, 3 entitled to back money due for work you did and
4 Q. Or2013? 4 commissions and other than suing for defamation, do you
5 A, 13, 5 recall if there were other -- any other claims you made
6 Q. Okay. And Mr. Russell didn't press you, but 6 in the lawsuit, whether you remember the name of the
7 need to do that. Where does she work now? 7 legal cause of action or just general?
8 A. She works for the same company that Deena works 8 A. No, Idon't know. Basically lleft it to the
9 for and I think and the reason I'm hesitant is that 9 attorney.
10 don't know if she works directly for them or she works 10 Q. Mr. Haslim?
11 for an agency for them. Cadillac Fabrication. 11 A. Yes.
12 Q. Okay. And Deena, remind me of Deena's last 12 Q. Allright. T think in response also to one of
13 name. 13 Mr. Russell's questions, maybe when he was asking you
14 A. Brigham. 14 generally about litigation you were aware of, you
15 Q. Okay. Deena Brigham works for a company tothe] 15 mentioned you were aware of some other employees or
16 best of your knowledge called Cadillac Fabrication? 16 former employees seeking back wages they claimed they
17 A. Yep. 17 were due.
18 Q. And you believe Sue Smith either works for them 18 A. Yes.
19 as an employee or independent agent? 19 Q. Isthat right?
20 A. Yes. 20 A. Yes.
21 Q. Okay. Is Ms. Sue Smith still live up in the 21 Q. Okay. Who are you referring -- do you recall
22 Cadillac, Michigan area to the best of your knowledge? 22 who they are by name?
23 A. Yes. 23 A. No, I just saw it in the news.
24 Q. Okay. And Ms. Brigham as well? 24 Q. Okay. That's something you knew from the news?
25 A. Yes. 25 A. Yeah.
Page 334 Page 336
1 Q. And when did your -- when did the lawsuit, the 1 Q. Rather than from a time when you worked there?
2 civil lawsuit that you had in Michigan against Blueware, 2 A. Yeah, it's news.
3 when was it that settlement was reached? 3 Q. Okay. When you found out about that in the
4 A. Around the 24th of May. 4 news, did you reach out to any of those individuals or
5 Q. Of2013? 5 their lawyers that may have been named?
6 A. Yes. 6 A. No.
7 Q. Okay. And then at some point, if [ understood 7 Q. Okay. For example, an attorney named, and 1
8 your answer to Mr. Russell's question, the lawsuit was 8 know you said no, but I'm going to give you a name just
9 dismissed as part of that settlement? 9 to make sure, an attorney named Maurice Arcadier,
10 A. Yes. 10 A-R-C-A-D-1-E-R, have you spoken with him?
11 Q. Okay. And did I understand that besides 11 A Yes.
12 secking the back compensation that you felt you were due| 12 Q. When you did you speak to him?
13 from commissions, you also had some claim for a 13 A. About the 5th, 6th of June 2012, By
14 defamation? 14 coincidence, he was the attorney that I went to speak
15 A, Yes. 15 with in Brevard when Rose let me go.
16 Q. Okay. And was that a claim you made against 16 Q. Okay. Allright. So when you spoke to him in
17 Blueware or against an individual with Blueware or both?| 17 June of 2000 -- I'm going to ask these questions, but I
18 A. Both, 18 guess I'm going to tell you in advance I'm not trying to
19 Q. So who were the defendants in that lawsuit? 19 infringe on any attorney/client privilege you may have
20 A. Rose Harr and Blueware and Blueware entities. 20 had with him whether or not you hired him.
21 Q. Is that how you phrased it? 21 A. ¥'m quite happy to answer your question.
22 A. Yes. 22 Q. Okay.
23 Q. Yes? 23 A. I'm quite happy to answer your question.
24 A, Yes. 24 Q. So it sounds like you spoke to Mr. Arcadier in
25 Q. Allright. Any other defendants? 25 person very soon after your employment ended with
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1 Blueware? 1 A. Yes.
2 A. Yeah. And the rcason -- 2 Q. Okay. And thisis Augustof 20137
3 Q. No. 3 A. Prior to August.
4 A. Sorry. 4 Q. Okay. You don't remember the date, but some
5 Q. TI'm going to try to keep it streamlined both 5 point prior to that?
6 for time and because I want to be careful about these 6 A, We spoke in mediation in May,
7 questions I ask. You wanted to talk to him about your 7 Q. Uh-huh.
8 own situation not because at that point you knew him to 8 A. Andlsaid I ain't got anything against.
9 be representing any other Blueware employees? 9 Q. Okay.
10 A. Yes, that's why I went. 10 A. Butyou need to be careful, you need to stop
11 Q. That's correct? 11 lying.
12 A, Yes. 12 Q. Okay.
13 Q. Allright. Has there ever been a time after 13 A. And I'm quite willing to tell you why you need
14 that that you've spoken to him in the context of him 14 to stop lying. And then nothing happened and she phoned
15 representing any other Blueware people who were seeking] 15 me between the end of May and June. She first reached
16 wages due? 16 out to my attorney.
17 A. No. I met him on one occasion and never spoke 17 Q. Mr. Haslim?
18 fo him afterwards. 18 A. Yeah, to ask if -- and he wasn't no longer -- I
19 Q. And you've answered 1t, but just to be clear, 19 wasn't paying him anymore. So then Rose sent me a
20 meaning that he's spoken to you, you've spoken to him 20 message and I missed a call from her, so I called her
21 where you may have been a witness whether in depositionj 21 back.
22 or through some casual conversation you had with him? 22 Q. Okay. And she wanted to know if you -- and
23 A. T spoke to him, Arcadier, once I met him to 23 this is in May or so or some point after May of 20137
24 talk about my immigration status. 24 A. Between May and August. Between the date of
25 Q. Okay. 25 the mediation, which was the 23rd of May, and her arrest
Page 338 Page 340
1 A. And once I spoke to him on the phone and once | 1 date which was the 15th of August.
2 met him in person about him arranging my green card. And 2 Q. 0f20137
3 1 decided not to use Mr. Arcadier because | was going 3 A. 0f2013.
4 back to Michigan. 4 Q. And wanted to know if you had spoke fo attorney
5 Q. When you sued Rose Harr and Blueware in the 5 Horowitz?
6 Michigan lawsuit, did they file any what we call 6 A. Yes.
7 counterclaims or counter lawsuits against you, if you 7 Q. Representing her in the criminal defense
8 know? 8 matter?
9 A. Don't believe so. 9 A. Yeah, I said I'd listen to what he's got to
10 Q. Okay. So, for example, there was no 10 say.
11 counterclaim for defamation such as? 11 Q. Okay. Did you speak to him?
12 A. No. 12 A. No.
13 Q. When you told Mr. Dupree you wouldn't trust 13 Q. And you never -- then the answer is no?
14 Rose to deliver pizzas or anything along those lines? 14 A. No.
15 A. No. i5 Q. So you've never given him a statement?
16 Q. Have you spoken to Rose Harr since you last 16 A. No, I never spoke to him.
17 worked for Blueware other than conversations you may have| 17 Q. And you've never been present at a deposition
18 had at a mediation, part of your court case or with your 18 that was taken?
19 lawyers present? 19 A. No.
20 A. She called me on one occasion and asked me if'] 20 Q. Tthink when I was asking you about the dinner
21 was prepared to talk to Mr. Horowitz (phonetic) before 21 you had last night, maybe one of the things you asked him
22 she was arrested last August. 22 was whether HP's lawyer might be present or there was
23 Q. Okay. So this is a conversation -- I'm not 23 some discussion. So let me ask you, by HP we're
24 sure I understand. But you had a conversation -- she 24 referring to Hewlett Packard?
25 called you obviously by phone? 25 A. Yes.

Filing 14255963

85 (Pages 337 to 340)

King Reporting and Video Conference Center

321-242-8080

WWW. kKin
BREVARD COUNTY VS BLUE

ireporting.com
MLLC 9

05-2013-CA-033457-XXXX-XX



Page 341

kel
o
g
®
w
w

1 Q. Okay. Have you ever spoken to Mr. Lightner or 1 travel and lodging to come down here?
2 Lichtner, I'm not sure if I'm pronouncing his name right, 2 A. Yes.
3 attorney for Hewlett Packard? 3 Q. Okay.
4 A. No. 4 A. They said it would be cheaper than.
5 Q. Okay. You ever spoken to anybody else from hi 5 Q. Them coming up there vice versa?
6 office involving any litigation between Hewlett Packard 6 A. Yeah.
7 and the clerk's office? 7 Q. Right. Tunderstand. Let me just look, I may
8 A. T've not spoken to any attorney from anybody 8 be done. What kind of work did you do prior to the work
9 about Hewlett Packard. 9 you started doing in 2006 when you first became involved
10 Q. Okay. Inthat same litigation that Hewlett 10 with Blueware?
11 Packard is involved and in addition to Blueware and the| 11 A. Tran restaurans.
12 clerk’s office, there's another party, Caruso Swerbilow 12 Q. Okay.
13 law firm. Have you ever spoken to either of those 13 A. Towned two and an outside catering business.
14 lawyers or any attorneys' office representing them in 14 I sold them when I got -- that's not a fitting divorce.
15 that litigation? 15 ‘When I was with my partner of 15 years, her and I
16 A. Not involved in that litigation. I may have 16 separated, we sold the businesses and I stopped working
17 run into them at the clerk’s office when I was working 17 and I stayed at home with my children in England. My son|
18 for Blueware. 18 and two daughters, one was two, one was {ive and one was
19 Q. Okay. But you didn't speak to them in the 19 about 12. ’
20 context of talking about that issue? 20 Q. Have you ever been convicted of any crime
z21 A. No. I've not spoken to any -- anybody about HP | 21 whether it be in Michigan or Florida or any other state
22 in an official capacity. 22 or the United Kingdom or any other?
23 Q. And I've asked you a lot about people you've 23 A. Driving offense.
24 spoken to or not spoken to. Other than of course 24 Q. Not counting any traffic infractions.
25 scheduling today's deposition, are any of those entities 25 A. No. Inthe UK I owned a thing called a
Page 342 Page 344
1 that I've asked you about or anybody else set a future 1 justice's license which allows me to sell beer and
2 deposition of you or sworn statement or meeting with you? 2 tobacco, which to me o hold that, I can't have any
3 A, No. 3 criminal offenses at all.
4 Q. Inany civil or court proceeding? 4 MR. BERNBAUM: Thank you.
5 A. Tvenever -- I've not been asked to a B THE WITNESS: Thanks a lot.
6 statement or deposition in regards to this lawsuit as of 6 MR. RUSSELL: Nothing further. Mr. Geaney,
7 today. 7 when your deposition is transcribed, you'll have an
8 Q. Okay. Did you offer to come down here from 8 opportunity to read the transcript. You can’t
9 Michigan for today's deposition? Was there a discussion 9 change the transcript itself, but you can, if you
10 you had with Mr. Ellis or his representatives or his 10 note any mistake in the transcription or you
11 lawyers about the parties coming to you in Michigan? 11 misunderstood a question, you can fill out what's
12 A. They -- that was the first thing they said i2 called an errata sheet to indicate changes that you
i3 could we -- would you come up -- could we come up and 13 feel should be made and that will be added as a part
14 depose you. 14 of the deposition transcript.
15 Q. Okay. 15 I'm not your lawyer, so [ can't tell you what
16 A. Solspoke to Mark and Mark said, yes, we'll do 16 to do, but I generally recommend people go ahead and
17 it at Haslim law firm. And then they said -- and that's 17 read their transcript and make any changes that they
18 when I spoke to Curt who said would you mind coming down|{ 18 note. Do you want to read or waive?
19 to Florida and doing it. And that was through Tyler and 19 THE WITNESS: Il read.
20 Curt. And I said, yeah, not an issue, as long as it was 20 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: This deposition is concluded
21 convenient. 21 at 6:26 going of the record. Consisting of six
22 Q. Okay. 22 videos.
23 A. And it saved all you guys going up there for 23 (The reading and signing of the deposition were
24 me, just me flying down. 24 reserved.)
25 Q. Okay. And did they -- did they pay for your 25 (The deposition was concluded at 6:26 p.m.)
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1 1 NICK GEANEY; March 3, 2014
2 2 ERRATA
, CERTIFICATE OF OATH 3 DO NOT WRITE ON TRANSCRIPT - ENTER CHANGES HERE
4 4 INRE: ELLIS V. BLUEGEM
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 5 CASE NO: 05-2013-CA-33457
5 Page & Line
COUNTY OF BREVARD) Number CHANGE REASON
6 7
7
' S 8
8 L YVETTE S. HARRISON, RPR, FPR, .
9 the undersigned authority, hereby S -
10 certify that the witness 10
11 NICK GEANEY 11 ) -
12 was duly sworn by me. 12
13 WITNESS MY HAND AND OFFICTAL SEALL 5
14 this 3rd day of March 2014 R
15 at Melbourne, Florida. He —
16 / ava 15
17 \\/)/ e J%/ 3 A 16
\wz/&%/-z udon, He | o,
18 " - o
. 18
YVéTII: S. HARRISON, RPR
19 Notary Public, State of Florida at Large 19 ~
Certificale No. CC717086 20 ~
20 My Commission Expires: November 17,2017 21 Under penalties of perjury, 1 declare that I have
21 22 read my deposition and that it is true and correct
22 . .
23 23 subject to any changes in form or substance
24 24 entered here.
o5 25  Daed_ NICK GEANEY
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1 CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER 1 INTHE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
2 IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA
. 2
3 STATE OF FLORIDA ) -
. 3 CASE NO. 05-2014-CA-33457
4 COUNTY OF BREVARD) ; B ’
5 1, YVETTE S. HARRISON, Registered SCOTT ELLIS, in his official capacity as
Professional Reporter, Florida Professional 5 Brevard County Clerk of the Circuit Court,
6 Reporter, do hereby certify that I was 6 Plaintiff(s),
authorized to and did stenographically T o
7 report the deposition of NICK GEANEY; that 8  BLUEGEM, LLC, a Florida limited liability
areview of the transcript was requested; . compam,
8 and that the foregomg transcript, Defendan(s).
pages 1 through 346, inclusive, are a true 10 /
9 and correct record of my stenographic notes. BLUEGEM, LLC, a Florida limited liability
I further certify that I am not a relative, i1 company,
10 employee, or attorney, or counsel of any of the 12 Counter-Plaintif,
parties, nor am I a relative or employee of any 3w o ] )
11 of the parties' attorney or counsel connected 14 SCOTTELLIS, in his official capacity as
with the action, nor am [ ﬁnancially i Brevard County Clerk of the Circuit Court.
Iltg interested in the action. 16 Counter-Defendant.
/
14 DATED this éth day of March 2014, 17 INRE. DEPOSITION OF NICK GEANEY
15 TAKEN March 3, 2014
16 / g%iu " U 18 DATE SENTTO WITNESS: .
W ,
17 \Ac r/ 40 19 TO: NICK GEANEY
7 i 2860 Cleveland Avenue, Apt. 349
18 F{y}:l T FdSP H‘?RRIS?II\{ 20 St. Joseph, Michigan 49085
o cgisiered Professional Reporter 21 The referenced transciipt bas been completed
19 Florida Professional Reporter and awaits reading and signing.
20 22 Please arrange to stop by our office at
21 14 Suntree Place, Suite 101, Viera, Florida to read
22 23 and sign the ranscript. Office hours are from
23 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. The
24 24 transcript is 347 pages long, and you should
25 allow yourself sufficient time.
25 If the reading and signing have not been completed
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you have waived the reading and signing of the
transcript.

Thank you.
Yvette S. Harrison
CC: ALEC RUSSELL, Esquire
LEE BERNBAUM, Esquire
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